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Offering memorandum
Not for general distribution
in the United States

KALoOUuTOU

Kapla Holding

€860,000,000 (in a combination of Floating Rate Notes and Fixed Rate Notes)
€400,000,000 Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes due 2026

€460,000,000 3.375% Senior Secured Notes due 2026

Kapla Holding S.A.S., a société par actions simplifiée, organized under the laws of France (the “Issuer”), is
offering (the “Offering”) €400.0 million aggregate principal amount of its Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes due 2026
(the “Floating Rate Notes™) and €460.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 3.375% Senior Secured Notes due
2026 (the “Fixed Rate Notes” and, together with the Floating Rate Notes, the “Notes”). The Notes will be issued
pursuant to an indenture (the “Indenture”) to be entered into on or about December 12, 2019 (the “Issue Date”) among,
inter alios, the Issuer, BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited, as trustee (the “Trustee”), and BNP Paribas, as
security agent (the “Security Agent”).

The Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate equal to three month EURIBOR (subject to a 0% floor) plus
325 basis points per annum, reset quarterly, and will mature on December 15, 2026. The Issuer will pay interest on the
Floating Rate Notes quarterly in arrears on each of March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15, commencing on
March 15, 2020. At any time and from time to time prior to December 15, 2020, the Issuer may, at its option, redeem all
or a portion of the Floating Rate Notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Floating Rate
Notes so redeemed, plus a “make-whole” premium as of, and accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any,
to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date, as described herein. At any time and from time to time on or after
December 15, 2020, the Issuer may redeem all or a portion of the Floating Rate Notes at the redemption prices specified
herein. The Fixed Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate of 3.375% per annum and will mature on December 15, 2026.
The Issuer will pay interest on the Fixed Rate Notes semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15, commencing
on June 15, 2020. At any time and from time to time prior to December 15, 2022, the Issuer may, at its option, redeem all
or a portion of the Fixed Rate Notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes
so redeemed, plus a “make-whole” premium as of, and accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to, but
excluding, the applicable redemption date, as described herein. At any time and from time to time on or after
December 15, 2022, the Issuer may redeem all or portion of the Fixed Rate Notes at the redemption prices specified
herein. In addition, at any time and from time to time prior to December 15, 2022, the Issuer may, at its option, redeem
up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes with the net cash proceeds from certain equity
offerings at the redemption price set out herein, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to, but
excluding, the applicable redemption date, provided that at least 50% of the original principal amount of the Fixed Rate
Notes remains outstanding. At any time and from time to time prior to December 15, 2022, the Issuer may, at its option,
during each twelve-month period commencing with the Issue Date, redeem up to 10% of the original principal amount of
the Fixed Rate Notes at a redemption price equal to 103% of the principal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes so redeemed,
plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date. The
Issuer may also redeem all, but not less than all, of the Notes in the event of certain developments affecting taxation.
Additionally, upon certain events defined as constituting a change of control or upon certain asset sales, the Issuer may
be required to make an offer to purchase the Notes. A change of control will not be deemed to have occurred if a certain
consolidated net leverage ratio is not exceeded as a result of such event. See “Description of the notes—Change of
control.”

The Notes will be senior obligations of the Issuer, and on the Issue Date, the Notes are expected to be
guaranteed (the “Notes Guarantees”) on a senior basis by Kiloutou S.A.S.U. and Kiloutou Module S.A.S.U. (the
“Guarantors”). The Notes will rank pari passu in right of payment with any existing and future senior indebtedness of
the Issuer (including the indebtedness of the Issuer under the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement (as defined
herein)), will rank senior in right of payment to any existing or future indebtedness of the Issuer that is expressly
subordinated in right of payment to the Notes, will be effectively subordinated to any existing or future indebtedness or
obligation of the Issuer or its subsidiaries that is secured by property or assets that do not secure the Notes, to the extent
of the value of such property or assets, and will be structurally subordinated to any existing or future indebtedness of the
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Issuer’s subsidiaries that do not guarantee the Notes, including their obligations to trade creditors. The validity and
enforceability of the Notes Guarantees and the liability of the Guarantors thereunder will be subject to the limitations
described in “Limitations on validity and enforceability of the notes guarantees and the security interests and certain
insolvency law considerations” and may be released in certain circumstances. See “Description of the notes—The notes
guarantees.”

On the Issue Date, the Notes and the Notes Guarantees are expected to be secured on a first-priority basis by
security interests in (i) the financial securities account opened in the name of the Issuer in the books of
Kiloutou S.A.S.U., (ii) the financial securities account opened in the name of Kiloutou S.A.S.U. in the books of Kiloutou
Module S.A.S.U., (iii) certain bank accounts of the Issuer and the Guarantors and (iv) certain intra-group receivables
owing to the Issuer and the Guarantors, including the Proceeds Loans (as defined herein) (the “Collateral”). The
Collateral will also secure the New Revolving Credit Facility on a first-priority basis. Under the terms of the Intercreditor
Agreement (as defined herein), in the event of an enforcement of the Collateral, the holders of the Notes will receive
proceeds from the Collateral only after the lenders under the New Revolving Credit Facility and counterparties to certain
hedging obligations, if any, have been repaid in full. See “Description of certain financing arrangements—New revolving
credit facility agreement” and “Description of certain financing arrangements—Intercreditor agreement.” In addition,
the Collateral will be subject to the Agreed Security Principles and other certain contractual and legal limitations, and
may be released under certain circumstances. See “Limitations on validity and enforceability of the notes guarantees and
the security interests and certain insolvency law considerations” and “Description of the notes—Security.”

There is currently no public market for the Notes. Application has been made to list the Notes on the Securities
Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Exchange”). There can be no assurance that the Notes will be
listed on the Securities Official List of the Exchange or that such listing will be maintained.

Investing in the Notes involves a high degree of risk. See “Risk factors” beginning on page 35.

Issue Price for the Fixed Rate Notes: 100.0% of principal plus accrued interest, if any, from the Issue Date
Issue Price for the Floating Rate Notes: 100.0% of principal plus accrued interest, if any, from the Issue Date

The Notes and the Notes Guarantees have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the laws of any other jurisdiction, and may not be offered or sold within the
United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the
Securities Act. In the United States, the Offering is being made only to “qualified institutional buyers” (“QIBs”) in
reliance on the exemption provided by Rule 144A under the Securities Act (“Rule 144A”). You are hereby notified that
the Initial Purchasers (as defined herein) may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the
Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. Outside the United States, the Offering is being made in reliance on Regulation S
under the Securities Act (“Regulation S). See “Notice to investors” for additional information about eligible offerees
and transfer restrictions. The Notes will be issued in registered form in minimum denominations of €100,000 and integral
multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof. The Notes will be represented upon issuance by one or more global notes. The
Initial Purchasers expect to deliver the Notes in book-entry form through Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and
Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”) on or about the Issue Date.

Global Coordinator and Sole Physical Bookrunner

J.P. Morgan
Joint Bookrunners

BNP PARIBAS Crédit Agricole CIB Natixis Société
Générale

The date of this offering memorandum is December 17, 2019
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IN MAKING YOUR INVESTMENT DECISION, YOU SHOULD RELY ONLY ON THE INFORMATION
CONTAINED IN THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM. NEITHER THE ISSUER NOR ANY OF J.P. MORGAN
SECURITIES PLC, BNP PARIBAS, CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE AND INVESTMENT BANK, NATIXIS AND
SOCIETE GENERALE (COLLECTIVELY, THE “INITIAL PURCHASERS ”) HAS AUTHORIZED ANYONE TO
PROVIDE YOU WITH DIFFERENT INFORMATION. IF YOU RECEIVE ANY OTHER INFORMATION, YOU
SHOULD NOT RELY ON IT.

NEITHER THE ISSUER NOR ANY OF THE INITIAL PURCHASERS IS MAKING AN OFFER OF THESE
SECURITIES IN ANY JURISDICTION WHERE THE OFFER IS NOT PERMITTED.

YOU SHOULD NOT ASSUME THAT THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS OFFERING
MEMORANDUM IS ACCURATE AS OF ANY DATE OTHER THAN THE DATE ON THE FRONT OF THIS
OFFERING MEMORANDUM. OUR BUSINESS OR FINANCIAL CONDITION AND OTHER INFORMATION IN THIS
OFFERING MEMORANDUM MAY CHANGE AFTER THAT DATE



Warning

This Offering Memorandum as well as all information contained herein (the "Offering Memorandum®) is meant
to provide details on the securities and the issuer in relation to the admission of the securities onto the securities official
list held by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange without admission to trading on one of the securities markets operated by
LuxSE (LuxSE SOL). The Offering Memorandum has been prepared for the sole goal of being admitted and displayed
on LuxSE SOL. It does not provide any key information to be used for making investment decisions. The Offering
Memorandum is provided for information purposes only. It does not constitute and is not construed as any advice,
solicitation, offer, endorsement, commitment or recommendation to invest in the securities described herein. The
provision of the Offering Memorandum is not and shall not be a substitute for your own researches, investigations,
verifications, checks or consultation for professional or investment advice. You are using the Offering Memorandum at
your own risks.

Important information

We are offering the Notes and the Notes Guarantees in reliance on exemptions from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act. These exemptions apply to offers and sales of securities that do not involve a public
offering. The Notes and the Notes Guarantees have not been recommended by any U.S. federal, state or any non-U.S.
securities authorities, nor have any such authorities determined that this offering memorandum is accurate or complete.
Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense in the United States.

You are not to construe the contents of this offering memorandum as investment, legal or tax advice. You
should consult your own counsel, accountants and other advisors as to the legal, tax, business, financial and related
aspects of purchasing the Notes on the Issue Date. You are responsible for making your own examination of the Group
and your own assessment of the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the Notes Guarantees. By purchasing the
Notes and the Notes Guarantees, you will be deemed to have acknowledged that you have reviewed this offering
memorandum and that you have had an opportunity to request any additional information that you need from us.

You should base your decision to invest in the Notes and the Notes Guarantees solely on information contained
in this offering memorandum. No person is authorized in connection with the Offering to give any information or to
make any representation not contained in this offering memorandum or any pricing term sheet or supplement and, if
given or made, any other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by us or the
Initial Purchasers.

The information contained in this offering memorandum is as of the date hereof and is subject to change,
completion or amendment without notice. The delivery of this offering memorandum at any time after the date hereof
shall not, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the information set forth in
this offering memorandum or in our affairs since the date of this offering memorandum. We undertake no obligation to
update this offering memorandum or any information contained in it, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise, except to the extent required by law.

The information contained in this offering memorandum has been furnished by us and other sources we believe
to be reliable. No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by the Initial Purchasers, any of the Trustee or
the Agents (as defined herein) or their respective directors, affiliates, advisors or agents as to the accuracy or
completeness of any of the information set forth in this offering memorandum, and nothing contained in this offering
memorandum is, or shall be relied upon as, a promise or representation by the Initial Purchasers or their respective
directors, affiliates, advisors or agents, whether as to the past or the future. Certain documents are summarized herein,
and such summaries are qualified entirely by reference to the actual documents, copies of which will be made available
to you upon request. By receiving this offering memorandum, you acknowledge that you have not relied on the Initial
Purchasers, any of the Trustee or the Agents or their respective directors, affiliates, advisors and agents and the advisors
of the Issuer in connection with your investigation of the accuracy of this information or your decision to invest in the
Notes.

This offering memorandum does not constitute an offer to sell or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase any
of the Notes or Notes Guarantees in any jurisdiction in which such offer or invitation is not authorized or to any person to
whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or invitation. You must comply with all laws and regulations that apply to you
in any place in which you buy, offer or sell any of the Notes or the Notes Guarantees or possess this offering
memorandum. You must also obtain any consents or approvals that you need in order to purchase any of the Notes or the
Notes Guarantees. We are not, and none of the Trustee, the Agents and the Initial Purchasers are, making any
representation to you regarding the legality of an investment in the Notes by you and are not responsible for your
compliance with these legal requirements.



The Notes and the Notes Guarantees are subject to restrictions on resale and transfer as described under “Notice
to investors” and “Plan of distribution.” By purchasing any of the Notes and the Notes Guarantees, you will be deemed
to have made certain acknowledgments, representations and agreements as described in those sections of this offering
memorandum. You may be required to bear the financial risks of investing in the Notes and the Notes Guarantees for an
indefinite period of time.

We reserve the right to withdraw the Offering at any time. We are making the Offering subject to the terms
described in this offering memorandum and the purchase agreement relating to the Notes. We and the Initial Purchasers
may, for any reason, reject any offer to purchase the Notes in whole or in part, sell less than the entire principal amount
of the Notes offered hereby or allocate to any purchaser less than all of the Notes for which it has subscribed. The Initial
Purchasers and certain of their respective affiliates may acquire, for their own accounts, a portion of the Notes.

We have applied to have the Notes listed on the Securities Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the
“Exchange”), without admission to trading on one of the securities markets operated by the Exchange. Following the
listing, the relevant listing particulars will be available at the offices of the Listing Agent (as identified herein). Any
investor or potential investor should not base any investment decision relating to the Notes on the information contained
in this offering memorandum after publication of the listing particulars and should refer instead to the listing particulars.

We accept responsibility for the information contained in this offering memorandum. We declare that, having
taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this offering memorandum is, to the
best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of this offering
memorandum. However, the content set forth under the headings “Summary,” “Management’s discussion and analysis of
financial condition and results of operations,” “Industry” and “Business” includes extracts from information and data,
including industry and market data, released by publicly available sources or otherwise prepared by third parties. While
we accept responsibility for accurately reproducing such information and data, and, as far as we are aware and are able to
ascertain from information published by such sources, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading, none of us, the Initial Purchasers, the Trustee or the Agents has independently
verified the accuracy of such information and data, and none of us, the Initial Purchasers, the Trustee or the Agents
accepts any responsibility in respect thereof.

Furthermore, the information set forth in relation to sections of this offering memorandum describing clearing
and settlement arrangements, including the section entitled “Book-entry, delivery and form,” is subject to change in or
reinterpretation of the rules, regulations and procedures of Euroclear or Clearstream currently in effect. While we accept
responsibility for accurately reproducing the information concerning Euroclear and Clearstream, none of us, the Initial
Purchasers, the Trustee or the Agents accepts any responsibility in respect of such information. Investors wishing to use
these clearing systems are advised to confirm the continued applicability of their rules, regulations and procedures. None
of us, the Trustee, and the Agents will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or
payments made on account of, book-entry interests held through the facilities of any clearing system or for maintaining,
supervising or reviewing any records relating to such book-entry interests.

We expect that delivery of the Notes will be made against payment on the Notes on or about the Issue Date,
which will be five business days (as such term is used for purposes of Rule 15¢6-1 of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) following the date of pricing of the Notes (this settlement cycle is referred to
as “T+5”). Under Rule 15¢6-1 of the Exchange Act, trades in the secondary market generally are required to settle in two
business days unless the parties to any such trade expressly agree otherwise. Accordingly, purchasers who wish to trade
the Notes on the date of this offering memorandum or the following two business days will be required to specify an
alternative settlement cycle at the time of any such trade to prevent a failed settlement. Purchasers of the Notes who wish
to make such trades should consult their own advisors.

Stabilization

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES PLC OR ONE OF ITS
AFFILIATES OR PERSONS ACTING ON ITS BEHALF (THE “STABILIZING MANAGER”) MAY
OVER-ALLOT THE NOTES OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE MARKET
PRICE OF THE NOTES AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL.
HOWEVER, THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT THE STABILIZING MANAGER (OR PERSONS ACTING
ON BEHALF OF THE STABILIZING MANAGER) WILL UNDERTAKE STABILIZATION ACTION. ANY
STABILIZATION ACTION MAY BEGIN ON OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQUATE PUBLIC
DISCLOSURE OF THE FINAL TERMS OF THE OFFER OF THE NOTES IS MADE AND, IF BEGUN, MAY BE
ENDED AT ANY TIME, BUT IT MUST END NO LATER THAN THE EARLIER OF 30 CALENDAR DAYS
AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF THE NOTES AND 60 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE
ALLOTMENT OF THE NOTES. ANY STABILIZATION ACTION OR OVER ALLOTMENT MUST BE
CONDUCTED BY THE STABILIZING MANAGER (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE STABILIZING
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MANAGER) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND RULES. FOR A DESCRIPTION OF
THESE ACTIVITIES, SEE “PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION.”

Notice to U.S. investors

The Offering is being made in the United States in reliance upon an exemption from registration under the
Securities Act for an offer and sale of securities which does not involve a public offering. You are hereby notified that
the seller of any Note may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by
Rule 144A thereunder. The Notes are subject to certain restrictions on transfer and resale. In making your purchase, you
will be deemed to have made certain acknowledgments, representations and agreements. See “Notice to investors.”

This offering memorandum is being provided (1) to a limited number of U.S. investors that the Issuer
reasonably believes to be QIBs under Rule 144A for informational use solely in connection with their consideration of
the purchase of the Notes and (2) outside the United States in connection with offshore transactions complying with
Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S. The Notes and the Notes Guarantees described in this offering memorandum have
not been registered with, recommended by or approved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”),
any state securities commission in the United States or any other securities commission or regulatory authority, nor has
the SEC, any state securities commission in the United States, or any such securities commission or authority passed
upon the accuracy or adequacy of this offering memorandum. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense in
the United States. See “Notice to investors.”

Notice to certain European investors
Prohibition of sales to certain EEA investors

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (the “EEA”). For these purposes, a retail
investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive
2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID 11”); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the
“Insurance Distribution Directive”), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point
(10) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (iii) not a “qualified investor” within the meaning of Article 2(e) of Regulation
(EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the “Prospectus Regulation”). Consequently no key information document required by
Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the “PRI1Ps Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise
making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or
otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

Neither we nor the Initial Purchasers has authorized, nor do authorize, the making of any offer of Notes through
any financial intermediary, other than offers made by the Initial Purchasers, which constitute the final placement of the
Notes contemplated in this offering memorandum.

MIFID Il product governance

Solely for the purposes of each manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect
of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional
clients only, each as defined in MiFID Il; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and
professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes
(a “distributor”) should take into consideration the manufacturers’ target market assessment; however, and without
prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer in accordance with MiFID I1, a distributor subject to MiFID Il is responsible for
undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturers’
target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

United Kingdom
Each of the Initial Purchasers have represented and agreed that it has:

« only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be
communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of
section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”)) received by it in connection with
the issue or sale of the Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the
Issuer; and



« complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in
relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

This offering memorandum is for distribution only to, and is only directed at, persons who (i) are outside the
United Kingdom, (ii) have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within Article 19(5) of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended (the “Financial Promotion
Order), (iii) fall within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) (high net worth companies, unincorporated associations, etc.) of the
Financial Promotion Order or (iv) are persons to whom an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity
(within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes may otherwise lawfully
be communicated or caused to be communicated (all such persons in (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) to the extent that doing so does
not prejudice lawful distribution of this offering memorandum to the foregoing, together being referred to as “relevant
persons”). This offering memorandum is directed only at relevant persons and must not be acted or relied upon by
persons who are not relevant persons. Any investment or investment activity to which this offering memorandum relates
is available only to relevant persons and will be engaged in only with relevant persons.

France

This offering memorandum has not been prepared and is not being distributed in the context of an offer to the
public of financial securities in France within the meaning of Article L.411-1 of the French Code monétaire et financier
and Title 1 of Book Il of the Reglement Général de I’ Autorité des Marchés Financiers, and has not been approved by,
registered or filed with the Autorité des marchés financiers (the “AMF”), nor any competent authority of another
Member State of the EEA that would have notified its approval to the AMF under the Prospectus Regulation. Therefore,
the Notes may not be, directly or indirectly, offered or caused to be offered or sold to the public in France (offre au public
de titres financiers) and this offering memorandum and any other offering or marketing material or information relating
to the Notes has not been and will not be released, issued or distributed or caused to be released, issued or distributed to
the public in France or used in connection with any offer for subscription or sales of the Notes to the public in France in
any way that would constitute, directly or indirectly, an offer to the public in France. Offers, sales and distributions have
only been and shall only be made in France to qualified investors (investisseurs qualifiés) acting solely for their own
account (agissant pour compte propre) and/or to providers of investment services relating to portfolio management for
the account of third parties (personnes fournissant le service d’investissement de gestion de portefeuille pour compte de
tiers), all as defined in and in accordance with Articles L.411-1, L.411-2, D.411-1, D.411-4, D.744-1, D.754-1 and
D.764-1 of the French Code monétaire et financier. Prospective investors are informed that (a) this offering
memorandum has not been and will not be submitted for clearance to the AMF, (b) in compliance with Articles L.411-2,
D.411-1, D.411-4, D.744-1, D.754-1 and D.764-1 of the French Code monétaire et financier, any qualified investors
subscribing for the Notes should be acting for their own account (agissant pour compte propre) and (c) the direct and
indirect distribution or sale to the public of the Notes acquired by them may only be made in compliance with
Avrticles L.411-1, L.411-2, L.412-1 and L.621-8 through L. 621-8-3 of the French Code monétaire et financier.

Luxembourg

This Offering does not constitute a public offering of securities within the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and
accordingly this offering memorandum should not be construed as a prospectus neither in accordance with the Prospectus
Regulation nor with Article 18 of the Law of July 16, 2019 on prospectuses for securities. The Luxembourg financial
sector supervisory commission (Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier) has not reviewed or approved this
offering memorandum or any other document related to the Offering and has not recommended or endorsed the purchase
of the Notes. Neither this offering memorandum nor any other document related to the offering of the Notes may be
distributed to the public in Luxembourg. The Notes may not be publicly offered for sale in Luxembourg and no steps
may be taken which would constitute or result in a public offering in Luxembourg as defined in the Law of July 16, 2019
on prospectuses for securities. This document is intended for the confidential use of the offeree(s) it is intended for, and
may not be reproduced or used for any other purpose

Italy

The Offering has not been cleared by the Commissione Nazionale per la Societa e la Borsa (“CONSOB”) (the
Italian securities exchange commission), pursuant to Italian securities legislation. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered,
sold or delivered, directly or indirectly nor may copies of this offering memorandum or of any other document relating to
the Notes be distributed in the Republic of Italy, except (a) to qualified investors (investitori qualificati) as defined in
Article 26, first paragraph, letter (d) of CONSOB Regulation No. 16190 of October 29, 2007, as amended (“Regulation
No. 16190”), pursuant to Article 34-ter, first paragraph letter (b) of CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of May 14, 1999, as
amended (the “Issuer Regulation”), implementing Article 100 of Italian Legislative Decree No. 58 of February 24,
1998, as amended (the “Italian Financial Act”) and (b) in any other circumstances which are exempted from the rules
on public offerings pursuant to Article 100 of the Italian Financial Act and the implementing CONSOB regulations,
including the Issuer Regulation.
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The Initial Purchasers have represented and agreed that any offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of
copies of this offering memorandum or of any other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy will be
carried out in accordance with all Italian securities, tax and exchange control and other applicable laws and regulations.

Any such offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of this offering memorandum or any other
document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy according to the provisions above must be:

» made by an investment firm, bank or financial intermediary permitted to conduct such activities in the
Republic of Italy in accordance with the Italian Financial Act, Italian Legislative Decree No. 385 of
September 1,1993, Regulation No. 16190 (in each case, as amended from time to time) and any other
applicable laws and regulations; and

« in compliance with all relevant Italian securities, tax and exchange control and other applicable laws and
regulations and any other applicable requirement or limitation that may be imposed from time to time by
CONSOB, the Bank of Italy or any other relevant Italian authorities.

Any investor purchasing the Notes is solely responsible for ensuring that any offer or resale of the Notes by such
investor occurs in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Switzerland

This offering memorandum, as well as any other material relating to the Notes which are the subject of the
Offering contemplated by this offering memorandum, do not constitute an issue prospectus pursuant to article 652a
and/or article 1156 of the Swiss Code of Obligations and may not comply with the Directive for Notes of Foreign
Borrowers of the Swiss Bankers Association. The Notes may not be publicly offered, sold or advertised, directly or
indirectly, in, into or from Switzerland and will not be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, and, therefore, the documents
relating to the Notes, including, but not limited to, this offering memorandum, do not claim to comply with the disclosure
standards of the Swiss Code of Obligations and the listing rules of SIX Swiss Exchange and corresponding prospectus
schemes annexed to the listing rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange. The Notes are being offered in Switzerland by way of a
private placement (i.e., to a limited number of selected investors only), without any public advertisement and only to
investors who do not purchase the Notes with the intention to distribute them to the public. The investors will be
individually approached directly from time to time. This offering memorandum, as well as any other material relating to
the Notes, is personal and confidential and does not constitute an offer to any other person. This offering memorandum,
as well as any other material relating to the Notes, may only be used by those investors to whom it has been handed out
in connection with the Offering described herein and may neither directly nor indirectly be distributed or made available
to other persons without the Issuers’ express consent.

This offering memorandum, as well as any other material relating to the Notes, may not be used in connection
with any other offer and shall in particular not be copied and/or distributed to the public in (or from) Switzerland.

Notice to certain other investors
Hong Kong

The Notes may not be offered or sold by means of any document other than (i) in circumstances which do not
constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32, Laws of Hong Kong), or
(ii) to “professional investors” within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong
Kong) and any rules made thereunder or (iii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a
“prospectus” within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32, Laws of Hong Kong), and no advertisement,
invitation or document relating to the Notes may be issued or may be in the possession of any person for the purpose of
issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be
accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the laws of Hong Kong) other than with
respect to notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to “professional
investors” within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any rules
made thereunder.

Singapore

This offering memorandum has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore.
Accordingly, this offering memorandum and any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or
invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes may not be circulated or distributed, nor may the shares be offered or
sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in
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Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of
Singapore (the “SFA”), (ii) to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the
conditions, specified in Section 275 of the SFA or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of,
any other applicable provision of the SFA. Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 by a relevant
person which is: (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor) the sole business of which is to hold investments
and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or

(b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary
is an accredited investor, shares, debentures and units of shares and debentures of that corporation or the beneficiaries’
rights and interest in that trust shall not be transferable for six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the
shares under Section 275 except: (1) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the SFA or to a relevant person, or
any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions, specified in Section 275 of the SFA;

(2) where no consideration is given for the transfer; or (3) by operation of law.
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Available information

Each purchaser of Notes from the Initial Purchasers will be furnished with a copy of this offering memorandum
and any amendments or supplements to this offering memorandum. Each person receiving this offering memorandum
and any amendments or supplements to this offering memorandum acknowledges that:

» such person has been afforded an opportunity to request from the Issuer and to review the information
contained herein, and has received all additional information considered by it to be necessary to verify the
accuracy and completeness of the information contained herein;

« such person has not relied on the Initial Purchasers or any person affiliated with the Initial Purchasers in
connection with its investigation of the accuracy of such information or its decision to invest in the Notes;
and

» except as provided above, no person has been authorized to give any information or to make any
representation concerning the Notes offered hereby other than those contained herein and, if given or made,
such other information or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorized by us or the
Initial Purchasers.

The Issuer is not currently subject to the periodic reporting and other information requirements of the Exchange
Act. However, pursuant to the Indenture that will govern the Notes, the Issuer will agree to furnish periodic information
to the holders of the Notes and to make available, upon request, to any holder or prospective purchaser of the Notes the
information required pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act during any period in which it is not subject to
Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, or exempt by virtue of Rule 1293-2(b) thereunder. Any such request
should be directed to the Issuer in writing at 30 bis, rue Sainte-Héléne, 69002 Lyon, France. See “Description of the
notes—Certain covenants—Reports” and “Listing and general information.”

Information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this offering memorandum and is not
part of this offering memorandum.
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Forward-looking statements

Various statements contained in this offering memorandum constitute “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the securities laws of certain applicable jurisdictions. All statements other than statements of historical fact
included in this offering memorandum, including, without limitation, statements regarding our future financial position
and results of operation, trends or developments affecting our financial condition and results of operation or the markets
in which we operate, strategy, outlook and growth prospects, anticipated investments, costs and results, future plans and
potential for growth, projects to enhance efficiency, impact of governmental regulations or actions, competition in areas
of our business, litigation outcomes and timetables, future capital expenditures, liquidity requirements, capital resources,
the successful integration of acquisitions and objectives of management for future operations or plans to launch new or
expand existing operations, may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. When used in this offering memorandum,
the words “believe,” “anticipate,” “should,” “intend,” “assume,” “plan,” “may,” “will,” “expect,” “estimate,”
“positioned,” “strategy” and similar expressions may identify these forward-looking statements, but the absence of these
words does not necessarily mean that a statement is not forward-looking. These forward-looking statements involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements
or industry results to be materially different from those contemplated, projected, forecasted, estimated or budgeted,
whether expressed or implied, by these forward-looking statements. These factors include those set forth in the section of
this offering memorandum captioned “Risk factors,” which include, among others:
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» fluctuations and deteriorations in the economic conditions in the industries and markets in which we
operate, in particular in France;

« unfavorable conditions in the capital and credit markets and political uncertainty;
« the effects of competition;

« exposure to risks inherent in operating a business across multiple jurisdictions;

« our ability to forecast trends accurately;

« our ability to effectively manage our rental equipment;

« our dependence on equipment manufacturers and suppliers to obtain rental equipment on a timely basis and
on acceptable terms;

« increases in the cost of equipment for, and the maintenance and repair costs associated with, our rental fleet;
«  exposure to counterparty risks;

» technical obsolescence and redundancy of our rental fleet;

»  residual value risk upon disposal of our rental equipment;

« disruptions in our information technology system;

» our ability to execute our organic growth and acquisition strategy;

» our dependence on customer relationships in order to access markets and maintain leadership;
« the loss of core executives, senior management or other key personnel;

»  failures in our risk management, internal controls and compliance processes;

«  risks related to our coverage under insurance policies;

«  risks related to actions of third parties, including suppliers, subcontractors and agents;

» fluctuation in revenue and operating results;

» our ability to access additional capital as required;

+  risks associated with the presentation of our financial information and its comparability;
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»  risks related to the nature of the Issuer as a holding company and its dependency on payments from its
subsidiaries;

» inconsistencies between the interests of our controlling shareholder and other equity holders and your
interests;

» compliance with laws and regulations, including those relating to labor, environmental, health, safety,
anti-corruption and tax matters;

» our significant amount of outstanding debt and our ability to incur substantially more debt in the future;
» our ability to generate the cash required to service or refinance our indebtedness;
» the restrictive covenants in our debt agreements;

»  risks related to the indebtedness that bears interest at a variable rate, which could rise significantly,
increasing our costs and reducing our cash flow; and

« other risks and uncertainties associated with our capital structure, our indebtedness, the Notes, the Notes
Guarantees, the Collateral and the Offering, and any other risks and uncertainties described in this offering
memorandum.

The risks included here are not exhaustive. Moreover, we operate in a highly competitive and rapidly changing
environment. New risks emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all such risks related to our
business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from
those contained in any forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue
reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results.

Any forward-looking statements are only made as of the date of this offering memorandum and, except as
required by law or the rules and regulations of any exchange on which the Notes are listed, we assume no obligation to
update the forward-looking statements contained in this offering memorandum to reflect actual results, changes in
assumptions or changes in factors affecting these statements.

We urge you to read carefully the sections of this offering memorandum entitled “Risk factors,” “Management’s
discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations,” “Industry” and “Business” for a more detailed
discussion of the factors that could affect our future performance and the markets in which we operate.



Presentation of financial and other information
Overview

On February 15, 2018, (the “Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date”), the Issuer, which was formed at the
direction of the Sponsors, completed the acquisition (the “Kiloutou Acquisition”) of the entire issued share capital of
Financiére Kilinvest, Sapak, FK5 and FK6 (collectively with their subsidiaries, the “Acquired Kiloutou Group”),
thereby giving the Issuer full control of Financiére Kilinvest, the entity that held all of the shares in Kiloutou S.A.S.U.
Subsequently, in order to simplify the legal structure, each of Financiere Kilinvest, Sapak, FK5 and FK6 were merged
with and into the Issuer, as a result of which Kiloutou S.A.S.U. became the direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Issuer.

The Issuer was incorporated on November 16, 2017 for the purpose of facilitating the Kiloutou Acquisition and,
prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date, did not engage in any activities other than those related to the
Kiloutou Acquisition, including the entry into, and incurrence of indebtedness under, the Existing Senior Facilities
Agreement (as defined herein), to finance the Kiloutou Acquisition and to repay certain then existing indebtedness of the
Acquired Kiloutou Group (the “Kiloutou Acquisition Financing” and, together with the Kiloutou Acquisition, the
“2018 Transactions”).

As discussed in the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2018 included elsewhere in this offering memorandum, the Kiloutou Acquisition was accounted for at fair
value and, accordingly, the assets acquired of, and liabilities assumed from, the Acquired Kiloutou Group were recorded
at their estimated fair values as of the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date. As a result, the financial statements of
Financiere Kilinvest for periods prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date are not comparable to the financial
statements of the Issuer for periods subsequent to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date due to (i) the Issuer’s
application of purchase accounting as of the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date in connection with the Kiloutou
Acquisition and (ii) additional interest expense associated with the financing of the Kiloutou Acquisition.

The reporting entity for our consolidated financial statements prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date
was Financiere Kilinvest. Since the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date, our consolidated financial statements
(consolidating the financial statements of all of our Guarantor and non-Guarantor subsidiaries) have been the
consolidated financial statements of the Issuer (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “New Kiloutou Group”).
Since the New Kiloutou Group was created, the most recent unaudited interim financial information of the Issuer
available as of the date of this offering memorandum is as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. Going
forward, holders of the Notes will also receive consolidated financial statements of the Issuer pursuant to the reporting
provisions in the Indenture, although we may in the future provide consolidated financial statements of a parent entity in
compliance with such reporting provisions. See “Description of the notes—Certain covenants—Reports.”

Comparability of financial statements

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended December 31, 2018 do not include
the results of operations of the Acquired Kiloutou Group from January 1, 2018 to February 14, 2018 (i.e., the date prior
to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date). In addition, they are not comparable to the historical consolidated
financial statements of Financiére Kilinvest or with any subsequent consolidated financial statements of the Issuer. In
order to mitigate the lack of comparability and provide a more meaningful basis for commenting on the Issuer’s
consolidated results in this offering memorandum, we have included certain illustrative pro forma consolidated financial
information of the Issuer giving effect to the 2018 Transactions as if the 2018 Transactions were completed on January 1,
2018, as discussed further below.

Furthermore, the historical financial information presented in this offering memorandum has been affected by
the acquisitions that have changed our scope of consolidation and may make it more difficult for investors to evaluate the
historical performance of our business. For a description of certain acquisitions, see “Management’s discussion and
analysis of financial condition and results of operations—Key factors affecting results of operations—Acquisitions.”
Financial information

Historical financial information

The historical financial information in this offering memorandum includes information from or is derived from
the following financial statements:
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+ the English language translation of the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements of the
Issuer as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 (the “2019 Unaudited Interim Financial
Statements”);

» the English language translation of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2018 (the “2018 Audited Financial Statements”);

« the English language translation of the audited consolidated financial statements of Financiere Kilinvest as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2017 (the “2017 Audited Financial Statements”); and

» the English language translation of the audited consolidated financial statements of Financiére Kilinvest as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 (the “2016 Audited Financial Statements” and, collectively
with the 2018 Audited Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Financial Statements, the “Audited
Financial Statements”, and the Audited Financial Statements, together with the 2019 Unaudited Interim
Financial Statements, the “Financial Statements”).

The 2016 Audited Financial Statements and 2017 Audited Financial Statements were audited by KPMG S.A.
(“KPMG?”) and Deloitte & Associés (“Deloitte”). The 2018 Audited Financial Statements were audited by KPMG and
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit (“PwC”), the independent auditors of the Group, as stated in their report included
elsewhere in this offering memorandum. The 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements have been subject to a limited
review by KPMG and PwC.

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in
France (“French GAAP”).

The financial information included in this offering memorandum is not intended to comply with the
requirements of Regulation S-X under the Securities Act and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated
thereunder, in particular with respect to: (i) the omission of certain consolidating financial information regarding the
Guarantor and non-Guarantor subsidiaries, (ii) the presentation of certain non-GAAP financial measures (as described
below) and (iii) the presentation of the unaudited consolidated financial information for the year ended December 31,
2018 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

Hlustrative pro forma financial information

As noted above, this offering memorandum includes certain illustrative pro forma financial information as
management believes this provides a more meaningful basis for commenting on the Issuer’s consolidated results. This
illustrative pro forma financial information is included in note 6 to the 2018 Audited Financial Statements and note 6 to
the 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements.

The illustrative pro forma financial information consists of:

» the condensed consolidated illustrative pro forma income statement of the Issuer for the year ended
December 31, 2018, reflecting adjustments to the consolidated income statement of the Issuer for the year
ended December 31, 2018 (as presented in the 2018 Audited Financial Statements) to give effect to: (i) the
addition of the results of operations of the Acquired Kiloutou Group for the period from January 1, 2018 to
February 14, 2018 (i.e., the date prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date), based on the
accounting records of the Acquired Kiloutou Group, as further adjusted to harmonize the accounting rules
and methods with those of the New Kiloutou Group, (ii) the depreciation of acquired customer relationship
assets of the Group as part of the recurring purchase price allocation adjustments for the Kiloutou
Acquisition for the period from January 1, 2018 to February 14, 2018, (iii) the financial interests resulting
from the Kiloutou Acquisition Financing and (iv) related tax effects, as if each such event had occurred on
January 1, 2018 (the “2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information”); and

» the consolidated illustrative pro forma income statement of the Issuer for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018, reflecting adjustments to the consolidated income statement of the Issuer for the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 (as presented in the 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements) to
give effect to (i) the addition of the results of operations of the Acquired Kiloutou Group for the period
from January 1, 2018 to February 14, 2018 (i.e., the date prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion
Date), based on the accounting records of the Acquired Kiloutou Group, as further adjusted to harmonize
the accounting rules and methods with those of the New Kiloutou Group, (ii) the depreciation of acquired
customer relationship assets of the Group as part of the recurring purchase price allocation adjustments for
the Kiloutou Acquisition for the period from January 1, 2018 to February 14, 2018, (iii) the financial
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interests resulting from the Kiloutou Acquisition Financing and (iv) related tax effects, as if each such event
had occurred on January 1, 2018 (the “Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial
Information”).

Differences between French GAAP and IFRS

We include in this offering memorandum financial information prepared under French GAAP. French GAAP
differs in significant respects from International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the EU (“IFRS”). Given
the differences between French GAAP and IFRS, if we were to prepare our financial statements on the basis of IFRS
instead of French GAAP, we cannot guarantee that there could not be substantial differences in our results of operations,
cash flows and financial position, including levels of indebtedness. In particular, our profits from operations could be
materially lower under IFRS. Prospective investors are advised to consult their professional advisors for an
understanding of: (i) the differences between French GAAP and other systems of generally accepted accounting
principles and how those differences might affect the financial information included in this offering memorandum; and
(i) the impact that future additions to, or amendments of, French GAAP may have on the financial information presented
in this offering memorandum, results of operations and/or financial condition, as well as on the comparability of prior
periods. For a discussion of certain differences between French GAAP and IFRS as applied by us, see “Management’s
discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations—Certain differences between French GAAP and
IFRS.”

Furthermore, we present certain financial data as of and for the last twelve months ended September 30, 2019,
as if we had adopted IFRS on October 1, 2018. See “Summary—Summary historical consolidated financial information
and other data—As adjusted financial data.” These measures may not reflect what our actual financial condition or
results of operations would have been had we adopted IFRS at such time. See “Risk factors—Risks related to our
financial condition—Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with French GAAP, and any transition to
IFRS in the future could impair the comparability of our reported and historical results.”

Other historical financial information

Certain financial information and operating data presented in this offering memorandum have been excerpted
from, prepared or calculated based on sources other than the Financial Statements, such as management accounts and
schedules prepared on the basis of accounting records in relation to the Group. Such information and data has not been
subject to any audit or review procedures carried out by any independent auditor.

Non-GAAP financial measures

This offering memorandum contains various financial measures and ratios that are not presented in accordance
with French GAAP (collectively, “Non-GAAP Measures”). We present these Non-GAAP Measures because we believe
that these and similar measures are widely used by certain investors as supplemental measures of performance and
liquidity, and that this information, along with comparable French GAAP measures, is useful to investors because it
provides a basis for measuring and comparing our operating performance with other companies across the periods
presented.

We present Non-GAAP Measures for informational purposes only. This information does not purport to
represent the results we would have achieved had any of the transactions for which an adjustment is made occurred at the
beginning of the periods presented or as of the dates indicated. Such measures and ratios may not accurately reflect our
performance, liquidity or our ability to incur debt, have limitations as analytical tools, and should not be considered as
alternatives to operating profit or net profit or any other performance measures derived from or in accordance with
French GAAP, IFRS or any other generally accepted accounting principles or as alternatives to cash flow from operating
activities. The Non-GAAP Measures contained in this offering memorandum are not intended to comply with the
reporting requirements of the SEC, will not be subject to review by the SEC and certain measures would be prohibited
from inclusion in documents furnished or filed with the SEC. These amounts have not been, and, in certain cases cannot
be, audited, reviewed or verified by any independent accounting firm. This information is inherently subject to risks and
uncertainties. It may not give an accurate or complete picture of our financial condition or results of operations for the
periods presented and should not be relied upon when making an investment decision.

Furthermore, some of the limitations of EBITDA-based Non-GAAP Measures are that:

» they do not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital investments or contractual
commitments;

« they do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
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they do not reflect the significant interest expense or cash requirements necessary to service interest or
principal payments on our debt;

they do not reflect any cash income taxes that we may be required to pay;

they are not adjusted for all non-cash income or expense items that are reflected in our consolidated income
statement;

they do not reflect the impact of earnings or charges resulting from certain matters we consider not to be
indicative of our ongoing operations;

assets are depreciated or amortized over differing estimated useful lives and often have to be replaced in the
future, and these measures do not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;

other companies in our industry and analysts may calculate these measures differently than we do, limiting
their usefulness as comparative measures; and

our calculation and presentation of EBITDA measures in this offering memorandum is different from the
calculation of Consolidated EBITDA contained in the section entitled “Description of the notes” of this
offering memorandum and the Indenture. Accordingly, the EBITDA measures presented in this offering
memorandum do not provide precise indications as to the level of our adherence to the terms of the
Indenture.

For an explanation and reconciliation of certain of these Non-GAAP Measures to the most directly comparable
French GAAP measure, see “Summary—Summary historical consolidated financial and other data—Other financial and
operating data.”

We present the following Non-GAAP Measures used in this offering memorandum:

2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information and Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma
Financial Information. The 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information and Nine-Month 2018
Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information have been prepared to give effect to the 2018 Transactions as
if they occurred on January 1, 2018. See “—Financial information—Illustrative pro forma financial
information” above.

The 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared on the basis of:

the audited consolidated income statement of the Issuer for the year ended December 31, 2018, prepared in
accordance with French GAAP, reflected in the 2018 Audited Financial Statements and included elsewhere
in this offering memorandum;

with respect to the results of operations of the Acquired Kiloutou Group for the period from January 1,
2018 to February 14, 2018, the accounting records of the Acquired Kiloutou Group, as further adjusted to
harmonize the accounting rules and methods with those of the New Kiloutou Group; and

illustrative pro forma adjustments that we believe are directly attributable to the Kiloutou Acquisition and
the Kiloutou Acquisition Financing.

The Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared on the basis of:

the consolidated income statement of the Issuer for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, prepared in
accordance with French GAAP, reflected in the 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements and included
elsewhere in this offering memorandum;

with respect to the results of operations of the Acquired Kiloutou Group for the period from January 1,
2018 to February 14, 2018, the accounting records of the Acquired Kiloutou Group, as further adjusted to
harmonize the accounting rules and methods with those of the New Kiloutou Group; and

illustrative pro forma adjustments that we believe are directly attributable to the Kiloutou Acquisition and
the Kiloutou Acquisition Financing.
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See note 6 of our 2018 Audited Financial Statements and note 6 of our 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial
Statements for further details.

The 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information and Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial
Information included in this offering memorandum are for informational purposes only and are not intended to
represent or be indicative of what our actual results of operations or financial condition would have been had the
Kiloutou Acquisition and the Kiloutou Acquisition Financing occurred as of January 1, 2018, nor are they
necessarily indicative of future results.

We describe the assumptions underlying the adjustments in note 6 of our 2018 Audited Financial Statements
and note 6 of our 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements. The adjustments are based upon available
information and certain assumptions that we believe to be reasonable.

The 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information and Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial
Information contained in this offering memorandum are not intended to, and do not, comply with the reporting
requirements of the SEC, will not be subject to review by the SEC, and would not be permitted to be included in
a registration statement filed with the SEC in compliance with applicable U.S. securities laws.

+ EBITDA. We define EBITDA as total net income for the period before depreciation, amortization and
provisions, amortization of fair value adjustments to intangible assets, interest, income tax and
extraordinary income and expenses. This definition applies to the EBITDA presented and commented in
this offering memorandum and in the 2018 Audited Financial Statements of the Issuer, an English language
translation of which is included in this offering memorandum. Consequently, after elimination of the above
items, it corresponds to the Group’s revenue from operations carried out in the normal course of its business
(rentals, services, sales of rental equipment recognized as fixed assets, etc.).

In the 2016 Audited Financial Statements and 2017 Audited Financial Statements of Financiere Kilinvest, EBITDA is
defined as the net income for the period before depreciation, amortization and provisions for impairment and
contingencies and charges, financial income and expenses, extraordinary income and expenses, and income tax. The
EBITDA measure presented in the 2016 Audited Financial Statements and 2017 Audited Financial Statements includes
the CVAE tax contribution. So as to eliminate the impact of this contribution, a Reported EBITDA, defined as EBITDA
plus the CVAE tax contribution, is also presented in the 2016 Audited Financial Statements and 2017 Audited Financial
Statements.

It should be noted that the CVAE tax contribution is presented under the caption “Income tax” in the 2018 Audited
Financial Statements of the Issuer and under the caption “Other operating costs” in the 2016 Audited Financial
Statements and 2017 Audited Financial Statements of Financiére Kilinvest.

Due to this change of presentation and so as to ensure the comparability, the EBITDA presented and commented in this
offering memorandum for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017 corresponds to the Reported EBITDA presented,
respectively, in the 2016 Audited Financial Statements and 2017 Audited Financial Statements of Financiére Kilinvest.

+ EBITDA margin. We define EBITDA margin as EBITDA as a percentage of total revenue for the relevant
period.

*  Free cash flow. We define free cash flow as EBITDA less any gross capital expenditures, changes in net
working capital and income tax (including CICE and CVAE) payments, plus non-cash items included in
EBITDA (mainly net book value of rental equipment sales).

»  Gross book value of equipment. We define gross book value of equipment as the acquisition cost of the
equipment.

»  Total third-party financial debt. We define total third-party financial debt as the sum of all of our current
and non-current financial liabilities, including borrowings and debt owed to financial institutions, leasing
liabilities, bank overdrafts and other financial debt, plus outstanding interest on debt, and excluding
convertible bonds issued in favor of certain shareholders.

* Net capital expenditures. We define net capital expenditures as capital expenditures, less proceeds from
the sale of fixed assets, including rental equipment.
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+ Net financial debt. We define net financial debt as total debt less cash and cash equivalents. LTM
information This offering memorandum contains certain unaudited consolidated financial information of
the Issuer for the twelve months ended (“LTM?”) September 30, 2019, which has been calculated by adding
our historical results for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 (derived from the 2019 Unaudited
Interim Financial Statements) to our results for the year ended December 31, 2018 (derived from the 2018
Audited Financial Statements), and subtracting our results for the nine months ended September 30, 2018
(derived from the 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements). As our financial year ends on
December 31, the presentation of this information is not made in accordance with French GAAP. We
present this data as it is the basis for certain ratios and as adjusted financial information included in this
offering memorandum that we believe is useful as supplemental measures for investors in assessing the
impact of the Transactions and our ability to incur and service our debt, including the Notes. This data is
not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ended December 31, 2019, and
should not be used as the basis for, or prediction of, an annualized calculation.

As adjusted financial information

We present in this offering memorandum certain as adjusted financial data for the Issuer to give effect to the
Transactions, as if they had occurred on September 30, 2019 (in the case of balance sheet data), or October 1, 2018 (in
the case of income statement data). The as adjusted financial information has not been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Regulation S-X under the Securities Act, the Prospectus Regulation or any generally accepted
accounting standards. Neither the assumptions underlying the adjustments nor the resulting adjusted financial
information have been audited in accordance with any generally accepted auditing standards.

Rounding

Certain numerical figures set out in this offering memorandum, including financial data presented in millions or
thousands and certain percentages, have been subject to rounding adjustments and, as a result, the totals of the data in this
offering memorandum may vary slightly from the actual arithmetic totals of such information. Percentages and amounts
reflecting changes over time periods relating to financial and other data set forth in “Management’s discussion and
analysis of financial condition and results of operations” are calculated using the numerical data in our consolidated
financial statements or the tabular presentation of other data (subject to rounding) contained in this offering
memorandum, as applicable, and not using the numerical data in the narrative description thereof.
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Market and industry data

It is difficult to obtain precise industry and market information in our industry. This offering memorandum
contains market data and certain economic and industry data and forecasts pertaining to our business, as well as
statements regarding our market position in the markets in which we operate. Unless otherwise indicated, such
information is based on our analysis of multiple sources, including internal surveys, market research, government and
other publicly available information, reports prepared by consultants and independent industry publications.

In preparing this offering memorandum, the following sources, in particular, were used:

* 2019 ERA Equipment Rental Industry Report issued by the European Rental Association (the “ERA”); and
« 87" Euroconstruct Summary and Country Reports (June 2019 editions) issued by Euroconstruct
(collectively, the “Market Reports”).

We believe the information obtained from the Market Reports has been accurately reproduced, and we are not
aware of any facts that have been omitted which would render the reproduced information provided inaccurate or
misleading. Nevertheless, industry surveys and publications generally state that the information contained therein has
been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of information contained therein is
not guaranteed. Subject to the foregoing, neither us nor the sources of the Market Reports assume any liability for, or
offer any guarantee of, the accuracy of the data in the studies and third-party sources contained in this offering
memorandum or for the accuracy of data on which estimates are based. In particular, market studies and analyses are
frequently based on information and assumptions that may not be accurate or technically correct, and their methodology
is by nature forward-looking and speculative.

Similarly, internal company analyses and surveys, while believed by us to be reliable, have not been verified by
any independent sources, and neither we nor any of the Initial Purchasers make any representation as to the accuracy of
such information. In addition, certain information presented in this offering memorandum regarding the market position
of the Group and its competitors reflects management’s best estimates based upon information obtained from trade and
business organizations, observations of the marketplace informed by management’s experience of our industry and the
markets in which we are present, as well as information published by our competitors. While we believe our internal
estimates to be reasonable, these estimates have not been verified by any independent sources and neither we nor the
Initial Purchasers can assure you as to their accuracy or the accuracy of the underlying assumptions used to estimate such
data.

While we are not aware of any misstatements regarding any industry or similar data presented herein, such data

involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed under the
“Risk factors” section in this offering memorandum.
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Trademarks and trade names

We own or have rights to trademarks, service marks, copyrights and trade names that we use in conjunction with
the operation of our business, many of which are registered under applicable intellectual property laws. Solely for
convenience, trademarks and trade names referred to in this offering memorandum may appear without the “®” or “T™M”
symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extent possible
under applicable law, our rights or the rights of the applicable licensor to these trademarks and trade names.

This offering memorandum also includes trademarks, service marks and trade names of other companies. Each
trademark, service mark or trade name of any other company appearing in this offering memorandum belongs to its
holder. Use or display by us of other parties’ trademarks, service marks or trade names is not intended to and does not
imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship by us of, the trademark, service mark or trade name owner.

Xviil



Certain definitions used in this offering memorandum

Unless indicated otherwise in this offering memorandum or the context requires otherwise, each reference to:

“Agents” means, collectively, the Principal Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, any Paying Agent, the
Registrar, the Transfer Agent and the Listing Agent, each as identified on the back inside cover of this
offering memorandum;

“Agreed Security Principles” means the Agreed Security Principles included in the Indenture and
summarized in “Description of the notes—Security,” as applied in good faith by the Issuer;

“Clearstream” means Clearstream Banking S.A., or any successor thereof;

“Collateral” has the meaning set forth in “Summary—The offering—Security;”

“EEA” means the European Economic Area;

“EU” means the European Union as of the Issue Date;

“euro,” “€” or “EUR” refers to the single currency of the Member States of the EU participating in the
third stage of the economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European
Union, as amended or supplemented from time to time;

“Euroclear” means Euroclear Bank SA/NV or any successor thereof;

“Exchange” means the Luxembourg Stock Exchange;

“Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;

“Existing Revolving Credit Facility” means the multi-currency revolving credit facility in an aggregate
principal amount of €120.0 million, made available under the Existing Senior Facilities Agreement;

“Existing Proceeds Loan” means the intercompany loan in an initial amount of €9.4 million, made
available by the Issuer to Kiloutou S.A.S.U. on February 15, 2018, which is described in more detail under
“Description of certain financing arrangements—Existing proceeds loan”;

“Existing Senior Facilities” means, together, the Existing Senior Term Loan and the Existing Revolving
Credit Facility, which will be repaid in full with proceeds of the Offering;

“Existing Senior Facilities Agreement” means the senior facilities agreement, dated as of February 15,
2018, among, inter alios, Kapla Holding S.A.S., as original borrower and original guarantor, BNP Paribas,
as facility agent and security agent, BNP Paribas, Natixis and Société Générale Corporate and Investment
Banking, as arrangers, as amended, restated, modified, renewed, refunded, replaced, restructured,
refinanced, repaid, increased or extended in whole or in part from time to time;

“Existing Senior Term Loan” means the Facility B term loan in an aggregate principal amount of
€820.0 million, made available under the Existing Senior Facilities Agreement;

“Fixed Rate Notes” refers to the €460.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Issuer’s 3.375% senior
secured fixed rate notes due 2026 to be issued under the Indenture;

“Floating Rate Notes” refers to the €400.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Issuer’s senior
secured floating rate notes due 2026 to be issued under the Indenture;

“French GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in France;
“Guarantors” means Kiloutou S.A.S.U. and Kiloutou Module S.A.S.U.;

“IFRS” means the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board, as adopted by the EU;
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“Indenture” means the indenture governing the Notes, to be dated the Issue Date, among, inter alios, the
Issuer, the Guarantors, the Trustee and the Security Agent, as amended, restated or otherwise modified or
varied from time to time;

“Initial Purchasers” means, collectively, J.P. Morgan Securities plc, BNP Paribas, Crédit Agricole
Corporate and Investment Bank, Natixis and Société Générale;

“Intercreditor Agreement” means the Intercreditor Agreement, to be dated on or about the Issue Date,
among, inter alios, the Issuer, the Trustee, the agent under the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement
and the Security Agent, as further described in “Description of certain financing arrangements—
Intercreditor agreement;”

“Issue Date” means December 12, 2019;

“Member State” means a member state of the EEA;

“New Proceeds Loan” means the intercompany loan in the amount of approximately €462.5 million to be
made available on or around the Issue Date by the Issuer to Kiloutou S.A.S.U., which is described in more
detail under “Description of certain financing arrangements—New proceeds loan;”

“New Revolving Credit Facility” refers to the super senior €120.0 million revolving credit facility
established under the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement, which is described in more detail under
“Description of certain financing arrangements—New revolving credit facility agreement;”

“New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement” refers to the revolving facility agreement, to be dated on or
about the Issue Date, among, inter alios, the Issuer, as parent, original guarantor and original borrower,
BNP Paribas, as agent and security agent, Banque CIC Nord-Ouest, Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel,
BNP Paribas, Crédit Industriel et Commercial, Crédit Lyonnais, J.P. Morgan Securities plc, Natixis and
Société Générale, as mandated lead arrangers and the original lenders listed therein governing the New
Revolving Credit Facility, as amended, restated, modified, renewed, refunded, replaced, restructured,
refinanced, repaid, increased or extended in whole or in part from time to time;

“Notes” refers, collectively, to the Floating Rate Notes and the Fixed Rate Notes;

“Notes Guarantees” means the guarantees of the Notes by the Guarantors;

“Offering” means the offering of the Notes and the Notes Guarantees pursuant to this offering
memorandum;

“Proceeds Loans” means, collectively, the Existing Proceeds Loan and the New Proceeds Loan;
“SEC” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission;
“Securities Act” means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended;

“Security Agent” means BNP Paribas, as security agent under the Indenture, the New Revolving Credit
Facility Agreement and the Intercreditor Agreement;

“Security Documents” has the meaning set forth in “Description of the notes—Certain definitions;”

“Sponsors” means (i) HLDI, a holding company controlled by Dentressangle S.A.S., and its affiliates, and
(if) HLD Europe, an investment group, and its affiliates;

“Transactions” has the meaning described in “Summary—The transactions;”

“Trustee” means BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited, in its capacity as trustee for the holders
of the Notes;

“United Kingdom” or “UK” means the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

“United States” or “U.S.” means the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any state of
the United States of America and the District of Columbia; and
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e “U.S.dollars,” “dollars,” “$” or “USD” means the lawful currency of the United States.
In addition to the terms defined above, and except where the context otherwise requires, the terms “Group,”

“we,” “our” and “us” refers to (a) prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date, the Acquired Kiloutou Group and
(b) on and after the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date, the New Kiloutou Group.
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Exchange rate information

The table below sets forth, for the periods and dates indicated, the period end, average, high and low exchange
rates, as published by Bloomberg Composite Rate (London), expressed in U.S. dollars per €1.00. The Bloomberg
Composite Rate is a “best market” calculation, in which, at any point in time, the bid rate is equal to the highest bid rate
of all contributing bank indications and the ask rate is set to the lowest ask rate offered by these banks. The Bloomberg
Composite Rate is a mid-value rate between the applied highest bid rate and the lowest ask rate. The below rates may
differ from the actual rates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements and the other financial
information appearing in this offering memorandum. Our inclusion of these exchange rates is not meant to suggest that
the euro amounts actually represent such U.S. dollar amounts, or that such amounts would have converted at a particular

rate, if at all.

The Bloomberg Composite Rate of the euro on December 3, 2019 was $1.1088 per €1.00.

High Low Average®® Period end
$ per €1.00
Year
2004 ..t bbbt 1.3925 1.2100 1.3209 1.2100
2005 e e e bttt e 1.2099 1.0492 1.1032 1.0866
2016 ...t a bt bttt 1.1527 1.0384 1.1034 1.0547
2007 e 1.2026 1.0427 1.1391 1.2022
2018t r e s 1.2492 1.1245 1.1782 1.1452
Month
JUNB 2019 ..t 1.1389 1.1201 1.1295 1.1359
JUIY 2009 .. e 1.1307 1.1122 1.1214 1.1128
AUGUSE 2019 ..t e 1.1227 1.0988 1.1128 1.0988
SePLEMDEr 2019.... .o s 1.1076 1.0903 1.1010 1.0903
OCEODEN 2019 ... e bt 1.1158 1.0938 1.1058 1.1146
NOVEMDET 2019 ... e 1.1162 1.0999 1.1047 1.1016
December 2019 (10 DECEMDEN 3) ...ocueiiiiiiiiiiiriesiisieeiee et 1.1088 1.1075 1.1082 1.1088
@ The average rate for a year means the average of the Bloomberg Composite Rates on the last day of each month
during a year.
2 The average rate for a month, or for any shorter period, means the average of the daily Bloomberg Composite

Rates during that month, or shorter period, as the case may be.
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Summary

This summary highlights information from this offering memorandum. It is not complete and does not contain
all of the information that you should consider before investing in the Notes. You should read this offering memorandum
carefully in its entirety, including the sections entitled “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and
results of operations,” “Business,” “Industry,” as well as our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto
included elsewhere in this offering memorandum. See the section entitled “Risk factors” for factors that you should
consider before investing in the Notes and the section entitled “Forward-looking statements” for information relating to
the statements contained in this offering memorandum that are not historical facts.

Overview

We are the second largest generalist equipment rental player in Europe and the second largest player in our
largest market, France, based on revenue, serving the construction, civil works, craft, services, industry and events
sectors. We have a significant European presence serving over 300,000 clients across five countries (France, Poland,
Italy, Spain and Germany). As of September 30, 2019, we had a network of 519 branches offering a rental fleet that
comprises approximately 250,000 tools and pieces of equipment (excluding accessories) of approximately 1,000 different
types. In the twelve months ended September 30, 2019, we generated revenue of €729.4 million and EBITDA of €
240.3 million.

We started our business with a focus on tools and light equipment. Over time, we have grown this offering and
diversified our offering to provide a wide array of complementary heavy equipment as well as value-adding services,
creating a one-stop-shop for both professional customers (business-to-business) and individuals (business-to-consumer)
looking for solutions for a variety of projects and construction works.

We report our revenue in two segments: Rental and Services. For the twelve months ended September 30, 2019,
€515.9 million, or 70.7%, of our revenue was derived from our Rental segment and €213.5 million, or 29.3%, was
derived from our Services segment.

* Rental segment. We rent both heavy and light equipment and tools to a diversified client base including
construction and civil work companies, craftsmen, public entities, industrial companies, events companies
and, to a lesser extent, individuals. Our Rental segment consists of two business lines in France: Generalist
and Specialist. Our French Generalist business line includes our core equipment rental activities. We offer
one of the largest catalogues of rental equipment across four product categories: Tools and Light
Equipment, Earthmoving, Access and Utility Vehicles, which accounted for 35%, 32%, 21% and 6%,
respectively, of our French Rental segment pro forma revenue in the year ended December 31, 2018. Our
French Specialist business line, which accounted for 6% of our French Rental segment pro forma revenue
in the year ended December 31, 2018, comprises three product categories: Power, Module and Events.

«  Services segment. We offer services that are directly associated with our Rental segment activities, as
well as other services that cater to our clients’ requirements. Our Services segment includes the following
activities: transportation and delivery of equipment, sale of consumables (such as ancillary products that are
fitted to equipment we rent, as well as cross-sales of other products, such as diamond blades and sandpaper,
safety equipment and oil) and spare parts adapted to our equipment rental offering, sale of insurance
policies offered to customers in connection with our rental agreements, cleaning and repair services for the
maintenance of our equipment, fuel for equipment and vehicles, client trainings and various other activities
such as the sale of products or subrental of equipment. Our two largest Services categories, Transportation
and Delivery and Consumables, accounted for 38% and 27%, respectively, of revenue within our Services
segment for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019.

Historically located in Lille, we have progressively expanded our reach into key industrial and populated areas
in France, building a dense network of 445 branches covering all key regions as of September 30, 2019. We also began
expanding our business internationally in 2014 with the acquisition of two companies in Poland. As of September 30,
2019, we had 74 branches in Poland, Italy, Spain and Germany.

We believe that our dense network in France contributes to strong branch visibility and, ultimately, to strong
brand recognition. Our business model is based on a decentralized approach that allows our clusters to have a high degree
of autonomy and responsibility. Cluster and branch managers have a solid knowledge of their local markets and are in a
strong position to build long-lasting relationships with local clients, which we believe enable them to react quickly,
efficiently and precisely to their specific geographic markets. We intend to apply the same business model to the other
countries in which we operate as we expand our international network.




The chart below shows our total revenue by geography for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019.
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We own the second largest equipment rental fleet in Europe in terms of gross book value, with a gross book
value of €1.3 billion as of September 30, 2019. In recent years, we have heavily invested in our operations to modernize
our equipment fleet and improve our service offering, which we believe positions us well to capture future market
growth, driven by increasing customer preference for renting rather than owning equipment, as well as increasing our
favorable penetration rates in our geographic markets. As of September 30, 2019, our young equipment fleet within our
French Generalist business line had an estimated weighted average age of 4.6 years (compared to 5.3 years in 2016) and
an estimated weighted average useful life of over ten years. Offering a relatively new fleet allows us not only to provide
our clients with modern and well-functioning equipment but also to better manage our repair and maintenance costs. We
believe that the high quality of our equipment fleet is highly regarded by our clients.

Through both bolt-on acquisitions and organic growth, we continue to expand and diversify our offering from
our core rental equipment activities into new specialist markets. Our Power, Module and Events business lines are fully
integrated with our operations, including with respect to products and services offered through our network of branches,
logistics and fleet management, and customer care services, which enables us to increase and diversify our client base.

We also invest in innovative solutions to accommodate our clients’ changing needs, which cannot be easily
replicated by smaller competitors. For example, we recently launched our drones offering, which includes the rental of
unmanned aerial vehicles and related equipment, such as drones and drone sensors, together with ancillary services, such
as piloting. Our drone solutions provide: (i) photos and videos that can be used in inspecting, monitoring and promoting
projects, (ii) aerial thermography, (iii) topographic surveying, (iv) panoramic imaging for the installation, modification or
maintenance of antennas and masts in the telecom industry, (v) thermographic imaging to assess defaults and anomalies
in photovoltaic panels and (vi) 3-D modelling. Other recently launched innovative offerings include our offering of
connected and intelligent KARE safety vests, which are designed to avoid collisions of pedestrian employees and
machines and for which we have received the 2019 Mat D’Or innovation award in the category “equipment and tools”, as
well as industrial exo- and ergo-skeleton, which are pieces of equipment that operators wear that allow them to lift and
carry heavy objects.

We believe that the size and density of our network, our large and well-diversified customer base and the quality
of our fleet constitute key competitive advantages that enable us to gain market share and increase the efficiency of our
operations, as well as to secure repeat business. These competitive advantages and the attractive underlying fundamentals
of the equipment rental industry have enabled us to deliver strong financial performance historically, with our revenue
growing at a compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of 10.5% between 2005 and 2018.

Our competitive strengths

We believe that we have a number of core competitive strengths that enable us to compete effectively in our
market, which are discussed further below.




Leading pan-European equipment rental provider with established positioning in core markets

We are the second largest player operating in the European generalist rental equipment market (based on rental
revenue), with a network of 519 branches across five countries as of September 30, 2019. We have established our
leading position in the European market by developing and expanding our network both organically and through a series
of successful bolt-on acquisitions, while cultivating a well-recognized brand that is known for strong market and
technical expertise and building a large, high-quality fleet. We are also recognized for the quality of our equipment and
services, our prices, product availability, network and proximity to and knowledge of our customers. As a result, we have
consistently increased our revenue market share in France over the past decade, from 10.5% in 2008 to 16.0% in 2018.
We believe our fleet of approximately 250,000 tools and pieces of equipment (excluding accessories) is the second
largest in the European market in terms of gross book value, with a gross book value of €1.3 billion as of September 30,
20109.

In France, which is our largest market, we are the second largest player (based on rental revenue), with a dense
network of 445 branches as of September 30, 2019. We are one of only two players with a national presence, with all
other players competing at a regional level. We are seven times larger than the third player in the industry (based on
rental revenue), with none of the smaller players holding more than approximately 2% of market share as of 2018. We
benefit from the highest brand awareness in the French construction industry (both in terms “Top of Mind” and
“Spontaneous” recognition), based on the number of professionals that cited Kiloutou in a survey of approximately 700
equipment rental consumers (both legal entities and individuals) conducted by a third-party consultant in April 2015.

We are also among the top five players in Poland, Italy and Spain and have a significant presence in Germany,
where we currently primarily offer Access products. Since 2014, we have significantly expanded our international
footprint with a combination of organic development and opportunistic, value-accretive acquisitions. As of
September 30, 2019, we operated 74 branches in Europe outside of France. We have leveraged the know-how we have
cultivated from our extensive experience in France to build a strong presence in our other markets. As a result, we have
achieved significant recognition for our equipment and service quality across our markets.

Favorable market conditions supporting long-term organic growth

We expect to benefit from the positive medium-term outlook of the European equipment rental market as well
as the larger European construction market, which is a key driver of business for us. According to the ERA, the total size
of the European equipment rental market (defined as total rental revenue, including rental-related revenue, merchandise
and sale of used equipment) was €26.0 billion in 2018, with overall growth of 4.4% in 2018.

Our five geographic markets were among the top ten equipment rental markets in Europe and are expected to
grow in the medium term, as illustrated in the chart below.

Top 10 equipment rental markets in

Kiloutou equipment rental markets
Europe (€bn, 2018E)

2014-18E 2019E 2020E
CAGR

=z UK 52 @
MR Germany 26 (B gah = +5.8% +3.3%
l i France 39 ':'
===  Sweden 15 @ Bl +4.8% +2.5%
N | Italy 16 (M
—_— Spain 14 (' — +5% +5.6% +1.2%
=== Netherlands 1.1
[ —
Bl MNorway 0.9 == +3% +7.3% +9.5%
# B Begium 0.7 )

S (® Lo poromton e o e 1% +4.7% +5.2%
[ Poland 0.7 \ ) . High pienetration raja of - =

roeTa

Source: ERA 2019 Market Report.




In France, which accounted for 84% of our revenue in the twelve months ended September 30, 2019, the
equipment rental market value in 2018 was estimated at €3.9 billion, with 65% of rental revenue estimated to stem from
demand in the construction sector. According to the ERA, the French rental industry will benefit from a good economic
environment in the following years. The market in France is expected to grow at an average growth rate of 3.2% from
2019 through 2021 driven by an increase in rental volume growth (resulting from both the construction market growth
and increasing rental penetration rate) as well as a steady rental price growth.

In our international markets, our investment strategy takes into account the local market conditions within a
country and we sometimes opt to grow regionally rather than nationally in order to enjoy higher growth rates. We have
benefitted from strong growth in both the Italian and Spanish markets in recent years despite challenging market
conditions. The Spanish market was significantly impacted by the global financial crisis of 2008, which caused
investments to decline steeply and accordingly the fleet age to increase substantially, which we believe creates
opportunities for consolidation. We believe we are well positioned to take advantage of market grow both organically
and through acquisitions in such countries.

Except for Spain, all of our geographic markets had lower penetration rates (measured as the size of the
equipment rental market over construction output) than the average European rate, including countries such as the United
Kingdom and Sweden, in 2018. Penetration rates for equipment rental have been increasing year over year in France and,
even where penetration rates are not increasing, we believe that the comparatively low penetration rates for equipment
rental in certain of the countries in which we operate creates room to capture new market share, which we anticipate will
continue to provide us with growth opportunities.

In the countries where we operate, the equipment rental market has been consistently expanding and amplifying
the construction and economic cycles, with stronger and longer growth periods than the construction market uptakes, and
with downturns typically followed by periods of strong recovery. The equipment rental market in such countries grew at
a CAGR of 5.1% from 2008 to 2018 on a revenue-weighted average base, largely exceeding the growth in gross domestic
product (GDP), industrial production, construction output and civil engineering growth over the same period (CAGRs of
1.0%, (0.5%), (1.4%) and (1.8%), respectively).

We expect that this consistent increase in demand for equipment rental in our principal markets will continue in
the long-term, supported by the following positive fundamental trends:

» anincrease of global urbanization with 68% of the world population expected to be urban by 2050 (as
opposed to 55% in 2018), according to the United Nations;

« anincreasing preference for renting rather than owning equipment, as a result of customer perception that
renting (i) reduces the cost for low-usage equipment (rental companies can obtain better purchase prices and
resale value, better manage annual repair and maintenance costs and optimize equipment utilization rate),
and (ii) optimizes the split between operational expenditures and capital expenditures by reducing the fixed
costs of maintaining and replacing an equipment fleet;

* anongoing shift towards a “sharing economy” and a more sustainable and environmentally friendly
business model (renting improves cost-effectiveness and operational flexibility while minimizing waste,
financial risks and entry barriers by reducing operational complexity (e.g., a reduced fleet size demands
fewer procurement, maintenance, logistics and asset disposal activities));

» the use of digital technology by rental companies, which promotes an increase in sales by enhancing the
speed and quality of the customer journey and automating order requests (e.g., with the use of Internet of
Things technologies);

» ashortage of skilled technicians to repair and maintain equipment, which favors outsourcing technical
expertise for strategic activities and reduces the need for support functions linked to equipment usage; and

* increasing awareness of health safety and environment (“HSE”) issues and related legislation and
regulation, with equipment rental facilitating the fulfillment of local regulations and providing safer,
well-serviced equipment.

Therefore, we believe that the European equipment rental market is structurally attractive and we are well
positioned to reach the untapped potential customer base in the European market and to take advantage of opportunities
for business growth in the medium- and long-term.




Unique value proposition with strong competitive advantages
One-stop-shop for customers

We are a true one-stop-shop equipment rental company with a significant market presence, which allows us to
lead and compete across multiple business lines and product categories and to provide a seamless and high-quality
experience to our broad customer base. We give our customers access to a fleet encompassing a wide and differentiated
range of both generalist and specialist equipment meeting a variety of needs for earthmoving, aerial work, handling,
compaction, tools and light equipment that can be used in a variety of projects, as well as utility vehicles, energy and
pumping solutions, modules and events solutions. The chart below shows our revenue breakdown by product category in
France for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Product category pro forma revenue breakdown in France
for the year ended December 31, 2018
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As of September 30, 2019, we operated a fleet of approximately 250,000 tools and pieces of equipment
(excluding accessories) of approximately 1,000 different types. The superior quality of our fleet is highly recognized by
clients. From 2017 to September 30, 2019, we invested €506 million in our fleet and, as a result, as of September 30,
2019 we had a young fleet within our French Generalist business line with an estimated weighted average age of 4.6
years (compared to 5.3 years in 2016) and an estimated weighted average useful life of over ten years. Furthermore, we
have limited equipment supplier concentration, which we believe enhances our ability to negotiate better prices when
replacing or purchasing new equipment and gives us flexibility when sourcing our products.

In addition to equipment rentals, we offer high-quality value-adding services to our clients, including
transportation and delivery, cleaning, repair and maintenance, as well as logistics and training. Offering multiple products
and services to a diversified client base across a number of end markets creates significant cross-selling opportunities and
synergies across our business lines and allow us to operate more efficiently. Our services are integral to our business
model, complementing our rental offering and, we believe, increasing customer satisfaction and retention.

Our products and services are offered through our dense and capillary branch network (particularly in France)
comprised of 519 branches strategically located across our five geographies as of September 30, 2019. Our network in
France is spread across all departments (other than Corsica) with 445 branches organized within our 62 clusters. We
carefully select the location of our branches in order to optimize our network. The density of our network helps us stay
close to our clients. Given our local staff’s superior knowledge of their respective markets, we trust local management
with a high degree of autonomy and responsibility in their operations in order to better understand local clients’ needs
and respond quickly to their changing requirements.

High-quality customer service

Our customer-centric approach is critical to our commercial success and the resilience of our business model.
This approach allows us to create deeper relationships with clients and develop tailored and innovative solutions (such as
our recently launched drones and connected vest offerings) that meet our clients’ most complex requirements, help them
grow their businesses, control costs and operate more efficiently. The breadth and depth of our fleet, the density of our
branches and our value-adding services give us the flexibility we need to meet our clients’ evolving needs. As our clients
respond to a rapidly changing environment, we in turn adapt our product portfolio and services offering, through both
organic growth and targeted acquisitions. We believe that many of our professional customers consider us to be a trusted
partner in their day-to-day operations, principally as a result of the wide range of products available across our fleet, our
reliability and our complementary services offering.




Our focus on a superior customer service has further strengthened our brand and enhanced our ability to attract
and retain customers across our broad geographic coverage. As of December 31, 2018, approximately 74% of our
revenue derived from recurring clients. We monitor our clients’ satisfaction by conducting monthly surveys with
approximately 1,500 customers. Our Net Promoter Score (i.e., the difference between the share of satisfied promoters
(satisfaction grade between nine and ten) and the share of detractors (satisfaction grade between one and six))
consistently grew over the past three years (from 30.3% in 2016 to 36.2% in October 2019).

Best-in-class fleet management

Our business model also relies on our best-in-class fleet management capabilities. The high quality of our fleet,
combined with our approach to fleet management, is a core part of providing a superior customer experience and
maintaining our profitability. Our focus on preventive and regular equipment maintenance, which is conducted by our
highly skilled team of technicians, allows us to improve the utilization rates of our products and better manage capital
expenditure levels dedicated for the maintenance or expansion of our fleet, while also ensuring client safety. Our fleet
management capabilities are in addition to our superior logistics know-how which, supported by our dense and capillary
branch network, ensures timely delivery to our customers.

Furthermore, we are able to maximize the resale value of our products (i.e., sale price divided by purchase price)
by keeping a young fleet and using a dedicated resale platform. Our fleet management have ensured an average resale
value growth of 25% since 2015 (consistently increasing from 22% in 2015 to 28% in 2018), while also reducing our
maintenance costs (as a percentage of rental revenue) from 11.5% in 2016 to 10.6% in the twelve months ended
September 30, 2019.

Digital pioneer and optimized IT system

We believe that digital technology is and will increasingly be a key driver of success in our market and we
therefore invest heavily in our digital capabilities. Over the years, we have been at the forefront of the digital offering of
equipment rental in Europe, developing reliable, versatile and efficient in-house technology platforms that support our
products and services. We were one of the first companies to offer online equipment rental through our website, which
we launched in 2000, as well as an e-learning platform, which we launched in 2004. We focus on maintaining the quality
and flexibility of our overall network through an optimized IT system, detailed reporting tools that allow for information
sharing and internal benchmarking, as well as a revenue management program.

Digitalization and an optimized IT system create synergies between external and internal efficiencies. Our
award-winning, user-friendly website and app receive more than 6.6 million visitors on a twelve-month rolling basis in
the aggregate and provide clients with an integrated online booking system (through which more than 39,000 online
bookings are made per year), as well as the ability to contact our representatives for any queries, which are critical to
ensuring a quicker and more efficient customer experience and therefore to improving our sales. In addition, our digital
and IT capabilities create internal operational efficiencies. We rely on several integrated enterprise resource planning
(“ERP”) systems that support numerous aspects of our operations. In particular, these systems enable us to efficiently
manage our fleet (we believe approximately 50% of our Earthmoving and Access fleet is connected) by providing us
with real-time availability data to inform speedy deployment of equipment between clusters and branches, thus
maximizing our utilization rates and further reinforcing the flexibility of our business model.

Disciplined M&A strategy

The European equipment rental market is highly fragmented, with the top ten players holding approximately
26% of market share and the remaining share divided among more than 15,000 small- and medium-sized rental
companies. This fragmentation offers significant opportunities for consolidation through M&A activity, which is a key
part of our strategy. We use our extensive familiarity with the markets we serve to anticipate customer needs and respond
to new market opportunities, both in terms of new products and geographies, through additional M&A activity.

We have particularly focused our M&A strategy in recent years on consolidation through small, accretive
acquisitions and expansion beyond our French network. From 2010 to 2018, we completed 33 acquisitions which
generated cumulative sales of €289.0 million and cumulative EBITDA of €95.0 million. Our business model enables us
to leverage our position to optimize the purchase price paid for such acquisitions while using our acquired network to
generate synergies and benefits of scale.

We believe that our acquisition track record, including our ability to integrate companies of different sizes, has
established us as an attractive consolidation platform and has helped to strengthen our market leadership by achieving
scale. The success of our international expansion demonstrates our strong ability to enter into new markets through
acquisitions. For further details about our recent acquisitions, see “Business—History and development.”
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Diversified exposure across clients, segments and geographies with limited customer concentration

The breadth of our fleet of generalist and specialist equipment gives us a well-balanced exposure to different
industry segments and end markets, including construction, infrastructure, civil engineering and industrial companies.
Our high exposure to Tools and Light Equipment (which represented 35% of our illustrative pro forma revenue in France
for the year ended December 31, 2018) provides us with a diversified client end-base and helps attenuate our exposure to
seasonality (in particular, in the construction industry).

In addition to our core equipment rental activities, a significant share of our revenue is generated from our
Services segment. Services consistently account for approximately 30% of our revenue. Some of our services are offered
and provided directly in connection with equipment rental, providing key support for such activities and contributing to
their profitability. Other services such as subrentals, sale of products and training can be engaged independently from our
core activities and therefore provide a distinct source of revenue. We believe that our services are a key differentiating
factor of our business, increasing customer satisfaction and retention and contributing to a more diversified revenue base.

We serve over 300,000 clients across our businesses. In the year ended December 31, 2018, 95% of our
illustrative pro forma revenue from our generalist subsidiaries in France was from companies (business to business). Our
customer base is highly diversified, including customers of different sizes and operating in various sectors, from large
construction and industrial groups to small businesses and craftsmen, as illustrated in the following charts.

French generalist pro forma revenue breakdown by French generalist pro forma revenue breakdown by
client end market for the year client size for the year ended
ended December 31, 2018 December 31, 2018

25%
e
12
%
1% M
HConswuclon Companies B Civill Warks Companies m Magor Accounts m Large Accounts Key Accounts
Crafsimen Serdoesindusiny Companes Professsionals m Individuals (B2C)

W Indivichialks (B2C)

In France, our customer concentration risk is relatively low. In the year ended December 31, 2018,
Kiloutou S.A.S.U.’s top ten customers accounted for 27% of Kiloutou S.A.S.U.’s pro forma revenue and our largest
client represented less than 11% of Kiloutou S.A.S.U.’s pro forma revenue. For more information about our customer
base, see “Business—Customers.”

In recent years, we have broadened our international footprint significantly, building a strong presence in four
European countries in addition to France and reducing our exposure to the French market, which dropped to 84% of our
total revenue for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019 from 91% for the year ended December 31, 2017. We
intend to continue pursuing new businesses internationally in order to further diversify our revenue streams.

Resilient financial profile with proven track record of growth, profitability and cash generation through-the-cycle

We believe that our ability to manage our operating costs and our fleet in line with market conditions is a
competitive advantage that has contributed to steady top-line and profit growth. We have demonstrated our ability to
grow our business through a combination of organic growth, accretive acquisitions and tight cost control, while
remaining resilient through slower economic cycles. From 2005 to 2018, our revenue grew at a CAGR of 10.5% and we
maintained EBITDA margins above 22.5%, with average cash conversion of 62%. As a result of cost optimization
initiatives, better fixed cost absorption, improved staff productivity and network optimization, we have been able to
expand our EBITDA margin by seven points since 2010. The charts below illustrate our total revenue and EBITDA
margin growth and our cash conversion from the year ended December 31, 2005 to the year ended December 31, 2018.
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1) We define cash conversion as EBITDA plus add-back of non-cash costs in EBITDA, less replacement capital expenditures (fleet and
others).
) Cash conversion as a percentage of EBITDA.

We manage our capital expenditure based on our market expectations. In a growth cycle, we invest in our rental
fleet to enhance our product offering and expand into new products and markets. In a downturn, we can rapidly reduce
capital expenditures and postpone investments, streamline our branch network, right-size our fleet and pay down debt
with our cash flows, as needed. We have no long-term engagements in respect of capital expenditures and make
investment decisions on a regular, short-term basis. As a result, we are generally able to quickly adjust our level of fleet
investment to respond to market fluctuations. For example, when faced with more challenging market conditions in 2009
following the onset of the global financial crisis, we were able to significantly and quickly reduce investments in our fleet
to 3.4% of our revenue in 2009, from 22% in 2008. The largely countercyclical nature of our cash flow generation driven
by discretionary capital expenditure requirements contributes to the overall resilience of our business model throughout
economic cycles.

Highly experienced management team with a strong track record of growth and supported by long-term investors

We have a strong management team with extensive experience and know-how in the equipment rental industry
and a track record of operational excellence, which we believe is necessary to successfully develop and expand our
business. Our key management team consists of 29 individuals who have an average of approximately 14 years of
industry experience. Our management team is led by Olivier Colleau and Jan-Luc Ambre, who have been part of our
team since 2009 and 2003, respectively. Under their leadership, our management team has successfully delivered organic
and M&A-based growth, as well as business diversification and professionalization and operational improvements,
despite challenging business cycles. Since 2010, we have been expanding internationally, bringing our value proposition
to four other European countries beyond France, and have nearly doubled our total number of branches (from 271 on
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December 31, 2010 to 519 on September 30, 2019). As a result, between December 31, 2010 and September 30, 2019
our revenue grew at a CAGR of 11% (from €279.0 million in December 31, 2010 to €729.4 million in the twelve months
ended September 30, 2019) and our EBITDA margin grew 6.5 points (from 26.4% in December 31, 2010 to 32.9% in the
twelve months ended September 30, 2019). The long tenure of our top management has enabled us to build strong
relationships and personal ties at all levels of our industry, which we believe gives us a competitive advantage that few of
our competitors can rival. Furthermore, our senior management is supported by regional and cluster managers who are
empowered to foster local market knowledge while keeping bureaucratic processes at a minimum. We believe that our
management structure encourages strong commitment and entrepreneurial spirit across our Group. See “Management.”

Our seasoned management team has the full support of, and is fully aligned with, our principal shareholders to
leverage our strengths and build our presence as an industry leader. In particular, the Sponsors prudent long-term capital
investors, contribute additional expertise and act as a sounding board for our senior management. Our ownership
structure also includes management and employees and significant employee shareholdings is combined with a high
share of variable compensation based on cluster performance, which we believe ensures alignment of interests and
cooperation by our employees. We believe that our current management team and ownership structure will allow us to
continue attracting and retaining the industry’s top talent, further driving profitable growth. See “Principal
shareholders.” We believe our unique and recognized corporate culture is a key factor in attracting and retaining talent as
well as fostering a positive and inclusive work environment for all.

Our strategy

We aim to continue strengthening our position in France and Europe by implementing the key strategies set
forth below.

Expand our international footprint by strengthening our position in our existing geographic markets and selectively
entering new geographic markets

We intend to further strengthen and expand our international operations and to selectively enter new markets.
With 74 branches across four countries outside of France as of September 30, 2019, we already operate a sizeable
international business. We believe that, over time, there is the potential to continue our successful international expansion
strategy. In some of the countries in which we operate, such as Germany and Spain, our existing network does not
currently address several regions where we believe there is strong potential and, as a result, we believe there are
opportunities to grow profitably in those regions. Our management team identifies sites based on demographics,
proximity to locations of our existing branches, availability of suitable space, local economic conditions and other factors
that we believe are relevant to the successful expansion of our network and which should enable us to capitalize on the
increased traffic and volumes of our new branches. We believe that our new branches will benefit from our strong brand
awareness and existing marketing campaigns, and consequently should require only limited incremental marketing
support.

Furthermore, our offering in some of these countries is not as comprehensive as in France. For example, our
business is Germany largely relies on the rental of equipment within our Access product category. Additionally, we do
not yet offer our Specialist solutions in certain of these markets outside France. We believe that we have room to grow
both by expanding our network and our product offering within our international markets, either organically or through
accretive acquisitions.

As we expand our international presence, we intend to implement our decentralized operational model in all of
our geographies, including rolling out our cluster management system that is built around giving a high level of
autonomy to our local personnel, as is currently applied in our French network. We also seek to deploy our high-quality
logistics and IT capabilities, as well as our best practices (including our safety, protection and prevention policy), to our
international operations in order to create synergies and improve the quality of our services throughout our foreign
markets.

Although we intend to expand our international footprint in the markets where we are already present and
potentially enter new markets, as part of our disciplined M&A approach we also intend to retain flexibility as to the
timing, manner and structure of any entry into new geographic or product markets and are continuously reviewing such
opportunities. For example, we are in discussions regarding several acquisitions, including bolt-on acquisitions and a
potential significant acquisition, of rental companies inside and outside of France. As part of our historically conservative
approach to leverage, any such acquisition is expected to be financed with a combination of cash, new shareholder
contributions and/or debt.




Continue to consolidate our French market share

The French equipment rental market is highly fragmented, with only two players competing at a national level
who, when taken together, held approximately 38% of market share in 2018. The remainder of market share was
distributed among regional players, none of whom held more than approximately 2% of market share. The fragmentation
in the French equipment rental market benefits companies with large, strategically coherent and integrated businesses
like ours. We intend to take advantage of this fragmentation in order to pursue both organically and through bolt-on
acquisitions, which are a key part of our strategy.

Investing in our products and capabilities will remain a strategic priority for us and we believe this will set us up
for long-term success. We have accumulated significant expertise in developing an innovative products and services
offering, as exemplified by our recently launched drones and connected vest offerings. We intend to focus on
diversifying our Specialist business line and to continue launching innovative products and services in order to anticipate
changes in our industry and meet client demand.

In addition, we intend to continue pursuing our successful track record of acquisitions based on clearly defined
target selection criteria and a disciplined approach. We believe that fragmentation in our key markets will continue to
allow us to complete acquisitions and act as a market consolidator. We actively monitor opportunities to expand and
optimize our network at the local and national levels in order to maximize profitable growth. Our future acquisition
strategy will focus on seeking accretive acquisition targets in order to complement our organic growth, strengthen our
leading market positions, optimize our network and develop synergies in our fleet management, as well as diversify our
product offering by moving into new product markets (in particular in the Specialist business line). Our acquisition
strategy is supported by our high level of brand awareness, our extensive know-how of local markets and our ability to
anticipate customer needs and new market opportunities. Our business model enables us to leverage our position to
optimize the purchase price paid for such acquisitions while profiting from benefits of scale.

Successful integration of acquisitions is key to our strategy and we believe that we are well positioned to
integrate any future acquired companies smoothly and profitably. We work closely with the management of acquired
companies to understand the nuances of their operations and local markets and draw from our own expertise and
familiarity with the equipment rental markets to optimize equipment offerings and adjust branch locations as needed in
order to anticipate and meet the needs of each market we serve. We expect to draw on our recent experience integrating
acquired companies in order to achieve similar success and efficiency in integrating future acquisitions for continued
success across all of our markets.

Continue to offer our advanced “one stop shop” client experience and strengthen our value-adding services

We believe that we have a large, diversified and loyal customer base primarily due to the high quality of our
broad product portfolio and value-adding service offering. In order to continue providing a compelling value proposition
to our customers and attract new clients, we intend to maintain our focus on ensuring a consistently high-quality
one-stop-shop customer experience across our network. This includes continuing to introduce innovative offerings to
meet clients’ evolving demands, diversifying our fleet in order to offer a broader catalogue, including environmentally
friendly products, and improving our digital capabilities in order to further enhance our brand awareness and customer
loyalty rates. We also intend to expand our value-adding services, which generate a significant share of our revenue and
create cross-selling opportunities with our equipment rental activities. Cross-selling is at the heart of our strategy and we
intend to continue leveraging our one-stop-shop business model to further increase our share of clients’ total spend.

We believe that our professional and friendly personnel with superior knowledge of their local markets and our
engaged approach to customer service are critical to maintaining our customers’ loyalty and expanding our embedded
customer base. We continually strive to improve our employee performance and training in order to enhance customer
satisfaction as well as to attract and retain emerging management talent.

Improvement of our existing network efficiencies

Since our founding in 1980, we have continuously expanded our network and over time we have developed
extensive territorial coverage in France and a reputation for operational excellence among customers. In order to operate
efficiently, we provide a high level of autonomy to our local staff in making business decisions, developing budgets and
managing fleet availability within their clusters and branches, as applicable, while maintaining centralized IT systems to
support our operations, including to monitor our fleet, customer service and logistics capabilities. Although we believe
that we already benefit from a highly efficient network with strong logistics know-how that allows us to efficiently
manage transportation costs and optimize the utilization rate of our equipment, we believe we can leverage digital
technologies to improve and expedite the customer experience and therefore increase our sales, as well as to enhance the
efficiency of our internal operations. We intend to continue enhancing the efficiency of our network through strategic site
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openings and consolidation, as applicable, and improvement of our technology capabilities, including with the use of
Internet of Things technologies for fleet tracking purposes.

Maintain our commitment to safety, quality, responsibility and sustainability

The safety of our employees and clients is of critical importance to us. Product safety and public perception that
our products are of good quality, safe and healthy are essential to our reputation and brand and are therefore a top
priority. We work to make construction practices safer. For years we have developed a strategy around communication,
feedback, risk analysis, training and management practices supporting prevention, including initiatives with suppliers and
clients, in order to achieve our goal of minimizing accidents. As part of our strategy to minimize risks, we own a young
fleet of carefully selected high-quality equipment. We conduct regular audits of our fleet in order to ensure the products
we rent are fully functional and safe to operate. We apply stringent standards as part of our quality assurance system and
have a dedicated team that monitors the safety and quality of our products and compliance with legal requirements and
our internal policies. We provide safety-related trainings for our employees at the branch level and our customers,
including training dedicated to risk prevention. We also share safety information with the public through our Wikimat
platform and YouTube channel. In 2017, we joined the International Powered Access Federation, whose main objective
is to promote the safe and effective use of powered access equipment. This international organization plays a major role
in the advancement of a large number of design, security, and testing procedures. Additionally, we hold 1ISO 9001 and
MASE certifications, which recognize our policies to reduce the risk of accidents, comply with legislation and improve
safety and working conditions. We also seek feedback from our customers about their experience using our equipment so
that we can adjust our offerings to provide what will be most safe, reliable and adaptable to our customers’ wide range of
needs. Our long-standing relationships with our suppliers also position us to help our customers use equipment safely and
to relay their feedback to the manufacturers so that our customers can benefit from improved machine designs.

We are also committed to promoting corporate sustainability and responsibility. In 2012, we were one of the
first equipment rental players in Europe to become a member of the UN Global Compact program, the world’s largest
corporate sustainability initiative. We issued our first corporate social responsibility report (“Rapport de Responsabilité
Sociétale des Entreprises”) in 2016 and have released updated reports on an annual basis since 2016. This report
summarizes our initiatives and results relating to customer service, safety and security, respecting the environment and
corporate governance. We aim to minimize our environmental footprint and seek to achieve that by improving the quality
of our fleet. For example, in 2018 we invested in natural gas powered delivery trucks in order to reduce the CO2
emissions of our transports.

As part of our commitment to corporate responsibility, we also prioritize the professional development of our
employees throughout their careers. Our training center has been open to all our employees and has offered sessions to
our staff since 2007 with the aim of improving key skills. Training is provided by experienced professionals from our
network and covers a variety of fields including knowledge of equipment, safety, environment (waste processing, energy
savings, etc.), sales skills and team management, among others. Our training center also plays a key role in the
integration of new employees.

As a result of our best practices, we have received a number of awards for and recognitions of our corporate
social responsibility. For example, we obtained a EcoVadis 2019 Gold level certificate, being ranked in the top 5% of
companies noted for their corporate social responsibility, and standing out with our environmental actions and health,
safety and prevention policy. Furthermore, we received the first European prize for Sustainable Development in rentals
from the ERA in 2016, and the Prix RSE Alliance (businesses with over 500 employees) in 2015, which recognized our
actions in terms of corporate social responsibility. We have received the Top Employers Certification from the Top
Employers Institute since 2014. We intend to remain at the forefront of our industry as a leader for safety, quality,
responsibility and sustainability.

The transactions

The aggregate gross proceeds of the Offering will be €860.0 million. We intend to use such proceeds to (i) repay
all amounts outstanding under our Existing Senior Facilities, (ii) pay costs, fees and expenses in connection with the
Transactions, including underwriting commissions and fees for legal, accounting, printing, ratings advisory and other
professional services and (iii) fund cash to the balance sheet.

We refer to the Offering, the use of proceeds thereof and of cash on the balance sheet as set forth in “Use of
proceeds” and the entry into the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement, the Intercreditor Agreement, the New
Proceeds Loan and the Security Documents, as the ““Transactions.” We do not expect there to be any drawings under the
New Revolving Credit Facility on the Issue Date.
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Sources and uses

The estimated sources and uses of the funds necessary to consummate the Transactions are shown in the table
below. Amounts included in the table below are based on estimated data as of the Issue Date and assume that the
Transactions will take place on the Issue Date. Actual amounts will vary from estimated amounts depending on several
factors, including the actual date on which the Transactions occur, differences from the estimates of outstanding amounts
of existing indebtedness to be repaid on the Issue Date, the estimated amount of cash of the Issuer and its subsidiaries as
of the Issue Date, as well as the differences between estimated and actual fees and expenses. Any increase in these
amounts will be funded using cash on our balance sheet. This table should be read in conjunction with “Capitalization.”

Sources of funds Uses of funds
(€ millions) (€ millions)
Notes offered hereby® .......... Repayment of the Existing
860.0 Senior Facilities@................... 820.0
Fees, costs and expenses®..... 8.0
Cash on balance sheet............ 32.0
Total SOUrces.......cceeveevennne. 860.0 Total USES.....cccevvervvrererarnne 860.0

Q) Represents the aggregate gross proceeds of the Offering.

2 Represents the estimated amount of the prepayment in full of €820.0 million in aggregate principal amount
outstanding under the Existing Senior Facilities (excluding accrued interest and unpaid interest and fees), drawn
under the Existing Senior Term Loan as of September 30, 2019. The Existing Revolving Credit Facility was
undrawn as of September 30, 2019. The Existing Senior Term Loan bears interest at a rate per annum equal to
EURIBOR (with a 0% floor) plus an initial margin of 3.5% (subject to a margin ratchet based on the level of
leverage that is not currently applicable), payable at the end of each interest period (of one, three or six months),
and matures on February 15, 2025. The Existing Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at a rate per annum
equal to EURIBOR (with a 0% floor) (subject to a margin ratchet based on the level of leverage that is not
currently applicable) plus an initial margin of 3.5%, payable at the end of each interest period (of one, three or
six months), and matures on August 15, 2025.

3) Represents estimated fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Transactions, including
underwriting commissions, professional fees including for legal, accounting, printing and ratings advisory
services and other fees, expenses and transaction costs.

Our principal shareholders

The beneficial ownership of the share capital of the Issuer is currently as follows (in certain cases, through one
or more holding entities):

« HLDI (controlled by Dentressangle SAS), HLD Europe, and other co-investors: approximately 69%;

«  Management and employees: approximately 17%; and

«  Mulliez family and other individuals: approximately 14%.

HLD Europe is a leading private investment firm with permanent capital and offices in Paris, Luxembourg,
Milan and Zurich. HLD Europe focuses on providing European companies in all sectors with long-term support and
financing. See “Principal shareholders.”
The issuer

The Issuer was incorporated on November 16, 2017 as a société par actions simplifiée under the laws of France.
The Issuer is registered in France under sole identification number 833 372 774 R.C.S. Lyon. The Issuer’s registered
office is 30 bis, rue Sainte-Héléne, 69002 Lyon, France.

Recent developments

Since September 30, 2019, we have completed two acquisitions:
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+ on October 1, 2019, we acquired Franche Comté Matériels, a French generalist rental company operating
two branches in the area of Besancon. For the year ended December 31, 2018, Franche Comté Matériels
generated revenue of €2.7 million and EBITDA of €1.5 million; and

« on October 29, 2019, we acquired Sticar, an Italian company specialized in Access operating through nine
branches located in the North of Italy. For the year ended December 31, 2018, Sticar generated revenue of
€14.2 million and EBITDA of €2.5 million.

Both acquisitions were funded with cash on balance sheet.

In addition, on November 21, 2019 we entered into an agreement for the acquisition of the rental business of
Werner Middeke Arbeitsbiihnenvermietung, an Access rental specialist in Germany. We expect closing to take place in
December 2019. For the year ended December 31, 2018, Werner Middeke Arbeitsbiihnenvermietung generated revenue
of €5.8 million and EBITDA of €2.1 million. The acquisition of Werner Middeke Arbeitsbiihnenvermietung will be
funded with cash on balance sheet.

Trading update

The information below is preliminary, is based on a number of assumptions that are subject to inherent
uncertainties and subject to change, is based on internal management accounts, is the responsibility of management and
is subject to financial closing procedures which have not yet been completed and has not been audited, reviewed or
verified. Although we believe the information to be reasonable, actual results may vary from the information contained
above and such variations could be material. As such, you should not place undue reliance on this information. This
information may not be indicative of the remainder of the quarter or any future period. See “Forward-looking
statements” and “Risk factors” for a more complete discussion of certain of the factors that could affect our future
performance.

Based on currently available information, our revenue and EBITDA for the month of October 2019 were
€71.8 million and €27.5 million, respectively. In addition, our revenue and EBITDA for the period from January 1, 2019
to October 31, 2019, were €615.3 million and €203.2 million, respectively, which represented an increase of
€42.8 million (or +7.5%) and €14.3 million (or +7.6%), respectively, compared to the same period in the prior year.
These results are in line with current trends.
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Summary corporate and financing structure

The following diagram shows a summary of our corporate and principal financing structure after giving effect to

the Transactions. For a summary of debt obligations identified in this diagram, see “Description of the notes,”
“Description of certain financing arrangements” and “Capitalization.” See also “Principal shareholders” and “Certain
relationships and related party transactions.”

Shareholders!
Restricted Group
£460.0 million Fixed Rate
Notes offered haraby@is)
£120.0 million New Revohing Kapla Holding 5 A.5.
Credit Facility™ (the “lssuer™)
£400.0 million Floating Rate
Notes offered hereby™*=
Kiloutou S.A.S. | S Proceeds Loans™

Kiloutou Module 5.A.5. L%

Mon-Guarantor Resticted Subsidiaries™

I:l Guarantors

)

@

®
4

®)

On the date of this offering memorandum, (i) the Sponsors and other co-investors own, directly or indirectly, 69% of our share capital,
(if) management and employees own 17% of our share capital and (iii) the remaining 14% of our share capital is owned by the Mulliez
family and other individual investors.

The Issuer’s interest in the receivables owing to it as lender under the Existing Proceeds Loan will be pledged as part of the Collateral for
the Notes and the New Revolving Credit Facility. On the Issue Date, a portion of the net proceeds from the Offering will be on-lent by the
Issuer to Kiloutou S.A.S.U. in the form of an intercompany proceeds loan in an aggregate principal amount of €462.5 million. The New
Proceeds Loan will also be pledged as part of the Collateral for the Notes and the New Revolving Credit Facility. See “Description of
certain financing arrangements—New proceeds loan” and “Description of certain financing arrangements—Existing proceeds loan.”

We intend to use the gross proceeds of the Offering to (i) repay all amounts outstanding under our Existing Senior Facilities, (ii) pay costs,
fees and expenses in connection with the Transactions, including underwriting commissions and fees for legal, accounting, printing, ratings
advisory and other professional services and (iii) fund cash to the balance sheet. See “Use of proceeds.”

The Notes will be secured by first-priority security interests in the Collateral on the Issue Date. See “—The offering—Security.”

The Notes will be senior obligations of the Issuer and will rank pari passu in right of payment with all of the Issuer’s existing and future
senior indebtedness (including obligations of the Issuer under the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement), and will rank senior in right
of payment to all of the Issuer’s existing and future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes. The Notes
will be structurally subordinated to all of the existing and future indebtedness of the Issuer’s subsidiaries that do not guarantee the Notes and
will be effectively subordinated to the existing and future secured indebtedness of the Issuer that is secured by property or assets that do not
secure the Notes to the extent of the value of such property or assets.

The Notes will be jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior basis by the Guarantors on the Issue Date. The Notes Guarantees of the
Guarantors will rank pari passu in right of payment with the Guarantors’ existing or future indebtedness that is not expressly subordinated in
right of payment to the Guarantors’ Notes Guarantees (including the obligations of the Guarantors under the New Revolving Credit Facility
Agreement) and rank senior in right of payment to any existing or future indebtedness of the Guarantors that is subordinated in right of
payment to the Notes Guarantees. The Notes Guarantees of the Guarantors will be effectively subordinated to any existing or future
indebtedness of the Guarantors that is secured by property or assets that do not secure the Guarantors’ Notes Guarantees, to the extent of the
value of the property or assets securing such indebtedness, and be structurally subordinated to any existing or future indebtedness of the
subsidiaries of the Guarantors that do not guarantee the Notes. The validity and enforceability of the Notes Guarantees of the Guarantors
will be subject to the limitations described in “Limitations on validity and enforceability of the notes guarantees and the security interests
and certain insolvency law considerations.” The Issuer and the Guarantors accounted for 81.0% of the revenue and 78.3% of the EBITDA
of the Group for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019 and 79.4% of the total assets of the Group as of September 30, 2019.
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(6)

Q)

®

The New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement permits the incurrence of up to €120.0 million of revolving credit borrowings on a
committed basis. The obligations of the borrowers under the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement will be guaranteed by the
Guarantors and will be secured by first-priority security interests in the Collateral. Pursuant to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement,
creditors under the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement and certain hedging obligations, if any, will have the right to receive priority
with respect to proceeds from enforcement of security over the Collateral. Any remaining proceeds received upon any enforcement action
over any Collateral will be applied pro rata to the repayment of all obligations under the Indenture and any other senior secured
indebtedness of the Issuer and the Guarantors permitted to be incurred and secured by the Collateral pursuant to the Indenture and the
Intercreditor Agreement. See “Description of certain financing arrangements—New revolving credit facility agreement” and “Description of
certain financing arrangements—Intercreditor agreement.”

The subsidiaries of the Issuer that will not guarantee the Notes accounted for 19.0% of the revenue and 21.7% of the EBITDA of the Group
for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019 and 20.6% of the total assets of the Group as of September 30, 2019.

Our finance leases are secured by liens over equipment in our fleet and generally have maturities of five years. Of the amounts drawn under
finance leases as of September 30, 2019, € 213.0 million was owed by the Guarantors and €10.7 million was owed by other subsidiaries. See
“Risk factors—Risks related to our financing arrangements and the notes—The notes will be effectively subordinated to our finance leases
to the extent of the value of the assets securing such obligations.”

15




The offering

The following summary contains basic information about the Notes, the Notes Guarantees and the Collateral. It
may not contain all the information that is important to you. Certain terms and conditions described below are subject to
important limitations and exceptions. For additional information regarding the Notes, the Notes Guarantees and the
Collateral, see “Description of the notes” and “Description of certain financing arrangements—Intercreditor
agreement.”

ISSUEBK .. Kapla Holding S.A.S.
Notes Offered.........cccoevvrrnnne.
Floating Rate Notes................ €400.0 million aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes
due 2026.
Fixed Rate Notes............cc....... €460.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.375% Senior Secured Fixed Rate
Notes due 2026.
Issue Date ......coovevvevieeieieeen, December 12, 20109.
I1SSUE PriCe ....ooveieiiiice e
Floating Rate Notes................ 100% of principal plus accrued interest, if any, from the Issue Date.
Fixed Rate Notes............c........ 100% of principal plus accrued interest, if any, from the Issue Date.
Maturity Date ..........ccccceevvenne December 15, 2026.
Interest Rate............ccooovvvvenneenn.
Floating Rate Notes................ Three-month EURIBOR, with a 0% floor, plus 325 basis points per annum, reset
quarterly.
Fixed Rate Notes.................... 3.375% per annum.
Interest Payment Dates............
Floating Rate Notes............ Quarterly in arrears on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each

year, commencing on March 15, 2020. Interest on the Floating Rate Notes will
accrue from the Issue Date.

Fixed Rate Notes................. Semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, commencing on
June 15, 2020. Interest on the Fixed Rate Notes will accrue from the Issue Date.
Form and Denomination.......... The Notes will be issued in global registered form in minimum denominations of

€100,000 and in integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof. Notes in
denominations of less than €100,000 will not be available.

Ranking of the Notes................ The Notes will:
*  be general senior obligations of the Issuer, secured as set forth under “—
Security”;

« rank pari passu in right of payment with any existing or future senior
indebtedness of the Issuer, including the indebtedness of the Issuer under the
New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement;

» rank senior in right of payment to any existing or future indebtedness of the
Issuer that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes;

»  be structurally subordinated to any existing or future indebtedness of the
subsidiaries of the Issuer that do not guarantee the Notes, including their
obligations to trade creditors;

»  be effectively subordinated to any existing or future indebtedness or obligation
of the Issuer or its subsidiaries that is secured by property or assets that do not
secure the Notes, to the extent of the value of the property and assets securing
such indebtedness or obligation; and

*  be guaranteed by the Guarantors as set forth under “—Notes guarantees.”

Notes Guarantees.............c....... On the Issue Date, the Notes are expected to be guaranteed (the “Notes

Guarantees”) on a senior basis by Kiloutou S.A.S.U. and Kiloutou

Module S.A.S.U. (the “Guarantors”).

The Issuer and the Guarantors accounted for 81.0% of the revenue and 78.3% of the

EBITDA of the Group for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019 and 79.4%

of the total assets of the Group as of September 30, 2019.
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Ranking of Notes Guarantees..

SECUNItY..ccvevvereece e,

Use of Proceeds...........ccueeneee.

Optional Redemption...............
Floating Rate Notes............

The Notes Guarantees will be subject to the Agreed Security Principles and other
certain contractual and legal limitations, and may be released under certain
circumstances. See “Risk factors—Risks related to our financing arrangements and
the notes—There are circumstances other than repayment or discharge of the notes
under which the collateral securing the notes and the notes guarantees will be
released automatically and under which the notes guarantees will be released
automatically, without your consent or the consent of the trustee,” “Limitations on
validity and enforceability of the notes guarantees and the security interests and
certain insolvency law considerations” and “Description of the notes—Notes
guarantees—Release of notes guarantees.”

The Notes Guarantees of the Guarantors will:

*  be general senior obligations of the Guarantors, secured as set forth under “—
Security”;

» rank pari passu in right of payment with the Guarantors’ existing or future
indebtedness that is not expressly subordinated in right of payment to the
Guarantors’ Notes Guarantees (including the obligations of the Guarantors
under the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement);

» rank senior in right of payment to any existing or future indebtedness of the
Guarantors that is subordinated in right of payment to the Notes Guarantees;

»  be structurally subordinated to any existing or future indebtedness of the
subsidiaries of the Guarantors that do not guarantee the Notes; and

«  be effectively subordinated to any existing or future indebtedness of the
Guarantors that is secured by property or assets that do not secure the
Guarantors’ Notes Guarantees, to the extent of the value of the property or
assets securing such indebtedness.

On the Issue Date, the Notes will be secured on a first-priority basis by security

interests in (i) the financial securities account opened in the name of the Issuer in the

books of Kiloutou S.A.S.U., (ii) the financial securities account opened in the name
of Kiloutou S.A.S.U. in the books of Kiloutou Module S.A.S.U., (iii) certain bank
accounts of the Issuer and the Guarantors, and (iv) certain intra-group receivables
owing to the Issuer and the Guarantors, including the Proceeds Loans (the

“Collateral”).

Subject to certain conditions, including compliance with the covenants described

under “Description of the notes—Certain covenants—Limitation on indebtedness,”

“Description of the notes—Certain covenants—Limitation on liens” and

“Description of the notes—Certain covenants—Impairment of security interest,” the

Issuer and its restricted subsidiaries will be permitted to grant security interests in

the Collateral in connection with future Incurrences of Indebtedness, including

additional Notes, as permitted under the Indenture and the Intercreditor Agreement.

See “Description of certain financing arrangements—Intercreditor agreement.”

The Security Interests will be subject to the Agreed Security Principles and other

certain contractual and legal limitations, and may be released under certain

circumstances. See “Risk factors—Risks related to our financing arrangements and
the notes—There are circumstances other than repayment or discharge of the notes
under which the collateral securing the notes and the notes guarantees will be
released automatically and under which the notes guarantees will be released
automatically, without your consent or the consent of the trustee,” “Limitations on
validity and enforceability of the notes guarantees and the security interests and
certain insolvency law considerations” and “Description of the notes—Security—

Release of liens.”

The Collateral will also secure the New Revolving Credit Facility and certain

hedging obligations, if any, on an equal and ratable basis. Pursuant to the terms of

the Intercreditor Agreement, creditors under the New Revolving Credit Facility

Agreement and certain hedging obligations, if any, will have the right to receive

priority with respect to proceeds from enforcement of security over the Collateral.

See “Description of certain financing arrangements—Iintercreditor agreement.”

We intend to use the gross proceeds of the Offering to (i) repay all amounts

outstanding under our Existing Senior Facilities, (ii) pay costs, fees and expenses in

connection with the Transactions, including underwriting commissions and fees for
legal, accounting, printing, ratings advisory and other professional services and

(iii) fund cash to the balance sheet. See “Use of proceeds.”

The Issuer may redeem the Floating Rate Notes:
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« atany time and from time to time prior to December 15, 2020, in whole or in
part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the
Floating Rate Notes so redeemed, plus a “make-whole” premium as of, and
accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to, but excluding,
the applicable redemption date; and

« atany time and from time to time on or after December 15, 2020, in whole or in
part, at the redemption prices described under “Description of the notes—
Optional redemption—Optional redemption of floating rate notes,” plus
accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to, but excluding,
the applicable redemption date.

Fixed Rate Notes................. The Issuer may redeem the Fixed Rate Notes:

« atany time and from time to time prior to December 15, 2022, in whole or in
part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Fixed
Rate Notes so redeemed, plus a “make-whole” premium as of, and accrued and
unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable
redemption date;

+ atany time and from time to time prior December 15, 2022, in an aggregate
principal amount for all such redemptions not to exceed 40% of the original
aggregate principal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes (including any additional
Fixed Rate Notes), with the net cash proceeds received by the Issuer from
certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 103.375% of the
principal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes so redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid
interest and additional amounts, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable
redemption date; provided that not less than 50% of the original aggregate
principal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes (including any additional Fixed Rate
Notes) issued remains outstanding immediately thereafter;

« atany time and from time to time prior to December 15, 2022, up to 10% of the
original aggregate principal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes (including any
additional Fixed Rate Notes) during each twelve-month period commencing
with the Issue Date at a redemption price equal to 103% of the principal amount
the Fixed Rate Notes so redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest and
additional amounts, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date;
and

- atany time and from time to time on or after December 15, 2022, in whole or in
part, at the redemption prices described under “Description of the notes—
Optional redemption—Optional redemption of fixed rate notes,” plus accrued
and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to, but excluding, the
applicable redemption date.

Additional Amounts................. Any payments made by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantors under or with
respect to the Notes or under or with respect to the Notes Guarantees will be made
without withholding or deduction for taxes unless required by law. If withholding or
deduction for such taxes imposed by a relevant taxing jurisdiction is required by law
with respect to a payment made by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantors
under or with respect to the Notes or the Notes Guarantees, subject to certain
exceptions, we will pay the additional amounts necessary so that the net amount
received after the withholding or deduction is not less than the amount that would
have been received in the absence of such withholding or deduction. Please see
“Description of the notes—Withholding taxes.”

Tax Redemption ........c..cccccue.een. In the event the Issuer or the Guarantors would become obligated to pay certain
additional amounts as a result of certain changes in tax laws, the Issuer may redeem
the Notes in whole, but not in part, at any time, at a redemption price of 100% of the
principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any,
to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date. Please see “Description of the
notes—Redemption for taxation reasons.”

Change of Control .................... Upon the occurrence of certain events constituting a change of control, the Issuer
will be required to make an offer to repurchase the Notes at a purchase price equal
to 101% of their aggregate principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest and
additional amounts, if any, to, but excluding, the date of repurchase.

A change of control will not be deemed to have occurred on one occasion if a

certain consolidated net leverage ratio is not exceeded as a result of such event.

See “Description of the notes—Change of control.”

Certain Covenants.................... The Indenture will contain covenants that restrict the ability of the Issuer and its
restricted subsidiaries to:
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» incur or guarantee additional indebtedness;

» make certain restricted payments and investments;

» transfer or sell assets;

» enter into transactions with affiliates;

»  create or permit to exist certain liens;

» create or incur restrictions on the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or
to make other payments to us;

< impair the security interests in the Collateral; and

« merge, consolidate or transfer all or substantially all of our assets.

These covenants are subject to a number of important qualifications and exceptions.

See “Description of the notes—Certain covenants.”

Certain of the covenants will be suspended if and for as long as the Notes achieve

investment grade ratings. See “Description of the notes—Certain covenants—

Suspension of covenants on achievement of investment grade status.” There can be

no assurance that the Notes will ever achieve an investment grade rating or that any

such rating will be maintained.

Transfer Restrictions ............... The Notes and the Notes Guarantees have not been registered under the Securities
Act or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction. The Notes are subject to
restrictions on transferability and resale. See “Notice to investors.” Holders of the
Notes will not have the benefit of any exchange or registration rights.

[T o] o PO Application has been made to list the Notes on the Securities Official List of the
Exchange. There can be no assurance that the Notes will be listed on the Securities
Official List of the Exchange or that such listing will be maintained.

No Prior Market...........ccc....e. The Notes will be a new class of securities for which there is currently no market.
Although the Initial Purchasers have informed us that they intend to make a market
in the Notes, the Initial Purchasers are not obligated to do so, and may discontinue
market-making activities at any time without notice. Accordingly, we cannot assure
you that a liquid market for the Notes will develop or be maintained.

Risk Factors..........ccccovvvvviinnnn, Investing in the Notes involves substantial risks. You should carefully consider the
information under the caption “Risk factors” and the other information included in
this offering memorandum before deciding whether to invest in the Notes.

Governing Law .........cccocvvveeenne. The Notes, the Indenture and the Notes Guarantees will be governed by the laws of
the State of New York. The Security Documents will be governed by the laws of
France. The Intercreditor Agreement and New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement
will be governed by English law.

TrUStEE....ccecvvcececece e BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited.
Security Agent ......cccceeeieennae. BNP Paribas.
Principal Paying Agent and

Calculation Agent................. The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch.

Luxembourg Paying Agent,

Registrar and Transfer

AQENt.....ooiii The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch.
Listing Agent..........cccvervienenns The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch.
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Summary historical consolidated financial information and other data

The tables below set forth summary consolidated financial information as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 and the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2019. For further information on
the comparability of our financial statements, see “Presentation of financial and other information—Overview—
Comparability of financial statements.”

The historical consolidated financial information contained in the following tables is derived from our Financial
Statements, prepared in accordance with French GAAP.

The other financial data and financial ratios shown below are derived from our accounting records or
management reporting systems and were not derived from our Financial Statements.

The illustrative pro forma financial information contained in the following tables is derived from:

» the condensed consolidated illustrative pro forma income statement of the Issuer for the year ended
December 31, 2018, reflecting adjustments to the consolidated income statement of the Issuer for the year
ended December 31, 2018 (as presented in the 2018 Audited Financial Statements) to give effect to (i) the
addition of the results of operations of the Acquired Kiloutou Group for the period from January 1, 2018 to
February 14, 2018 (i.e., the date prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date), based on the
accounting records of the Acquired Kiloutou Group, as further adjusted to harmonize the accounting rules
and methods with those of the New Kiloutou Group, (ii) the depreciation of acquired customer relationship
assets of the Group as part of the recurring purchase price allocation adjustments for the Kiloutou
Acquisition for the period from January 1, 2018 to February 14, 2018, (iii) the financial interests resulting
from the Kiloutou Acquisition Financing and (iv) related tax effects, as if each such event had occurred on
January 1, 2018 (the “2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information”). The 2018 Illustrative Pro
Forma Financial Information has been included to facilitate comparability to our historical and subsequent
consolidated financial statements; and

» the consolidated illustrative pro forma income statement of the Issuer for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018, reflecting adjustments to the consolidated income statement of the Issuer for the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 (as presented in the 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements) to
give effect to (i) the addition of the results of operations of the Acquired Kiloutou Group for the period
from January 1, 2018 to February 14, 2018 (i.e., the date prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion
Date), based on the accounting records of the Acquired Kiloutou Group, as further adjusted to harmonize
the accounting rules and methods with those of the New Kiloutou Group, (ii) the depreciation of acquired
customer relationship assets of the Group as part of the recurring purchase price allocation adjustments for
the Kiloutou Acquisition for the period from January 1, 2018 to February 14, 2018, (iii) the financial
interests resulting from the Kiloutou Acquisition Financing, and (iv) related tax effects, as if each such
event had occurred on January 1, 2018 (the “Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial
Information”). The Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information has been included to
facilitate comparability to our historical and subsequent consolidated financial statements.

The 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information and Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial
Information contained in this offering memorandum are not intended to, and do not, comply with the reporting
requirements of the SEC, will not be subject to review by the SEC, and would not be permitted to be included in a
registration statement filed with the SEC in compliance with applicable U.S. securities laws. Neither the assumptions
underlying the adjustments reflected in the 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information and Nine-Month 2018
Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information nor the resulting adjusted financial information has been audited in
accordance with any generally accepted auditing standards.

The following tables also contain various measures and ratios that are not presented in accordance with French
GAAP. We present these Non-GAAP Measures because we believe that these and similar measures are widely used by
certain investors as supplemental measures of performance and liquidity. Our management also believes that this
information, along with comparable GAAP measures, is useful to investors because it provides a basis for measuring and
comparing our operating performance across the periods presented. These Non-GAAP Measures and ratios may not
accurately reflect our performance, liquidity or our ability to incur debt, have limitations as analytical tools and should
not be considered as alternatives to operating profit or net profit or any other performance measures derived from or in
accordance with French GAAP, IFRS, any other generally accepted accounting principles. Our Non-GAAP Measures
may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies. You should compensate for these
limitations by relying primarily on our financial statements and using these Non-GAAP Measures only as a supplement
to evaluate our performance.
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In addition, we present in the tables below certain as adjusted financial data for the Group, which is based on
historical consolidated financial information of the Issuer as of or for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019, as
adjusted to give effect to the Transactions, as if they had occurred on September 30, 2019 (in the case of balance sheet
data), or October 1, 2018 (in the case of income statement data). The as adjusted financial information has not been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of Regulation S-X under the Securities Act, the Prospectus Regulation,
French GAAP, IFRS or any other generally accepted accounting standards. Neither the assumptions underlying the
adjustments nor the resulting adjusted financial information have been audited in accordance with IFRS or any other

generally accepted auditing standards.

You should read the tables below in conjunction with “Capitalization,” “Selected historical financial
information,” “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations,” “Use of
proceeds” and “Presentation of financial and other information,” as well as the historical Financial Statements and

related notes thereto included elsewhere in this offering memorandum.

Summary income statement data

Twelve months

Nine months ended ended
Year ended December 31, September 30, September 30,
2016 2017 20180 2018@ 2019 2019
(€ millions) Financiere Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer Issuer
illustrative illustrative
pro forma pro forma
Total revenue .........cccoevneee. 532.1 606.9 688.8 502.9 543.5 729.4
Total equipment and logistics
(0101 R (212.0) (233.9) (265.8) (196.7) (216.0) (285.1)
Gross profit........cccceeevinnnn. 320.1 372.9 423.0 306.2 327.5 4443
Total payroll costs................. (177.8) (198.8) (213.7) (156.5) (169.3) (226.5)
Other operating costs ............ (90.9) (97.0) (114.2) (84.3) (92.6) (122.5)
Net expense for doubtful
receivables..........ccccoonne (3.3) (4.1) (5.5) (3.9) (4.3) (5.9)
Financial expenses................ (40.0) 42.7) (42.0) (30.7) (36.3) (47.6)
Other operating income
EXPEeNSES, Net.........cccvevnne. 0.4 0.0 (0.1) 0.1 0.1 0.1
Net income from ordinary
activitieS........ccevveveiierinnns 8.6 30.4 47.4 31.0 25.0 414
Extraordinary income
(EXPENSE)...cvceivciieie (5.4) (2.5) (4.5) (4.2) (1.1) (1.4)
INCOME taX.....ovvreriiiireie (1.2) (7.6) (12.0) (9.9) (7.5) (10.1)
Amortization of fair value
adjustments to intangible
ASSELS . vveoveee e (0.1) 0.4 (14.8) (11.4) (11.2) (14.6)
Net income for the period... 1.8 20.7 16.2 6.0 5.2 15.4
1) Comprises 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information for the Issuer. See “Presentation of financial and
other information” and note 6 to the 2018 Audited Financial Statements for further details.
(2) Comprises Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information for the Issuer. See “Presentation of

financial and other information” and note 6 to the 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements for further

details.

Summary balance sheet data

As of

As of December 31, September 30,

2016 2017 2018 2019

(€ millions) Financiere Kilinvest Issuer Issuer
Assets

GOOAWITT ... 3334 383.2 646.9 649.2

INtANGIDIE ASSELS .....viieeieiciee e 161.0 162.3 478.7 466.9

Property, plant and eqQUIPMENT ...........cooiiiiiiiieee e 361.7 416.9 540.1 618.9

Other financial fiXed @SSELS ........coverrireiirere e 3.0 3.2 2.6 3.2

Investments accounted for by the equity method ... 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0

TOtaAl FIXEA ASSELS ..veeivviiciie ittt 859.1 965.8 1,668.3 1,738.2

Inventories and WOrK in PrOgreSss ......ccvcvcviiiiesereseiieeereseseseesiessesesssre e 9.5 10.3 12.3 15.8

Customer advances and Prepayments. ........ccocoereeeeeereseneneseneseseseseens 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.6




Trade FECEIVADIES ......c.veecveeeiee ettt ettt et e teeeree s 117.9 138.5 161.2 168.0

Other rECRIVADIES. ..ot et 20.0 21.6 38.0 36.7
Marketable SECUNTIES ..........cciiiiiiiiccc s 0.0 2.2 2.0 2.0
Cash in bank and at hand ... 7.9 30.6 24.9 37.9
Accruals and Other 8SSEtS ..........cceeiiiiriiiece e 4.8 4.5 22.3 17.2
TOtal CUMTENT ASSELS ... 160.6 208.0 261.3 278.3
TOLAL @SSELS... ..ttt 1,019.7 1,173.8 1,929.6 2,016.4
Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share Capital.........covoieiiiiiieeee e 1.2 1.2 5.1 5.1
Additional paid-in Capital..........ccccoverviiiiiiiiiiieec 125.7 125.7 484.9 484.9
Reserves and retained  arnings ..........ccoveireeniennenset s (40.6) (38.8) 1.7 18.7
Net income attributable to owners of parent 1.8 20.7 205 5.2
EXChange differenCes .........ccoiveiiiiiieee s (0.7) (0.4) (0.0) (0.4)
Equity attributable to owners of parent..........cccccooeeniiienincicnee, 87.4 108.4 508.8 513.5
Minority interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
TOLAl EUITY ...ttt 87.4 108.4 508.8 513.5
Provisions for contingencies and Charges.........c.coccoveereiennensenscennene, 17.3 19.4 61.9 57.0
BONGS ...t 386.2 413.0 178.0 190.0
Convertible bonds...........ccceoeiiiininiie 356.1 383.0 178.0 190.0
Other boNnds ........cccovererieeieeeee e 30.1 30.0 0.0 0.0
Borrowings and financial debt 404.7 471.6 994.8 1,087.0
Borrowings other than from financial institutions 2.6 2.0 2.9 11
Trade PAYabIES ........cooiieice e 55.0 78.7 88.5 74.6
Tax and payroll 1abilities. ........cccoviiiiiei e 55.3 69.1 73.5 72.8
Other payables .........cccevveieiiiiiiceseseeee e 7.7 8.0 175 16.0
Accruals and other liabilities 3.4 3.4 3.9 4.3
Total [abilItIeS.....c.cviiiiicecie 915.0 1,046.0 1,358.9 1,445.9
Total equity and i@abilities ... 1,019.7 1,173.8 1,929.6 2,016.4

Summary cash flow statement data

Twelve months

Nine ended
Year ended December 31, months ended September 30, September 30,
2016 2017 2018®W 2018@ 2019 2019
(€ millions) Financiere Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer Issuer
illustrative illustrative
pro forma pro forma
Net cash from operating
actiVitieS.......coovvvrevricenen 127.3 184.9 152.8 88.4 114.9 179.3
Net cash for investing
activitieS.......cocvvvvervrieenan (254.8) (207.7) (864.1) (834.1) (193.0) (223.0)
Net cash from financing
aCtiVitieS.......oovoveircean 133.5 50.6 738.2 768.6 90.9 60.5
Change in cash and cash
equivalents...........cccceeunne. 5.9 27.7 27.0 22.9 12.9 16.8
Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the period............... (6.9) 20.3 26.8 22.8 39.6 39.6
(1) Comprises 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information for the Issuer. See “Presentation of financial and

other information” and note 6 to the 2018 Audited Financial Statements for further details.

(2) Comprises Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information for the Issuer. See “Presentation of
financial and other information” and note 6 to the 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements for further
details.

Other financial and operating data

As of or for the
twelve months

As of or for the nine months ended
As of or for the year ended December 31, ended September 30, September 30,
2016 2017 20180 2018@ 2019 2019
(€ millions, unless otherwise
specified) Financiere Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer Issuer

22




Revenue by Segment
Rental revenue ............c........
Services
Transportation and
Delivery.......ccoovvivennnnne.
Consumables
Insurance.........cccceeeevveeenns
Cleaning and Repair-.........
Training ......cooevveveeienenn
Sub-rentals........c.cceveeveinnns
Other Services...................
Total Services revenue.........
Total revenue.........ccoveeuvenee
Revenue by Geography
France........cccoveevvveeivivieeenen.
France Generalist....
France Specialist..............
Poland ........cccoovveviiiice,
Germany......cccceveeeneneennennn
taly ..o,
Spain
Total revenue.......c..ccoeeeuvee.
EBITDA® ....oovveeeeevree,
France.....ccocvevvvivveinnnnnn
France Generalist ........
France Specialist..........
Poland ......c...cccoeevveiieennn.

SpaiN....cooeveeeeeen
EBITDA Margin (%)®.......
France........ccoovneiinnn,
France Generalist ........
France Specialist..........
Poland .........cccoeivninnn
Germany ....

Gross capital expenditures ....
Free cash flow®...................

illustrative illustrative

pro forma pro forma
373.8 427.8 490.5 359.5 384.9 515.9
58.4 66.0 75.3 55.2 60.3 80.4
49.1 51.9 53.8 38.7 42.4 57.5
19.1 24.9 30.6 22.6 24.7 327
12.7 15.1 18.6 13.3 16.1 214
2.0 25 29 2.0 2.3 3.2
19.8 20.9 18.9 13.0 14.3 20.2
(2.9) (2.3) (1.8) (1.3) (1.5) (2.0)
158.3 179.1 198.3 1435 158.7 2135
532.1 606.9 688.8 502.9 543.5 729.4
501.9 551.6 593.7 437.4 459.0 615.3
490.2 529.7 557.4 410.9 428.3 574.8
11.7 21.9 36.4 26.6 30.8 40.6
14.7 17.8 23.6 16.7 17.9 24.8
135 15.3 23.7 15.6 22.6 30.7
0 134 30.4 20.9 27.9 37.4
2.0 8.8 17.3 12.2 16.0 21.1
532.1 606.9 688.8 502.9 543.5 729.4
156.1 191.7 226.7 162.1 175.7 240.3
144.0 168.1 188.1 133.8 141.7 195.9
140.0 160.4 176.1 124.4 1315 183.1
4.0 7.8 12.0 9.4 10.2 12.8
4.6 6.6 8.8 6.0 6.6 9.4
7.3 8.4 10.8 7.8 8.9 12.0
— 6.6 15.0 10.7 14.2 18.4
0.2 2.0 51 39 5.0 6.1
29.3 31.6 329 32.2 32.3 329
28.7 30.5 317 30.6 30.9 318
28.6 30.3 31.6 30.3 30.7 319
34.0 35.6 33.0 35.3 331 315
311 36.9 373 35.9 36.9 379
54.5 54.7 45.6 50.0 39.4 39.0
— 49.0 49.3 51.2 50.9 49.2
10.2 22.4 29.5 32.0 31.3 28.8
(161.3) (138.0) (226.8) (203.5) (189.6) (212.9)
(17.3) 60.8 (19.2) (67.6) (45.1) 33
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As of
As of December 31, September 30,

2016 2017 2018 2019
4,305 4,717 5,178 5,460
4,002 4,184 4,468 4,666

303 533 710 794
483 505 516 519
438 441 446 445
45 64 70 74
8359 993.1 1,150.8 1,269.3

(1)

)

3)

Comprises 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information for the Issuer. See “Presentation of financial and
other information” and note 6 to the 2018 Audited Financial Statements for further details.

Comprises Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information for the Issuer. See “Presentation of
financial and other information” and note 6 to the 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements for further
details.

We define EBITDA as total net income for the period before depreciation, amortization and provisions,
amortization of fair value adjustments to intangible assets, interest, income tax and extraordinary income and
expenses. We present EBITDA as additional information because we believe it is helpful to investors in
highlighting trends in our business. However, other companies may present EBITDA differently than we do.
EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under French GAAP and should not be considered as an
alternative to net profit as an indicator of our operating performance or any other measures of performance
derived in accordance with French GAAP.

The EBITDA measure presented in the 2016 Audited Financial Statements and 2017 Audited Financial Statements includes the CVAE tax contribution.
So as to eliminate the impact of this contribution, a Reported EBITDA, defined as EBITDA plus the CVAE tax contribution, is also presented in the
2016 Audited Financial Statements and 2017 Audited Financial Statements. It should be noted that the CVAE tax contribution is presented under the
caption “Income tax” in the 2018 Audited Financial Statements of the Issuer and under the caption “Other operating costs” in the 2016 Audited
Financial Statements and 2017 Audited Financial Statements of Financiére Kilinvest. See “Presentation of financial and other information.” The table
below shows the impact of adding back the CVAE tax contribution to our EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017.

Twelve months

Nine months ended ended
Year ended December 31, September 30, September 30,
2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 2019
(€ millions) Financiere

Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer Issuer

illustrative illustrative

pro forma pro forma
EBITDA as per Financial Statements ...... 150.5 185.9 226.7 162.1 175.7 240.3
CVAE 5.6 5.8 — — — —
EBITDA ...t 156.1 191.7 226.7 162.1 175.7 240.3

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of EBITDA to net income.

Twelve months

Nine months ended ended
Year ended December 31, September 30, September 30,
2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 2019
(€ millions) Financiere
Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer Issuer
illustrative illustrative
pro forma pro forma
NEt INCOME ..o 1.8 20.7 16.2 6.0 5.2 154
Depreciation, amortization and
PrOVISIONS. ......cevireeeirieerneseieineieiseeines 97.7 109.2 132.8 96.4 109.9 146.3
Amortization of fair value adjustments to
intangible assets..........ccoovnreiiinininne 0.1 (0.4) 14.8 114 11.2 14.6
Interest eXpPense@ ........cccccveveverererernennns 44.2 46.2 46.4 34.7 40.8 52.5
Current taxes....... 1.2 7.6 12.0 9.4 75 10.1
CVAE ..ottt 5.6 5.8 — — — —
Extraordinary income and expenses......... 5.4 25 4.5 4.3 1.1 1.3
EBITDA ..ot 156.1 191.7 226.7 162.1 175.7 240.3
€)] Includes interest on bonds.
4) We define EBITDA margin as EBITDA as a percentage of total revenue for the relevant period.
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()

We define free cash flow as EBITDA less any gross capital expenditures, changes in net working capital and

income tax (including CICE and CVAE) payments, plus non-cash items included in EBITDA (mainly net book
value of rental equipment sales). We present free cash flow as additional information because we believe it is
helpful to investors in highlighting trends in our business. However, other companies may present free cash flow
differently than we do. Free cash flow is not a measure of financial performance under French GAAP and
should not be considered as an alternative to net profit as an indicator of our operating performance or any other
measures of performance derived in accordance with French GAAP. The table below sets forth the components

of our free cash flow for the relevant period.

Year ended December 31,

Nine months ended September 30,

Twelve
months ended
September 30,
2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 2019
(€ millions) Financiére Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer Issuer
illustrative illustrative
pro forma pro forma
EBITDA. ... 156.1 191.7 226.7 162.1 175.7 240.3
Gross capital expenditures........... (161.3) (138.0) (226.8) (203.5) (189.6) (212.9)
Change in net working capital..... 3.7) 16.8 9.7 (15.9) (26.9) (20.7)
Income tax (including CVAE
and CICE) ..o, (12.1) (13.4) (13.9) (12.9) (7.5) (8.5)
Other non-cash items®. N N 45 2.6 3.2 5.1
Free cash flow.......c.cccocoiniininns (17.3) 60.8 (19.2) (67.6) (45.1) 3.3

1) Represents net book value of fixed assets and disposal of real estate assets.

As adjusted financial data®

As of and for the twelve
months ended
September 30, 2019

(€ millions, other than ratios) French GAAP IFRS®
= N 1 OSSR 240.3 294.2
Financial iNtereSt EXPENSER) ...ttt ettt a bbbt 35.8 40.6
As adjusted total third-party financial debt® .. 1,127.0 1,303.4
As adjusted senior secured debt® .................. 1,083.7 1,260.1
As adjusted cash and cash equivalents® ............... 71.9 71.9
As adjusted total third-party net financial debt(® 1,055.1 1,2315
As adjusted senior secured NEt AEDt® .............c.ccovoiiuiiiiereeeee ettt 1,011.8 1,188.2
As adjusted financial interest expense® 37.1 41.9
Ratio of as adjusted total third-party net financial debt to EBITDA ..........ccccoiiiiiiiniieeeeee e 4.4x 4.2x
Ratio of as adjusted senior secured net debt t0 EBITDA .......ccccoiiieiienieieiiisese e 4.2x 4.0x
Ratio of EBITDA to as adjusted financial interest EXPENSE ..ot 6.5X 7.0x

Q) As adjusted financial data has been presented for illustrative purposes only and does not purport to be what our
financial data would have actually been had the Transactions occurred on the date assumed, nor does it purport
to project our financial data for any future period or our financial condition at any future date. See also
“Presentation of financial and other information—As adjusted financial information.”

@) Represents a reconciliation to IFRS of our EBITDA, financial interest expense and as adjusted financial data as

of and for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019, prepared in accordance with French GAAP. Such

reconciliation is further detailed on the table below.

As adjusted total

EBITDA Interest expense third-party debt
FIENCN GAAP ...t 240.3 35.8 1,127.0
IFERS L6 ...ttt 55.3 4.8 148.0
IMPACE ON EFIVALIVES ... e 0.0 — 28.4
Other IFRS @dJUSIMENLS .......veviiiiiiriciceresie et (1.4) — —
L R S s 294.2 40.6 1,303.4

For a discussion of certain differences between French GAAP and IFRS as applied by us, see “Presentation of financial and other
information—Financial information—Differences between French GAAP and IFRS” and “Management’s discussion and analysis of
financial condition and results of operations—Certain differences between French GAAP and IFRS.” See also “Risk factors—Risks related
to our financial condition—Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with French GAAP, and any transition to IFRS in the

future could impair the comparability of our reported and historical results.”
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©)

Q)

®)

(6)

M

®
©)

Financial interest expense represents the interest expense paid on total third-party financial debt as of September 30, 2019, which consists of
the Existing Senior Term Loan, bilateral loans and finance leases, as well as the paid cost of hedging, and excludes interest expense on the
convertible bonds issued in favor of certain shareholders.

As adjusted total third-party financial debt represents our total third-party financial debt as of September 30, 2019, as adjusted to give effect
to the Transactions, including the use of proceeds of the Offering as contemplated under “Use of proceeds,” as if the Transactions had
occurred on September 30, 2019. We define total third-party financial debt as the sum of all of our current and non-current financial
liabilities, including borrowings and debt owed to financial institutions, leasing liabilities, bank overdrafts and other financial debt, plus
outstanding interest on debt, and excluding convertible bonds issued in favor of certain shareholders. See “Capitalization.”

As adjusted senior secured debt represents debt under the Notes offered hereby and our finance leases. We do not expect there to be any
drawings under the New Revolving Credit Facility on the Issue Date.

As adjusted cash and cash equivalents represents total cash and cash equivalents, as adjusted to give effect to the Transactions, including the
use of proceeds of the Offering as contemplated under “Use of proceeds.” The actual amount of cash and cash equivalents may vary. See
“Capitalization.”

As adjusted total third-party net financial debt represents as adjusted total third-party financial debt less as adjusted cash and cash
equivalents.

As adjusted senior secured net debt represents as adjusted senior secured debt less as adjusted cash and cash equivalents.

As adjusted financial interest expense represents the estimated financial interest expense on as adjusted total third-party financial debt as of
September 30, 2019, which is based on a coupon of 3.375% for the Fixed Rate Notes and a margin of 3.25% for the Floating Rate Notes and
assuming, with respect to the Floating Rate Notes, a constant EURIBOR rate for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019 based on the
current spot three-month EURIBOR rate (with a 0% floor), plus the commitment fees relating to the New Revolving Credit Facility, which
we expect will be undrawn on the Issue Date. As adjusted financial interest expense excludes charges related to debt issuance costs. As
adjusted financial interest expense has been presented for illustrative purposes only and does not purport to represent what our interest
expense would have actually been had the Transactions occurred on the date assumed, nor does it purport to project our interest expense for
any future period or our financial condition at any future date.
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Risk factors

An investment in the Notes involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described
below, together with other information provided to you in this offering memorandum, before deciding to invest in the
Notes. Any of the risks described below, individually or together, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, reputation, ability to meet our financial obligations and prospects,
as well as the value of the Notes. If any of the risks described below were to materialize, we may not be able to pay
interest or principal on the Notes when due and you could lose all or part of your investment. The risks described below
are not the only risks and uncertainties we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we
currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations and affect your investment.

Risks related to our industry and markets

We are vulnerable to fluctuations and deteriorations in the economic conditions in the industries and markets in
which we operate, with particular exposure to such conditions in France.

We may be negatively impacted by economic downturns and uncertainty in the countries in which we operate or
the global markets generally, as adverse economic conditions may reduce commercial activity, cause disruption and
volatility and increase rates of default and bankruptcy. The demand for our products and services is strongly correlated to
general economic conditions. During economic downturns, certain of our customers (in particular, small-to-medium
enterprises and individuals) often cut spending or become more likely to go out of business or default on their payment
obligations. We serve a large number of customers, with a significant portion of our business being derived from
construction, infrastructure, civil engineering and industrial activities. Many of the industries we serve are cyclical and
seasonal by nature, with activity levels that tend to increase during periods of economic growth, decline during economic
downturns and vary from quarter to quarter. For example, the construction industry in particular characterized by
seasonal fluctuations and is generally a cyclical business that typically lags the general economic cycle by between 12
and 24 months.

All of the industries we serve may be impacted, either temporarily or over the long-term, by changes in
government infrastructure spending, public and private construction spending levels, activity levels in the businesses that
regularly rent equipment and tools for their projects, our customers’ ability to undertake new projects as a result of,
among other things, the conditions of the credit markets, the cost of construction materials and weather conditions.
Downturns in the industries we serve, the global economy and the local economies in the markets we serve have
historically resulted, and may result in the future, in reduced demand for our equipment and services, and such downturns
also typically intensify price competition. Any fluctuation or deterioration in the industries we serve could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We operate across five geographic markets: France, Germany, Italy, Poland and Spain. We are exposed to the
economic conditions in these countries generally and particularly to economic conditions in France, where we generate
most of our revenue (84% of our total revenue for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019). Although, according to
the Institut national de la statistique et des études économiques (“INSEE”), French GDP grew 1.5% in 2018, and has
slightly increased a further 0.3% and 0.2% through the first and second quarters, respectively, of 2019, there are
indicators that economic growth may be softening. For example, the World Trade Organization forecasts a decline trade
growth from 3.9% to 1.2% in 2019 and the International Monetary Fund predicts a slowdown in global economic growth
of 2.0 to 3.0% in 2019. Likewise, according to Euroconstruct, the construction industry in Europe is also likely to slow
down in the years to come. If economic conditions were to deteriorate in France, or in the other countries in which we
operate, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Unfavorable conditions in the capital and credit markets and political uncertainty may adversely affect business
conditions and our access to credit needed to maintain and grow our business.

Disruptions in the global capital and credit markets as a result of economic downturns, economic uncertainty,
regulatory changes, financial institution failures or other factors could adversely affect our ability to access the liquidity
we need to make investments in our equipment fleet or to otherwise maintain our business and pursue our strategy. For
example, if the financial institutions that have extended credit commitments to us, or from whom we seek credit
commitments in the future, were to be adversely affected by conditions in the capital and credit markets, they might be
unable to fund borrowings under such credit commitments, which could have an adverse impact on our financial
condition and our ability to borrow funds, if needed, for capital expenditures, working capital, acquisitions and other
corporate purposes. Unfavorable market conditions could also make it difficult for our customers to obtain the financing
they need for their projects on reasonable terms, which may reduce demand for our products and services or may hinder
our customers’ ability to meet their payment obligations to us, increasing losses on bad debt. Delinquencies and credit
losses generally can be expected to increase during economic slowdowns or recessions. See “—Risks related to our
operations—We are exposed to counterparty risks and may incur losses because of such exposure.” Our suppliers may
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also be adversely impacted by unfavorable capital and credit markets, causing disruption to or delay of product
deliveries.

Political uncertainty may also negatively impact the capital and credit markets. For example, changes in foreign
policy or regulatory requirements, trade restrictions, higher tariffs and changes to existing, or the imposition of
additional, regulations relating to the import or export of products, such as the recent tariff disputes between the United
States and China, could destabilize global financial markets. The withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the EU has
created significant uncertainty, volatility and disruptions in European economies as well as the capital and credit markets.
Due to the size and importance of the United Kingdom’s economy, the uncertainty and unpredictability concerning the
United Kingdom’s legal, political and economic relationship with Europe after the United Kingdom exits the EU may
continue to be a source of instability in the international markets, create significant currency fluctuations and/or
otherwise adversely affect trading agreements or similar cross-border cooperation arrangements (whether economic, tax,
fiscal, legal, regulatory or otherwise) for the foreseeable future, including beyond the date of the United Kingdom’s
withdrawal from the EU. It is also possible that the expected exit of the United Kingdom from the EU will lead other EU
member states to consider leaving the EU, which could be an additional source of instability in the international markets.
Further, other EU member states within the Eurozone could decide to discontinue their use of the euro as their functional
currency. The expected exit of the United Kingdom (or the possible exit of any other country) from the EU or prolonged
periods of uncertainty relating to any of these possibilities, could result in significant macroeconomic deterioration,
including, but not limited to, further decreases in global stock exchange indices, increased foreign exchange volatility (in
particular a further weakening of the pound sterling and euro against other leading currencies), and decreased GDP in the
markets in which we operate. In addition, there are concerns that these events could push the United Kingdom, the
Eurozone and/or the United States into an economic recession, any of which, were they to occur, would further
destabilize the global financial markets. Any of the events described above could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We operate in a highly competitive industry.

The equipment rental industry is highly competitive and the markets in which we operate are generally served
by numerous competitors, ranging from large national and international equipment rental companies to small and
independent businesses. In France, we face competition principally from large international rental companies as well as
from regional and local players. In our other markets, we face competition from well-established international and local
competitors. Some of our competitors have greater financial, marketing and other resources and may be more specialized
or have greater name recognition than we do. We also face competition from smaller competitors operating at national,
regional or local levels, many of whom benefit from a strong market presence and local relationships. Over time, our
competitors could consolidate their businesses and the diversified service offerings or increased synergies of these
consolidated businesses could increase the competitive pressures we face. We may also encounter increased competition
from new market entrants. Any strategy we adopt to address such competition risks may require significant cost and
management attention and may not be successful. The existing competitive factors in our markets and any changes to the
competitive landscape of our industry and markets could result in a loss of market share and have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We believe that our offering is competitive on the basis of, among other things, quality and breadth of service,
expertise, reliability, price and the size, mix and relative attractiveness and availability of our rental equipment fleet.
However, we may not be able to maintain one or more of these advantages. From time to time, we or our competitors
may lower rental rates or prices in order to compete more effectively with other players. To the extent we lower rental
rates or otherwise adjust our strategy in order to retain or increase market share, our operating margins could be
adversely affected. In addition, we may not be able to match our competitors’ price reductions. Further, our rental fleet is
also significantly affected by the level of our capital expenditures and, if we are required to reduce or delay capital
expenditures on our fleet for any reason, the fleet may age and put us at a disadvantage to our competitors. Any of these
events could cause our customers to reduce their level of business with us or terminate their contractual arrangements
with us, any of which could result in decreased market share and revenue and any of the events described above could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Risks related to our operations
Our operations expose us to risks inherent in operating a business across multiple jurisdictions.

We operate in five European countries. As a result, we are subject to a variety of complex and rapidly evolving
legal and regulatory regimes which govern, among other things, labor matters, consumer rights, workplace health and

safety, product safety, environmental protection, financial reporting, corporate governance, tax, trade, imports and
exports and competitive practices. These legal and regulatory regimes apply at a local, national and EU-level.
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There are many risks associated with cross-border operations, including, among others, political instability,
inconsistent or contradictory regulations across jurisdictions and changes in legal and regulatory requirements. These
risks may be greater in certain areas where we operate and the materialization of any of these risks may affect our
personnel, reputation, business, results of operations and our ability to meet our objectives, including the following
specific risks:

»  poor or declining macroeconomic conditions;
» social and political unrest and instability;

«  terrorist attacks, natural disasters, epidemics and pandemics, telecommunications failures, security breaches
(including cyber-attacks) and other business disruptions and security issues;

» adverse changes in government policy, including those affecting investment, import and export and any
regulations impacting the equipment rental business or commercial operations generally;

» differing local product preferences and requirements;

«  pressures on management time and attention due to the complexities of overseeing multinational operations;
« challenges in maintaining, staffing and managing multinational operations;

« differing labor regulations and collective bargaining regimes;

«  potentially adverse consequences from changes in or interpretations of tax laws;

» enforcement of remedies in various jurisdictions;

» the risk that the business partners upon whom we depend will not perform as expected;

»  obstacles to the repatriation of earnings and cash;

«  reduced protection for intellectual property in some countries;

« compliance with applicable antitrust and other regulatory rules and regulations relating to potential future
acquisitions;

»  price controls;
« ownership regulations; and

« inflation, recession, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange and interest rates, burdensome fiscal policies
and transfer restrictions.

We are also reliant on local managers to oversee the day-to-day functioning of our branches and to ensure their
compliance with local law and, as a result, we are subject to risks related to insufficient oversight. In such cases, or if any
of the above-mentioned risks were to materialize, we could be fined or otherwise sanctioned by regulators, which could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may be unable to forecast trends accurately and, as a result, may not be able to optimize our fleet mix and
utilization rate.

Our decisions about investments in new equipment and fleet mix are based in significant part on our views of
future demand. We believe that our experience in the rental equipment market allows us to recognize inflection points
(the points at which demand is poised to level off or change direction) in the cycles affecting the construction,
infrastructure and civil engineering sectors, so that we can increase investment just before the bottom of the cycle (before
we expect demand to expand) and decrease investment just before the top of the cycle (before we expect demand to
contract). However, economic volatility, uncertainty and other factors can make it difficult to forecast trends and set
appropriate investment levels, which may have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition. If anticipated
growth does not occur, we may not earn the level of returns that we hope to achieve on investments made during the
bottom of the cycle. If growth is greater than expected, we may not have a fleet of appropriate size and mix. In addition,
changes in customer demand due to changed technology, safety or environmental concerns, regulations or other factors
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could cause certain of our existing equipment to become obsolete and require us to purchase new equipment, which could
increase our costs. Uncertainty about future product demand could cause us to maintain excess equipment inventory and
increase our capital expenditures beyond what is efficient. Alternatively, this forecasting difficulty could cause a shortage
of equipment for rental that could result in an inability to satisfy demand for our products and a loss of market share,
which could in turn materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Effective management of our rental equipment is vital to our business.

Our rental equipment has a long economic life, and managing this equipment is a critical element to our rental
business. Rental equipment asset management requires that we build and maintain an inventory of durable, high-quality
products that anticipate the needs of our customers and changes in technology, legislation, regulations, building codes
and local permitting in the various markets in which we operate. In addition, we must successfully maintain and repair
this equipment cost-effectively to maximize the economic life of the products and the proceeds received from the sale of
these products. As the needs of our customers change, we may need to incur costs to relocate or retrofit our lease assets
to better meet shifts in demand. In addition, if the location of our assets is not aligned with regional demand, we may be
unable to take advantage of business opportunities despite excess inventory in other regions. If we are not able to
successfully manage our lease assets, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be
materially adversely affected.

We depend on equipment manufacturers and suppliers to obtain rental equipment for our fleet on a timely basis and
on acceptable terms.

We purchase most of our rental equipment and products, including consumables, from well-known original
equipment manufacturers, as well as other suppliers. Although we evaluate our counterparties prior to entering into
long-term and other significant procurement contracts, we cannot predict the impact of changes in the economic
environment and other developments in the respective businesses of our supplier partners. Insolvency, financial
difficulties, logistical and strategic problems or other factors may result in our suppliers not being be able to fulfill the
terms of their agreements with us on a timely basis, on acceptable terms or at all. Further, suppliers may be unwilling to
extend contracts that currently provide favorable terms to us or they may seek to renegotiate existing contracts with us.
As we do not manufacture any of the products that we rent or sell (in the case of spare parts and consumables) to our
customers, we rely on third-party suppliers for the provision of the equipment, tools, spare parts and consumables that are
essential to our business. If our suppliers are unable or unwilling to continue providing us with any of these products, we
could face increased costs for our equipment, which we may not be able to pass on to our customers, or longer delivery
times, which could put us at a competitive disadvantage as compared with other market players, as delays in the delivery
of new equipment may impair our ability to respond to increases in demand and may cause us to miss opportunities in
our markets. Although we believe that we have alternative sources of supply for the key equipment and supplies used in
our business, any of the factors described above could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

The cost of equipment purchases for and the maintenance and repair costs associated with our rental fleet may
increase.

The cost of new equipment that we purchase for our rental fleet may increase as a result of increased raw
material costs to our suppliers, including increases in the cost of steel, which is a primary material used in most of our
equipment. These increases could materially affect our financial condition or results of operations in future periods to the
extent that we are not able to pass such cost increases through to our customers. In addition, as the equipment in our
rental fleet ages, the cost of maintaining such equipment, if not replaced within a certain period of time, generally
increases. Determining the optimal average age for disposal of our rental fleet is subjective and requires considerable
estimates by management, which may prove to be incorrect. Increases in, or unanticipated, equipment purchase and
maintenance and repair costs could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

We are exposed to counterparty risks and may incur losses because of such exposure.

Our customers may have liquidity problems and ultimately may not be able to fulfill the terms of their rental
agreements with us. Delinquencies and credit losses generally can be expected to increase during economic slowdowns
or recessions. In case of such default in payment obligations, we may be unable to collect some or all of receivables due
to us, in which case some or all outstanding amounts would need to be written off and we would need to seek alternative
sources of funding for our working capital requirements. In case of a delay in a customer’s payment obligation, we may
be exposed to the risk of bearing in advance the costs and amounts necessary to provide our services. Furthermore,
should a supplier or service provider counterparty become insolvent or otherwise unable to meet its obligations, we may
need to find a replacement to carry out such supply obligations or we may need to fulfill certain service obligations
ourselves, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Future technological development may render our current rental fleet technologically depleted before the end of the
initially estimated economic life.

While technological development in the types of tools and equipment that we have traditionally focused our
business on has been relatively slow as compared with other sectors that are characterized by more rapid technological
change, the products we rent are increasingly high-tech. Rapid technological evolution and disruptive technologies,
failure to upgrade equipment with new technology in time and related changes in laws and regulations (for example,
requiring the use of lower emissions technology), may render components of our rental fleet technologically obsolete or
redundant prior to the end of its planned useful rental life. An unexpected increase of redundant or obsolete products may
have a material adverse effect on us and a secondary market for such products may not exist or may be insufficient for
our resale needs. Although we aim to minimize this risk by using a well-diversified supplier base and by investing in
up-to-date equipment, technical obsolescence and redundancy may materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our rental fleet is subject to residual value risk upon disposal.

Our approach to fleet management is generally to replace equipment only at the end of its useful rental life, at
which time it is sold on the secondary market or is used for parts. Usually a piece of equipment is fully depreciated down
to its residual value by the time it is removed from our rental fleet. Nonetheless, the market value of any given piece of
rental equipment at the point of sale could be less than its depreciated value or residual value at that time. The market
value of used rental equipment depends on several factors, including:

» general economic conditions;

» worldwide and domestic demands for used equipment;

« the supply of similar used equipment on the market;

» the age and condition of the equipment;

» the effect of advances and changes in technology in new equipment models; and
»  the market price for comparable new equipment.

We include in the “Net results on used equipment disposals” line in our income statement the difference
between the sales price and the depreciated value of an item of equipment sold. Changes in our assumptions regarding
depreciation could change our depreciation expense, as well as the gain or loss realized upon the disposal of equipment.
Any significant decline in the selling prices for used equipment could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Disruptions in our information technology system could limit our capacity to effectively monitor and control our
operations.

We rely on information technology systems to track customer orders and information, bill our services, manage
our fleet and gather information upon which our management makes decisions regarding our business. Our information
technology systems also facilitate our ability to adjust to changing market conditions and customer needs. The
administration of our business is increasingly dependent on the use of these systems. The risk of a security breach or
disruption, particularly through cyberattack or cyber intrusion, has risen as the number, intensity and sophistication of
attempted attacks and intrusions around the world have increased. We can provide no assurance that our information
technology systems are fully protected against such third-party intrusions or against viruses, ransomware, malware or
similar threats. Disruptions resulting from these threats, system crashes or other causes, including employee or
third-party error or malfeasance, could have a material adverse effect on our business and our reputation with our
customers. In particular, we use ERP software, databases and systems across our network, and any disruption to our ERP
software, databases and systems, or the failure of any of these systems to operate as expected, could adversely affect our
business operations. We back-up most of our data daily and have a recovery plan in place for most of our systems,
including our enterprise resource planning systems. However, our recovery plan may not cover all of our ERP software
and systems, our back-up systems may fail and recovery of our data may not be possible, may be incomplete or may be
subject to significant delay.

In addition, because our systems sometimes contain information about individuals and businesses, our failure to
appropriately safeguard the security of the data we hold, whether as a result of our own action or error or the malfeasance
or errors of others, could harm our reputation and give rise to liabilities. In all of the regions in which we operate, the
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processing of personal data is subject to governmental regulation and legislation. Any failure to comply with such
regulations or legislation could lead to governmental sanctions, including fines or the initiation of criminal or civil
proceedings. We must also comply with strict data protection and privacy laws at the EU-level that restrict our ability to
collect and use personal information relating to customers and potential customers, including the marketing use of that
information. In particular, Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of April 27, 2016 (“GDPR”), which became applicable on May 25,
2018, increased both the number and the restrictive nature of the obligations for the collection and processing of personal
data with which we must comply. Although we collect and store a limited amount of personal data in the ordinary course
of our business, failure to comply with the provisions of GDPR could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may not be able to execute our growth strategy by identifying and opening attractive new branch locations.

Our growth strategy depends on our ability to successfully identify and open new branches, both in countries
where we already have an established presence as well as other countries to which we may decide to expand in the future.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to identify attractive new branch locations and successfully open and operate
them. Opening new branches will likely require significant investments and management attention and may involve risks
associated with entering new markets, including markets where we face significant competition. We may not have
sufficient management, financial and other resources to successfully identify and operate such new branches. Any
significant diversion of management’s attention, unexpected cost associated with or any major difficulties encountered in
operating these new branches could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations, which could decrease our profitability and make it more difficult for us to grow our business. Furthermore,
general economic conditions or unfavorable global capital and credit markets could affect the timing and extent to which
we open new branches, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.

We may not be able to execute our growth strategy by identifying or completing transactions with attractive
acquisition candidates, and future acquisitions may result in significant transaction expenses and integration risks.

We have historically expanded our business through organic and external growth. While we have generally
focused on small to mid-sized acquisition targets, we may also undertake more significant, strategic and transformational
acquisitions and business combinations in the future and may expand our business into countries in which we are not
present at this time. We cannot assure you that we will be able to identify attractive acquisition candidates or complete
the acquisition of any identified candidates at favorable prices or on advantageous terms. We expect to face competition
for acquisition candidates, which may limit the number of acquisition opportunities we have and lead to higher
acquisition costs. We may not have the financial resources necessary to consummate any acquisitions or the ability to
obtain the necessary funds on satisfactory terms. Furthermore, general economic conditions or unfavorable global capital
and credit markets could affect the timing and extent to which we successfully acquire new businesses. Risks associated
with our acquisition strategy, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations, include the following:

« we may lose sales and incur substantial costs, delays or other operational or financial problems in
integrating acquired businesses and integration may be more costly and take longer than expected;

+ we may not achieve financial and operational synergies on a timely basis or without significant costs, if at
all;

*  acquisitions may divert management’s attention from the operation of the existing business;

«  the assumptions underlying the business plans supporting the valuations of acquisition targets and expected
synergies may prove inaccurate, in particular with respect to the future performance of such targets;

» we may be forced to divest or reduce the scope of certain businesses so as to obtain the necessary regulatory
authorizations, in particular with respect to anti-trust authorizations;

« we may need to write down goodwill and certain other intangible assets from our balance sheet if our initial
estimates of the value of an acquired business are higher than actual results;

« we may be further exposed to risks of fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

« we may not be able to retain personnel or customer contracts of acquired businesses;

32



* we may operate an acquired company as a joint venture with partners with whom we lack a longstanding
relationship; and

e Wwe may encounter unanticipated events, circumstances or liabilities related to the acquired businesses, their
integration and the growth of our business, particularly in markets in which we have not previously
operated.

In the short-term, the disruptive effects of an acquisition can result in, among other things, lower employee
productivity and increased advantages for our competitors, which may cause a decline in revenue from the acquired
businesses. We have historically integrated acquired businesses into the Group gradually in order to preserve client
relationships, and this integration period tends to be longer for larger acquisitions. In the longer term, there can be no
assurance that, following integration into our Group, an acquired business will be able to maintain its customer base
consistent with historical results or expectations or to generate the expected margins or cash flows. Although we typically
thoroughly analyze each acquisition target, our assessments are subjective and subject to a number of assumptions
concerning profitability, growth, interest rates and company valuations, any or all of which could be incorrect. In
addition, we may have difficulties in implementing our business model within an acquired company due to various
factors, including corporate culture. There can be no assurance that our assessments of and assumptions regarding
acquisition targets will prove to be correct and actual developments may differ significantly from our expectations.
Furthermore, acquisitions of companies expose us to the risk of unforeseen obligations with respect to employees,
customers, suppliers and subcontractors of acquired businesses, as well as other potential liability in connection with
litigation and investigations. Although we typically undertake due diligence when analyzing an acquisition opportunity,
we cannot ensure that there will not be unexpected risks, liabilities or obligations that could materially adversely affect
our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In addition to the risks described above, the integration of acquired businesses in countries where we do not
currently operate may be more difficult and take more time due to logistical, regulatory, linguistic, cultural and other
factors, such as our relative lack of familiarity with a given market and its economic, political and social dynamics. Such
risks include significant exposure to local economies and government spending, as well as economic instability, political
volatility, civil war, violent conflict, social unrest or action by terrorist groups. Any of these risks in could negatively
affect our operations, revenue and profits in the affected country and for the Group generally, and competitors may take
advantage of these difficulties to strengthen their positions.

Our ability to manage our growth and integrate operations, technologies, services and personnel depends on our
administrative, financial and operational controls and our ability to create the infrastructure necessary to exploit market
opportunities, as well as our financial resources. In order to compete effectively and to grow our business profitably, we
will need, on a timely basis, to maintain and improve our financial and management controls, reporting systems and
procedures, implement new systems as necessary, attract and retain adequate management personnel and hire, retain and
train a highly qualified workforce. Furthermore, we expect that as we continue to introduce new product and service
offerings and enter new markets, we will be required to manage an increasing number of relationships with various
customers, suppliers, logistics providers and other third parties. The failure or delay of our management in responding to
these challenges could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may pay for any future acquisitions using cash, equity or incurrence of and/or assumption of indebtedness.
To the extent that our existing sources of cash are not sufficient, we may require additional debt financing to complete
such acquisitions. Acquisitions involving debt financing may create or magnify risks with respect to our leverage and
debt service costs. Although the Indenture will restrict the amount of debt we may incur, it will permit us to acquire
additional indebtedness. If one or more acquisitions results in our becoming substantially more leveraged, our flexibility
in responding to adverse changes in economic, business or market conditions may be adversely affected, which could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We depend on certain customer relationships, some of which are essential for our ability to access certain markets
and customer groups and to maintain cost leadership.

In the year ended December 31, 2018, Kiloutou S.A.S.U.’s top ten customers accounted for 27% of
Kiloutou S.A.S.U.’s pro forma revenue and our largest client represented less than 11% of Kiloutou S.A.S.U.’s pro
forma revenue. Most of our relationships with local customers are not subject to our framework agreements, which
exposes us to the risk that such customers can switch equipment rental companies at any time. There can be no assurance
that we will continue to be able to rent and sell our products to our customers on terms as favorable as in the past or at all.
Any loss of key contracts or accounts, individually or collectively, could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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We are dependent on our executives, managers and employees.

Our success depends upon the continued service and skills of our existing senior management team and, in
particular, our chief executive officer, Olivier Colleau. Our senior management team has significant experience in the
industries and markets in which we operate. If we were to lose the services of any member of our senior management
team and are unable to find a suitable replacement in a timely manner, it may be a challenge for us to effectively manage
our business and execute our strategy.

Our success also depends on the experience and skills of our regional managers and branch managers, who have
extensive industry experience and knowledge of our business. Competition for managers in our industry is significant,
and, if any of our key managers were to join a competitor or to form a competing company, we may lose customers,
know-how and other personnel.

In addition, we depend upon the quality of our personnel, including sales and customer service staff who
routinely interact with and fulfill the needs of our customers. Although we were certified as a “Top Employer” in France
by the Top Employers Institute in each of the past five years, there is no assurance we can continue to attract, train and
retain the qualified personnel on whom we depend. This risk may be greater in certain countries in which we operate. For
example, the hiring market in our industry in Germany is particularly strong, leading to increased competition for
qualified personnel. A significant increase in personnel turnover or other difficulties in attracting, training and retaining
personnel could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our risk management, internal controls and compliance processes may fail to detect, prevent and address the risks we
face and, as a result, we may be subject to regulatory penalties and reputational harm and our insurance coverage
may not be sufficient to address any costs resulting from the materialization of any of the risks we face.

We operate a decentralized business through hundreds of branches across five countries. Our internal control
and compliance processes may not prevent all future breaches of law, accounting standards or our internal codes of
conduct or to otherwise detect, prevent and address the various risks we face. Any failure to comply with applicable laws,
regulations and other standards could lead to fines, legal proceedings, loss of operating licenses and reputational harm,
which could in turn materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We carry insurance of various types, including but not limited to, property damage insurance, general liability
coverage and directors’ liability insurance. We may not always be able to accurately foresee all activities and situations
in order to ensure that they are fully covered by the terms of our insurance policies and, as a result, our insurance may not
cover such risks adequately or at all. While we seek to maintain appropriate levels of insurance, not all claims are
insurable and we may experience incidents of a nature that are not covered by insurance. Any significant uninsured
liability may require us to pay substantial amounts, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Our business and reputation may be adversely affected by the actions of third parties, including our suppliers,
subcontractors and agents.

In our business, we occasionally utilize third-party partners who provide certain services, such as collection and
transport services. If a partner is unable to deliver its services or a supplier is unable to deliver equipment according to
the pre-agreed terms or in a timely manner, our reputation may suffer, and we may be required to purchase such goods or
services from another source at a higher price. We may not be able to recover all of these costs in all circumstances,
which may reduce the profit expected to be realized under such agreements or result in a loss. Moreover, if we purchase
services from a third party that is not one of our ordinary providers, there is a risk that we may fail to deliver such
services at the quality standards that our customers have been accustomated to, which could be detrimental to our
reputation and our relationships with our customers. While we carefully monitor internal and external developments for
areas of potential reputational risk, and have established governance structures to assist in evaluating such risks in our
business practices and decisions, we may be affected by the fraudulent or criminal activities of third parties, including
employees, suppliers, customers and subcontractors, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition or results of operations. Actions taken by third-party partners acting as our agents may also subject us to
vicarious liability suits.

Risks related to our financial condition
Our revenue and operating results fluctuate from period to period due to the nature of our operations.

Our revenue and operating results have historically varied from period to period. A decline in general economic
conditions and/or activity in the industries or markets in which we operate could result in an overall decline in our cash
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flows and profitability and make it more difficult for us to make payments on our indebtedness, grow our business and
pursue our strategy, as described above in “—Risks related to our industry and markets—We are vulnerable to
fluctuations and deteriorations in the economic conditions in the industries and markets in which we operate, with
particular exposure to such conditions in France.” We expect our results to continue to fluctuate in the future due to a
number of factors, including:

« general economic conditions in the industries and markets in which we operate driving changes in private
and public sector construction and infrastructure spending;

» the cyclical nature of our customers’ business, particularly our construction and infrastructure customers,
including seasonality in our construction customers’ businesses, with construction activity generally
decreasing in the winter months;

*  severe weather;
« the timing of our expenditures on new equipment and disposals of used equipment;

« our relatively high level of fixed costs in connection with our fleet, which causes even slight revenue
declines to significantly affect cash flow and profitability;

+ the efficacy and efficiency of integrating acquired businesses and new branch locations; and
+ the timing of acquisitions, new branch openings and related costs.

Any of the events described above could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

We rely on access to additional capital for the operation of our business and limits on access to such capital could
hinder our ability to operate our business and pursue our strategy.

We require capital for, among other things, purchasing rental equipment, opening new branches, expanding our
business, completing acquisitions and refinancing existing debt. We have historically used cash generated from our
operations (including the sale of used equipment), together with borrowings under our bilateral credit facilities, to fund
our capital requirements. See “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations—
Capital expenditures.” In the future, this cash and these borrowings may be insufficient and we may require additional
financing to obtain capital for, among other things, the purposes described above. Our capital expenditures interact
significantly with the age and size of our equipment fleet, and if we are required to reduce these expenditures for any
reason, the reduced availability of equipment or the age of our rental fleet may cause us competitive harm and increase
our maintenance costs. Any additional indebtedness that we incur will make us more vulnerable to economic downturns
and limit our ability to withstand competitive pressures. We cannot be certain that any additional financing that we
require will be available or, if available, will be available on terms that are satisfactory to us. If we are unable to obtain
sufficient financing in the future, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be
materially adversely affected.

The illustrative pro forma and as adjusted financial information presented in this offering memorandum may not
reflect our actual results of operations for the periods presented and are not indicative of our future operating
performance.

In this offering memorandum, we present our income statement data for the year ended December 31, 2018 and
for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, on an illustrative pro forma basis, and also include certain non-GAAP
measures such as EBITDA. These measures give effect to certain of our acquisitions and the financing thereof made
during the relevant period as if such acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the relevant period. These measures
may not reflect what our actual results of operations would have been had we acquired these businesses for the periods
presented and are not indicative of our future operating performance. These measures are also subject to significant
assumptions and limitations. There can be no assurance, however, that our estimates and assumptions (some of which are
forward-looking in nature) are or will prove to be accurate in all or any material respects. These measures are for
information purposes only and are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties. They may not give an accurate or
complete picture of our results of operations for the relevant period and may not be comparable to the information
presented in our consolidated financial statements or other financial information included elsewhere in this offering
memorandum. Our actual results may differ significantly from those reflected in these measures. See “Presentation of
financial and other information” and “Summary historical consolidated financial and other data.”
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Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with French GAAP, and any transition to IFRS in the future
could impair the comparability of our reported and historical results.

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared and presented in accordance with French GAAP, which
differs in certain significant respects from IFRS. We have not presented in this offering memorandum a full
reconciliation of our French GAAP consolidated financial statements to IFRS consolidated financial statements. As there
are significant differences between French GAAP and IFRS, if we were to prepare our consolidated financial statements
based on IFRS instead of French GAAP, there could be substantial differences in our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows, including levels of indebtedness. Accordingly, if we transition our financial reporting
standards, accounting policies and accounting adjustments from French GAAP to IFRS, the comparability of our reported
and historical results could be significantly impaired. We will be allowed under the Indenture to elect to report
exclusively in IFRS. If we do so, the covenant calculations under the Indenture will be based on IFRS, and our covenants
may become more or less restrictive from time to time, depending upon the effect of the standards we adopt. This could
result in our being able to take actions that might be to your detriment, including incurring greater amounts of debt than
would otherwise have been possible had we continued to report in French GAAP. For a discussion of certain differences
between French GAAP and IFRS, see “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of
operations—Certain differences between French GAAP and IFRS.”

The Issuer is a holding company and will be dependent on payments from its subsidiaries in order to be able to make
payments on the Notes.

The Issuer is a holding company that conducts no business operations of its own and has no significant assets
other than the shares it holds, directly or indirectly, in the Guarantors and its receivables under the Proceeds Loans and
any future intercompany loans. As a result, the Issuer will be dependent upon the cash flow from its subsidiaries in the
form of dividends, intercompany loans, or otherwise to make any payments due on the Notes.

In addition, the Issuer’s subsidiaries may be restricted from providing funds to the Issuer under some
circumstances. These circumstances could include, among others, restrictions under French or other applicable corporate
law, and future contractual restrictions, including restrictions in credit facilities and other indebtedness, that may affect
the ability of the Issuer’s subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other payments to the Issuer. In addition, applicable tax
laws may also subject such payments to taxation.

We cannot assure you that the arrangements with our subsidiaries, the funding permitted by the agreements
governing existing and future indebtedness of our subsidiaries and our results of operations and cash flow generally will
provide us with sufficient dividends, distributions or loans to fund payments on the Notes. In the event that we do not
receive distributions or other payments from our subsidiaries, we may be unable to make required principal and interest
payments on the Notes, and we do not expect to have any other sources of funds that would allow us to make payments
to holders of the Notes.

The interests of our shareholders may be inconsistent with the interests of the holders of the Notes.

The Sponsors and certain members of our management team are the indirect majority shareholders of the Issuer.
The interests of the Sponsors and/or any other principal shareholder in the future could conflict with each other and/or the
interests of the holders of the Notes, particularly if we encounter financial difficulties or are unable to pay our liabilities
when due. Any principal shareholder could also have an interest in pursuing acquisitions, divestitures, financings,
dividend distributions or other transactions that, in its judgment could enhance its investment, although such transactions
might involve risks to the holders of the Notes. In addition, our shareholders may also invest or acquire businesses that
compete with us.

French tax legislation may restrict the deductibility, for French tax purposes, of all or a portion of the interest on our
indebtedness incurred in France, thus reducing the cash flow available to service our indebtedness.

The French Finance Act for 2019 introduced into French tax legislation the provisions of the ATAD regarding
interest deductibility limitations in respect of fiscal years opened as from January 1, 2019.

In relation to such introduction, (i) the provisions of (x) Articles 212 bis and 223 B bis of the French Tax Code
(i.e., the former 25% general limitation of deductibility of financial expenses (“rabot fiscal”)) and (y) Article 209-1X of
the French Tax Code (the “Amendement Carrez” limitation) have been repealed and (ii) the provisions of Article 212-11
of the French Tax Code (i.e., existing thin-capitalization rules) have been amended, as developed in more detail below.

The other rules limiting interest deductibility remain unchanged, in particular (i) the rules relating to the
maximum rate for interest paid to direct minority shareholders or to related parties (Articles 39.1.3° and 212-1-(a) of the
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French Tax Code); and (ii) the Anti Hybrid Loans Provisions as defined below (Article 212-1-(b) of the French Tax
Code) it being noted that the Anti Hybrid Loans Provisions should be repealed as a result of the introduction of the
provisions of the ATAD 2 (as defined below) under French tax law as proposed by Article 13 of the draft French Finance
Act for 2020.

Under Article 39.1.3° of the French Tax Code, the deduction of interest paid by a French company to lenders
who are direct shareholders of such company but are not related parties to such company within the meaning of
Acrticle 39.12 of the French Tax Code, is subject to the conditions that (i) the share capital of the borrowing company is
fully paid-in and (ii) the interest rate on the corresponding loans does not exceed a rate equal to the annual average rate of
floating rate loans granted by financial establishments for a minimum term of two years (currently 1.36% for companies
closing their fiscal year between August 31, 2019 and September 29, 2019). Non-deductible interest pursuant to such
limitation will be treated as deemed dividend under French tax law and may in particular be subject to withholding tax,
subject to applicable tax treaties. By exception, Article 212, I-(a) of the French Tax Code provides that interest incurred
on loans granted by a related party within the meaning of Article 39.12 of the French Tax Code is deductible up to the
rate referred to in Article 39.1.3° of the French Tax Code or, if higher, up to the rate that the borrowing entity could have
obtained from independent financial credit institutions in similar circumstances.

Pursuant to Article 212 § 1-(b) of the French Tax Code the deductibility of interest paid to a related party within
the meaning of Article 39.12 of the French Tax Code is subject to an additional requirement: if the lender is a related
party to the borrower within the meaning of Article 39.12 of the French Tax Code, the French borrower shall
demonstrate, at the French tax authorities’ request, that the lender is, for the current fiscal year and with respect to the
concerned interest, subject to an income tax in an amount that is at least equal to 25% of the corporate income tax
determined under standard French tax rules (the “Anti Hybrid Loans Provisions”). Where the related-party lender is
domiciled or established outside France, the corporate income tax determined under standard French tax rules shall mean
that to which it would have been liable in France on the interest received if it had been domiciled or established in
France. This limitation is likely to be modified as from 2020 to the extent that the French draft Finance Act for 2020
released by the French government on September 27, 2019 and currently under discussion before the French Parliament,
provides for the transposition into French tax law of the ATAD 2 rules on hybrid mismatches. It cannot be excluded that
the modified rules will limit the Group’s ability to deduct interest.

Pursuant to Bulletin Officiel des Finances Publiques-Impéts BOI-1S-BASE-35-30, n° 230, dated September 4,
2019, the portion of interest that is not deductible by virtue of Article 212 § I-b) of the French Tax Code is not to be
recharacterized as a “deemed distribution” pursuant to Article 119 et seq. of the French Tax Code and, therefore, is not
subject to the withholding tax set out under Article 119 bis 2 of the French Tax Code.

Pursuant to Article 34 of the French Finance Act for 2019 (codified under Article 212 bis of the French Tax
Code), the deductibility of net financial expenses incurred by an entity in respect of a given fiscal year is now limited to
the highest of (i) € 3 million and (ii) 30% of its adjusted EBITDA in the same fiscal year (corresponding to its taxable
income before offset of carry forward tax losses and without taking into consideration net financial expenses and, to
some extent, depreciation, provisions and capital gains/losses) generated by such entity (the “30% Limitation”). Such
limitation applies to both related-party and third-party financings regardless of the purpose of these financings, subject to
certain limited exceptions.

Furthermore, for entities being part of a group that files eligible consolidated financial statements, a safeguard
clause has been implemented in order to partially exempt companies that are able to demonstrate that the ratio of their
equity over their total assets is equal to or higher than the same ratio computed at the level of the accounting consolidated
group to which they belong. In this specific case, net financial expenses exceeding the 30% Limitation are deductible up
to 75% of their amount.

French thin-capitalization rules have also been amended and apply cumulatively to the 30% Limitation, but only
to loans granted by related parties and no longer to third-party debt guaranteed by related parties. In this respect, where
the amount of the related party debt of a company exceeds a ratio equal to 1.5x the company’s equity, the deduction of
net financial expenses borne by such entity will be deductible for a portion of their amount up to the highest of (i) 30% of
its adjusted EBITDA or (ii) € 3 million multiplied by a ratio equal to (A) the average amount of sums borrowed from or
made available by non-related parties within the meaning of Article 39-12 of the French Tax Code increased by 1.5x the
company’s equity (assessed either at the beginning or at the closing date of the fiscal year) by (B) the average amount of
all sums borrowed by or made available to the company during said year. The balance of net financial expenses will be
deductible for a portion of their amount up to the highest of (i) 10% of its adjusted EBITDA or (ii) € 1 million multiplied
by a ratio equal to (A) the average amount of sums borrowed from or made available by related parties within the
meaning of Article 39-12 of the French Tax Code exceeding 1.5x the company’s equity (assessed either at the beginning
or at the closing date of the fiscal year) by (B) the average amount of all sums borrowed by or made available to the
company during said fiscal year. Nevertheless, the interest deductibility restriction provided for by these amended
thin-capitalization rules is not applicable if the borrowing company is able to demonstrate that the overall debt-to-equity
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ratio of the group (as determined under accounting consolidation rules) to which it belongs is higher than its own
debt-to-equity ratio.

Financial expenses that are disallowed by virtue of the application of the 30% limitation can be carried forward
indefinitely and deducted in the future under the same conditions. On the other hand, the portion disallowed as a result of
the application of the 10% limitation will only be eligible for carryforward for one third of its amount. The unused
interest deduction capacity of a current fiscal year might also be used over the following five tax years, but only against
financial expenses incurred in those fiscal years, it being noted that this measure is not available to thinly capitalized
entities.

These new limitation rules also apply at the level of French tax consolidated groups, subject to certain
conditions. In such a case, the relevant net interest expense and EBITDA, as well as the thin-capitalization ratio, are
computed at the level of the tax consolidated group.

In addition, Article 223 B § 6 of the French Tax Code imposes specific restrictions on the deductibility of net
interest expense incurred by a French company which belongs to a French tax consolidated group if such company has
acquired from persons or entities which, directly or indirectly, control such company, legally or de facto, shares of
another company which enters into such French tax consolidated group or is merged into such company or into another
company belonging to the same French tax consolidated group.

The above-mentioned tax rules, as well as generally applicable tax principles, may limit the Group’s ability to
deduct interest accrued on the Group’s indebtedness incurred in France and, as a consequence, may increase the Group’s
tax burden, which could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations and reduce
the cash flow available to service the Group’s indebtedness.

Risks related to laws and regulations

We are exposed to various risks related to legal proceedings or claims that may exceed the level of our insurance
coverage.

We are a party to legal proceedings, disputes, investigations and other claims in the normal course of our
business. Responding to such matters can be expensive and time-consuming, can divert management’s attention and be
disruptive to normal business operations. Moreover, the results of such proceedings are difficult to predict and
unfavorable outcomes in these matters could result in substantial monetary liability, require us to change our business
practices and otherwise adversely affect our reputation, business, financial condition or results of operations.

In particular, the nature of the products we rent and the services we offer exposes us to claims for personal
injury, death or property damage resulting from, among other things, the use of the equipment we rent and the actions of
our delivery and service personnel, as well for other employee-related matters. Actual or alleged accidents involving our
equipment and services and quality, safety and performance defects in the products we rent may have adverse financial
and reputational consequences and negatively affect demand for our services. Such accidents and defects can cause
severe injury to persons and substantial damage to property, causing material damage to our brand and reputation, even
we are not actually responsible for causing such injury or damage. Additionally, we could be subject to potential
litigation or investigations associated with compliance with various laws and governmental regulations, such as those
relating to employment, health, safety, security and other regulations under which we operate. See “Business—Legal
proceedings.”

We carry comprehensive insurance that we believe is sufficient to cover existing and future ordinary course
claims. However, we may be exposed to large or multiple claims that exceed our deductibles, and, as a result, we could
incur significant out-of-pocket costs that could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. In
addition, the cost of such insurance policies may increase upon renewal of those policies as a result of general rate
increases or as the result of past claims. Our existing or future claims may exceed our insurance coverage, and such
insurance may not continue to be available on economically reasonable terms or at all. If we are required to pay
significantly higher premiums for insurance, are not able to maintain insurance coverage at affordable rates or if we must
pay amounts in excess of claims covered by our insurance, we could experience higher costs that could materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Changes in applicable law and regulations, or our material failure to comply with any of them, can increase our costs,
expose us to liability and have other negative impacts on our business.

We are exposed to a wide variety of EU, national and local regulations. See “—Risks related to our
operations—Our operations expose us to risks inherent in operating a business across multiple jurisdictions.” These
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laws and requirements address multiple aspects of our operations including, among other things, workplace health and
safety, product safety, consumer rights and labor relations, and such laws and regulations differ from jurisdiction to
jurisdiction. In addition, changes in regulations could impact the ability of rental operators to utilize their equipment in
certain types of projects, affecting the competitive landscape in those projects, as well as in other areas in which the
non-conforming equipment may be redeployed. Changes in regulatory requirements, or any material failure to comply
with them, can increase our costs, affect our reputation, limit our business, require significant management attention and
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We are subject to laws and regulations governing labor, compliance with which entails cost and risk and labor
disputes could disrupt our operations and lead to higher labor costs.

Labor laws applicable to our business in certain countries, particularly France, are extensive and compliance
therewith entails significant cost and management attention. The countries in which we operate, labor laws generally
provide for strong protection of employees’ interests, which may be at odds with the interests of our business. In
addition, many of our employees are members of unions or, based on applicable regulations, represented by works
councils or other bodies. In many cases, we must inform, consult with and request the consent or opinion of union
representatives or work councils in connection with managing, developing or restructuring certain aspects of our
business. These labor laws and consultative procedures could limit our flexibility with respect to employment policy or
economic reorganization and could limit our ability to respond to market changes efficiently. Even where consultative
procedures are not mandatory, important strategic business decisions could be negatively received by some employees
and employees’ representative bodies, which could lead to labor actions that could disrupt our business.

Although we believe our relations with employees are good, our operations may nevertheless be materially
affected by strikes, work-stoppages, work-slowdowns or other labor-related developments or labor disputes in the future,
which could disrupt our operations and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Certain of our employees benefit from collective bargaining agreements, and we may not be able to periodically
renegotiate collective agreements on acceptable terms. Settlement of actual or threatened labor disputes or an increase in
the number of our employees covered by collective bargaining agreements may adversely affect our labor costs,
productivity and flexibility. Likewise, many of our suppliers and customers have unionized work forces. Strikes,
work-stoppages, work-slowdowns or other labor actions experienced by these suppliers or customers could also
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We are subject to stringent environmental and safety requirements, which can be costly to comply with and may
subject us to liability.

We store equipment and machinery as well as use and temporarily store fuels and certain chemicals in
jurisdictions in which we operate. We also use hazardous materials to clean and maintain equipment, dispose of solid and
hazardous waste and waste water from equipment washing and store and dispense petroleum products from underground
and aboveground storage tanks located at certain of our locations. In connection with these activities, we may
contaminate soil, air, water and buildings or may cause spills, emissions, leakages or other accidents. We are subject to a
variety of environmental regulatory regimes that impose obligations and liability for the cleanup of properties affected by
hazardous substance spills or releases. Such liabilities may be imposed on the parties generating or disposing of such
substances or the operator of the affected property, often without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or
was responsible for, the relevant incident. Accordingly, we may become liable, either contractually or by operation of
law, for remediation costs even if a contaminated property is not presently owned or operated by us or if the
contamination was caused by third parties. In addition, we may be liable for the loss of property value caused by such an
incident and there can be no assurance that prior site assessments or investigations have identified all potential instances
of contamination or the full extent thereof. Future events, including changes in existing laws or policies or their
enforcement, or the discovery of currently unknown or undetected incidents, may give rise to additional remediation
liabilities, which may be material. Further, we may also become subject to proceedings where a third party sues us due to
a breach of environmental legislation and be ordered to pay damages or be subject to other sanctions. Although expenses
related to environmental and safety compliance and/or remediation have not been material to date, we have made and
will continue to make capital and other expenditures in order to comply with these laws and regulations. The
requirements of these laws and regulations are complex, change frequently, and could become more stringent in the
future. We may not be in complete compliance with all such requirements at all times, and we may be subject to
potentially significant civil or criminal fines or penalties if we fail to comply. If any of the risks described above
materialize, they may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We are exposed to the risks in connection with violations of anti-corruption laws, sanctions or other similar
regulations.

We must comply with certain anti-corruption laws, sanctions or other similar regulations. For example, the U.S.
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, the UK Bribery Act 2010, the French law of December 9, 2016 relating to
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transparency, fighting corruption and modernizing economic life (more widely known as the “Sapin Il Law”) and other
similar anti-corruption laws generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to
foreign officials for the purposes of obtaining or retaining business. We operate in certain parts of the world or may
decide to enter new markets that have a different legal system than that of our core market in France and/or have
experienced corruption. Under some circumstances, strict compliance with anti-corruption laws may conflict with local
customs and practices. Our internal policies mandate compliance with these laws, but despite our compliance policies
and training efforts, we cannot assure you that our internal control policies and procedures will always protect us from
acts committed by our employees or other third parties. Further, due to the global nature of our operations, we may use
local agents or subcontractors to understand unfamiliar environments and differences in cultural, legal, financial and
accounting complexities and obligations, or to carry out a portion of the activities called for by a particular contract.
There is a risk that such agents or subcontractors may be involved in illegal or unethical activities in local markets that
are unknown to us. Whether or not we have failed to adequately supervise these third parties or to maintain an adequate
compliance program, we may be liable for their actions. Similarly, our clients and suppliers may be involved in activities
that our onboarding and diligence procedures may be unable to detect and that may put us at risk for non-compliance
with anti-corruption and similar laws. Violations of such laws can result in civil penalties, including fines, denial of
import/export privileges, injunctions, asset seizures, disbarment from government contracts, termination of existing
contracts, revocations or restrictions of licenses, criminal fines or imprisonment, among other things. In addition, such
violations could also negatively impact our reputation and consequently, our ability to win future business. On the other
hand, any such violation by our competitors, if undetected, could give them an unfair advantage when bidding for
contracts. The consequences that we may suffer due to the foregoing could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Changes in tax laws or challenges to our tax position could adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations.

We are subject to complex tax laws in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate as well as to international
tax laws. Changes in tax laws or regulations or to their interpretations could adversely affect our tax position, including
our effective tax rate or tax payments possibly with a retroactive effect.

In this respect, the current incorporation into European and French tax law of the Organization for Economic
Cooperation and Development’s (the “OECD?”) principles related to base erosions and profit shifting (“BEPS”) included
in the final reports released by the OECD as well as the Multilateral Convention to Implement Tax Treaty Related
Measures to Prevent BEPS signed in Paris on June 7, 2017 and ratified by France on September 26, 2018, may increase
the administrative efforts within our business and impact existing structures.

The EU is itself pursuing its work on the harmonization of the tax legislation of the Member States. In this
respect, the Council of the EU (the “Council of the EU”) adopted a directive “laying down rules against tax avoidance
practices that directly affect the functioning of the internal market” on July 12, 2016 (Council Directive 2016/1164) (the
“ATAD”). Among the set of proposed measures, the ATAD provides for a general interest limitation rule pursuant to
which the tax deduction of net financial expenses is limited to 30% of the taxpayer’s tax adjusted earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) or to a maximum amount of €3 million per fiscal year, whichever
is higher (subject to several exceptions). In this respect, Article 34 of the French Finance Act for 2019 (Law 2018-1317
of December 28, 2018) transposed into French tax law such general interest limitation rule provided for by the ATAD
with effect as from January 1, 2019. See “Risk factors—Risks related to our financial condition—French tax legislation
may restrict the deductibility, for French tax purposes, of all or a portion of the interest on our indebtedness incurred in
France, thus reducing the cash flow available to service our indebtedness” for more details on this rule. The ATAD was
later amended on May 29, 2017 by the Council Directive (EU) 2017/952 (the “ATAD 2”), which, inter alia, extends the
scope of the ATAD to hybrid mismatches involving third countries. In this respect, it should be noted that the French
draft Finance Act for 2020, released by the French government on September 27, 2019 and currently under discussion
before the French Parliament, provides for the transposition into French tax law of such ATAD 2 rules on hybrid
mismatches as from January 1, 2020 (or potentially January 1, 2022, for certain provisions) in lieu of the existing French
anti-hybrid rules. Further developments throughout the discussions leading to the adoption of the Finance Act for 2020
will therefore need to be monitored.
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Furthermore, Article 108 of the French Finance Act for 2019 introduced under French tax law with effect as
from January 1, 2019, the anti- abuse provision provided for by the ATAD with respect to French corporate income tax,
which aims to address abusive tax practices that are not dealt with by specifically targeted provisions. Pursuant to this
provision, the French tax authorities might ignore, for the determination of corporate income tax, an arrangement or a
series of arrangements which, having been put into place for the main purpose or one of the main purposes of obtaining a
tax advantage that defeats the object or purpose of the applicable tax law, are not genuine taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances. The condition relating to the absence of genuineness of the arrangement or series of
arrangements would be met if such arrangement or series of arrangements were established for invalid commercial
reasons. This reinforces the arsenal of the French tax authorities in the fight against abusive arrangements (without
providing for specific penalties), other provisions being primarily focused on solely tax-driven schemes. The European
Commission has also published a corporate reform package proposal on October 25, 2016 including three new proposals
that aim at (i) re-launching the Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base (“CCCTB”) which is a single set of rules to
compute companies’ taxable profits in the EU, (ii) avoiding loopholes associated with profit-shifting for tax between EU
countries and non-EU countries, and (iii) providing new dispute resolution rules to relieve problems with double taxation
for businesses. The directive proposal on the CCCTB requires unanimity in the Council of the EU for its adoption
following consultation of the European Parliament (special legislative procedure), which gave its favorable vote on
March 15, 2018. It should be implemented in two steps, with the common base being implemented as a first step and
consolidation being put in place swiftly afterwards. Furthermore, new rules on tax dispute resolution already apply since
January 1, 2019 following the transposition of Council Directive 2017/1852 of October 10, 2017 into French tax law as
part of the French Finance Act for 2019. These new regulations could impact our tax position in the future.

Another area of uncertainty concerns the progressive decrease of the French statutory corporate income tax rate
provided for by Article 219 of the French Tax Code from 33.33% to 25% (or from 34.43% to 25.83% taking into account
the additional 3.3% social contribution provided for by Article 235 ter ZC of the French Tax Code) over a period of four
years starting in 2019. Even though such decrease was enacted by the French Finance Act for 2018, a new law dated
July 24, 2019 provided that the French statutory corporate income tax rate applicable to companies (together with the
members of their tax consolidation group, as the case may be) generating a French turnover exceeding €250 million for
the portion of their taxable profits exceeding €500,000 would still be set at 33.1/3% (or 34.43% including the
abovementioned additional 3.3% social contribution) with respect to fiscal year 2019 instead of 31% (or 32.02%
including the abovementioned additional 3.3% social contribution) to address budget constraints of the French State.
Furthermore, in the draft French Finance Act for 2020, released by the French government on September 27, 2019 and
currently under discussion before the French Parliament, the French government proposes to slightly differ the decrease
of the French statutory corporate income tax rate for the same companies, i.e., (i) a rate of 31% (or 32.02% including the
abovementioned additional 3.3% social contribution) in 2020 instead of 28% (or 28.92% including the abovementioned
additional 3.3% social contribution) and (ii) a rate of 27.5% (or 28.41% including the abovementioned additional 3.3%
social contribution) for 2021 instead of 26.5% (or 27.37% including the abovementioned additional 3.3% social
contribution). Therefore, the pace of the progressive decrease for large companies remains subject to uncertainties and
might be amended prior the end of the fiscal year 2019.

Finally since tax laws and regulations in the various jurisdictions in which we are located or operate, or may be
located or may operate, may not always provide clear-cut or definitive guidelines, the tax regime applied to our
operations, intra-group transactions or reorganizations (past or future) is or may sometimes be based on our
interpretations of French or foreign tax laws and regulations. We cannot guarantee that such interpretations will not be
questioned by the relevant tax authorities. More generally, any failure to comply with the tax laws or regulations of the
countries in which we are located or operate may result in reassessments, late payment interests, fines and penalties and
could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The adoption by the Council of the European Union of an EU list of non-cooperative jurisdiction for tax purposes
and the use of this list in the jurisdictions where we operate may impact our financial results.

The adoption by the Council of the European Union of an EU list of non-cooperative jurisdiction for tax
purposes and the use of this list in the jurisdictions where we operate may impact our financial results.

The Council of the European Union adopted on December 5, 2017 its conclusions on the EU list of
non-cooperative jurisdictions for tax purposes (the “Council Conclusions”) which is composed of two sub-lists
(respectively, the “Black List” and the “Grey List,” together referred to as the “EU List”). The EU List was established
following a screening and a dialogue conducted by a code of conduct working group appointed by the Council during
2017 with a large number of third-country jurisdictions to improve tax good governance globally, and to ensure that the
EU’s international partners respect the same standards as EU Member States do. The Black List, which shall be updated
at least once a year and was initially composed of seventeen jurisdictions, is currently composed of eleven jurisdictions
(American Samoa, Belize, Fiji, Guam, the Marshall Islands, Oman, Samoa, Trinidad and Tobago, the United Arab
Emirates, the United States Virgin Islands and Vanuatu). Furthermore, the Council published a Grey List of screened
jurisdictions that committed to introduce changes in their tax legislation in order to comply with the European Union
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screening criteria. Though there is no applicable sanction yet, EU Member States are encouraged by the Council
Conclusions to agree on coordinated sanctions to apply at national level against these listed jurisdictions, such as
increased monitoring and audits, withholding taxes, special documentation requirements and anti-abuse provisions. A
new French law that aims at fighting fraud was published on October 24, 2018 (Law 2018-898 of October 23, 2018) and
expands under certain conditions the French tax regime regarding the non-cooperative States and jurisdictions as defined
under Article 238-0 A of the French Tax Code to certain States and jurisdictions included into the Black List. As a result,
interest paid or accrued to persons domiciled or established in certain States and jurisdictions included into the Black List
or paid on an account opened in a financial institution located in such States and jurisdictions may be subject to
withholding tax in France and not be deductible for purposes of the computation of the debtor’s corporate income tax
liability. These new provisions apply to such States and jurisdictions after their inclusion by order (arrété) on the list of
non-cooperative States and jurisdictions as defined under Article 238-0 A of the French Tax Code, it being mentioned
that none of the States or jurisdictions on the Black List has been included so far.

Transactions in the Notes could be subject to the European financial transaction tax, if adopted.

On February 14, 2013, the European Commission published a proposal for a Directive for a common financial
transaction tax (the “EU FTT”) in Austria, Belgium, Estonia, France, Germany, Greece, Italy, Portugal, Slovenia,
Slovakia and Spain (together, except for Estonia, the “Participating Member States”) and which, if enacted and
implemented by France, should replace the current French financial transaction tax provided by Article 235 ter ZD of the
French Tax Code (the “French FTT”). Following the ECOFIN Council meeting of December 8, 2015, Estonia officially
announced its withdrawal from the negotiations and, on March 16, 2016, completed the formalities required to leave the
enhanced cooperation on FTT.

The EU FTT could, if introduced in its current draft form, apply, under certain circumstances, to some
transactions involving the Senior Secured Notes and to persons both established within and outside the Participating
Member States. On October 10, 2016, the European Commission has been tasked with the drafting of the legislation that
will be submitted to the Participating Member States. However, and despite several attempts, no agreement has been
found between the Participating Member States so far. Recently, France and Germany expressed their wish to adopt EU
FTT that would be inspired by the French FTT. The ECOFIN indicated on June 27, 2018 that Participating Member
States are currently considering such proposal. However, no final agreement has been reached yet.

The EU FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between the Participating Member States, the scope of
such tax being therefore uncertain. The timing of its implementation remains also unclear. Additional EU member states
may decide to participate and certain of the Participating Member States may decide to withdraw. If the proposed EU
FTT or any similar taxes are adopted, such taxes could increase the transaction costs associated with the purchases and
sales of the Senior Secured Notes and reduce liquidity in the market for the Senior Secured Notes. Prospective holders of
the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the consequences of the FTT associated with
subscribing for, purchasing, holding and disposing of the Notes.

French tax legislation may restrict our ability to use French tax loss carry-forwards.

We may record deferred tax assets on our balance sheet, reflecting future tax savings resulting from
discrepancies between the tax and accounting valuation of the assets and liabilities or in respect of tax loss
carry-forwards from our entities. The actual realization of these assets in future years depends on tax laws and
regulations, the outcome of potential tax audits and the future results of the relevant entities. In particular, pursuant to
Article 209, I, paragraph 3 of the French Tax Code, the fraction of French tax loss carry-forwards that may be used to
offset the taxable profit with respect to a given fiscal year is limited to €1.0 million plus 50% of the portion of taxable
profit exceeding €1.0 million. As the case may be, similar rules apply to tax losses generated by French tax consolidated
groups.

Any reduction in our ability to use deferred tax assets in the future due to changes in laws and regulations,
potential tax reassessment, or lower than expected results could have a negative impact on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Risks related to our financing arrangements and the notes

Our significant leverage and debt service obligations could materially adversely affect our business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects and may make it difficult to operate our business.

We currently are, and after the issuance of the Notes, will continue to be highly leveraged. As of September 30,
2019, as adjusted to give effect to the Transactions, we would have had total third-party financial debt of
€1,127.0 million, of which €860.0 million would have been represented by the Notes. In addition, €120.0 million will be
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available for drawing under the New Revolving Credit Facility. See “Capitalization”. We will also have significant
obligations under finance leases in the amount of €223.7 million, as well as accounts receivable, trade payables and
convertible bonds held by shareholders.

Our significant leverage could have important consequences for our business and operations, including, but not
limited to:

+ making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to the Notes and our other debt and
liabilities;

*  requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our debt,
thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow to fund internal growth through working capital and
capital expenditures and for other general corporate purposes;

» increasing our vulnerability to a downturn in our business or general economic or industry conditions;

« placing us at a competitive disadvantage relative to competitors that have lower leverage or greater financial
resources than we have;

+ limiting our flexibility in planning for or reacting to competition or changes in our business and industry;
* negatively impacting credit terms with our creditors;
« restricting us from pursuing strategic acquisitions or exploiting certain business opportunities; and

* limiting, among other things, our and our subsidiaries’ ability to borrow additional funds or raise equity
capital in the future and increasing the costs of such additional financings.

Any of these or other consequences or events could have a material adverse effect on our ability to satisfy our
debt obligations, including the Notes. Our ability to make payments on and refinance our indebtedness and to fund
working capital expenditures and other expenses will depend on our future operating performance and ability to generate
cash from operations.

We may incur substantially more debt in the future, which may make it difficult for us to service our debt, including
the Notes, and impair our ability to operate our businesses.

Despite our significant leverage, we may incur substantial additional debt in the future. Although the New
Revolving Credit Facility Agreement and the Indenture will contain restrictions on the incurrence of additional
indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of significant qualifications and exceptions, and under certain
circumstances the amount of indebtedness that could be incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be
substantial. Furthermore, the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement and the Indenture will not prevent us from
incurring liabilities that do not constitute “Indebtedness” as defined thereunder.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service our indebtedness, including due to factors outside our
control, and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be
successful.

Our businesses may not generate sufficient cash flows from operations to make payments on our debt
obligations, and additional debt and equity financing may not be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to
pay our debts when due, or to refinance such debts, including the Notes. Our ability to generate cash from operations is
subject, in large part, to general economic, competitive, legislative and regulatory factors and other factors that are
beyond our control. We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow from operations or obtain enough capital to
service our debt or fund our planned capital expenditure. If our future cash flows from operations and other capital
resources are insufficient to pay obligations as they mature or to fund our liquidity needs, we may be forced to:

* reduce or delay our business activities, planned acquisitions and capital expenditures;
+  sell assets;
»  obtain additional debt or equity financing; or

«  restructure or refinance all or a portion of our debt, including the Notes, on or before maturity.
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We can provide no assurance that we would be able to accomplish any of these alternatives on a timely basis or
on satisfactory terms, if at all.

Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend in part on our financial condition at such time. Any
refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates than our current debt and may require us to comply with more
onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. The terms of existing or future debt instruments
and the Indenture may restrict us from adopting some of these alternatives. Furthermore, we may be unable to find
alternative financing, and even if we could obtain alternative financing, it might not be on terms that are favorable or
acceptable to us. If we are not able to refinance any of our debt, obtain additional financing or sell assets on
commercially reasonable terms or at all, we may not be able to satisfy our debt obligations, including under the Notes. In
such an event, borrowings under other debt agreements or instruments that contain cross-default or cross-acceleration
provisions, including the New Revolving Credit Facility and the Indenture, may become payable on demand, and we may
not have sufficient funds to repay all our debts, including the Notes.

In addition, any failure to make payments of interest or principal on our outstanding indebtedness on a timely
basis would likely result in a reduction of our credit ratings, which could harm our ability to incur additional
indebtedness. In the absence of such operating results and resources, we could face substantial liquidity problems and
might be required to dispose of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations. The terms of
our indebtedness, including under the Indenture, restrict our ability to transfer or sell assets and to use the proceeds from
any such disposition. We may not be able to consummate certain dispositions or to obtain the funds that we could have
realized from the proceeds of such dispositions, and any proceeds we do realize from asset dispositions may not be
adequate to meet any of our debt service obligations then due.

We are subject to covenants which limit our operating and financial flexibility and, if we default under our debt
covenants, we may not be able to meet our payment obligations.

The Indenture and the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement will contain covenants that impose significant
restrictions on the way we can operate, including restrictions on our ability to:

» incur or guarantee additional debt and issue preferred stock;

«  create or permit to exist certain liens;

* make certain payments, including dividends or other distributions, with respect to shares of the Issuer;
«  prepay or redeem subordinated debt or equity;

* make certain investments or acquisitions, including participating in joint ventures;

* engage in certain transactions with affiliates;

»  create unrestricted subsidiaries;

»  create encumbrances or restrictions on the payment of dividends or other distributions, loans or advances to,
and on the transfer of, assets to the Issuer or any restricted subsidiary;

» sell assets, consolidate or merge with or into other companies;

« sell or transfer all or substantially all our assets or those of our subsidiaries on a consolidated basis;

» change the holding company status of the Issuer;

+  impair security interests for the benefit of the holders of the Notes; and

» issue or sell share capital of certain subsidiaries.

All of these limitations will be subject to significant exceptions and qualifications. See “Description of the
notes—Certain covenants”. These covenants could limit our ability to finance future operations and capital needs and our
ability to pursue acquisitions and other business activities that may be in our interest. Our ability to comply with these
covenants and restrictions may be affected by events beyond our control. These include prevailing economic, financial

and industry conditions. If we breach any of these covenants or restrictions, in addition to being in default under the
Indenture, we could be in default under the terms of the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement, and the relevant
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lenders could elect to declare the debt, together with accrued and unpaid interest and other fees, if any, immediately due
and payable and proceed against any collateral securing that debt. If the debt under the New Revolving Credit Facility
Agreement, the Notes or the Notes Guarantees or any other material financing arrangement that we enter into were to be
accelerated, our assets may be insufficient to repay in full the Notes and our other debt.

The New Revolving Credit Facility also requires us to comply, while certain amounts under the New Revolving
Credit Facility Agreement remain outstanding, with a certain senior secured net leverage ratio. The ability to meet this
test could be affected by a deterioration in our operating results, as well as by events beyond our control, including
increases in prices charged by our suppliers and unfavorable economic conditions, and there can be no assurances that
this test will be met. In addition, the New Revolving Credit Facility includes certain affirmative covenants, as well as
negative covenants similar to those under the Indenture. A breach of any of those covenants or restrictions could result in
an event of default under the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement. If our creditors, including the creditors under
the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement, accelerate the payment of amounts due under our various debt
obligations, there can be no assurance that our assets would be sufficient to repay in full those amounts, to satisfy all
other liabilities which would be due and payable and to make payments to enable us to repay the Notes, in full or in part.
In addition, if we are unable to repay those amounts, our creditors could proceed against any collateral granted to them to
secure repayment of those amounts. See “Description of certain financing arrangements—New revolving credit facility
agreement.”

Certain of our indebtedness bears interest at floating rates that could rise significantly, increasing our costs and
reducing our cash flow.

After giving effect to the Transactions, a significant portion of our indebtedness, including the Floating Rate
Notes and drawdowns under the New Revolving Credit Facility, will bear interest at a variable rate, and we will be
exposed to the risk of fluctuations in interest rates. The Floating Rate Notes and the New Revolving Credit Facility will
each bear interest at a variable rate based on the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR) and the London Interbank
Offered Rate (LIBOR), as applicable, plus an applicable margin. These interest rates could rise significantly in the future,
increasing our interest expense associated with these obligations, reducing cash flow available for capital expenditures
and hindering our ability to make payments on the Notes. Neither the Indenture or the New Revolving Credit Facility
Agreement contain a covenant requiring us to hedge all or any portion of our floating rate debt.

Although we expect to enter into and maintain certain hedging arrangements designed to fix a portion of these
rates, there can be no assurance that hedging will continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms. Hedging
itself carries certain risks, including credit risks in relation to such hedging counterparties and the risk that we may need
to pay a significant amount (including costs) to terminate any hedging arrangements. Further, there may be a mismatch
between the successor rates applied in respect of our floating rate debt and the successor rates applied in respect of
hedging arrangements thereon, which may render such hedging arrangements ineffective in managing the Group’s
interest rate risks. To the extent interest rates were to increase significantly, our interest expense would correspondingly
increase, thus reducing cash flow.

Following allegations of manipulation of LIBOR, a measure of interbank lending rates, regulators and law
enforcement agencies from a number of governments and the European Union are conducting investigations into whether
the banks that contribute data in connection with the calculation of daily EURIBOR or the calculation of LIBOR may
have been manipulating or attempting to manipulate EURIBOR and LIBOR. In addition, LIBOR, EURIBOR and other
interest rates or other types of rates and indices which are deemed to be “benchmarks” are the subject of ongoing national
and international regulatory reform, including the implementation of the IOSCO Principles for Financial Market
Benchmarks (July 2013) and the new European regulation on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and
financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds, which entered into force on June 30, 2016.
Following the implementation of any such reforms, the manner of administration of benchmarks may change, with the
result that they may perform differently than in the past, or benchmarks could be eliminated entirely, or there could be
other consequences which cannot be predicted. For example, on July 27, 2017, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority
announced that it will no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for the calculation of the LIBOR benchmark
after 2021 (the “FCA Announcement”). The FCA Announcement and a subsequent speech by the Director of Markets
and Wholesale Policy at the FCA on January 28, 2019 indicates that the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis
cannot and will not be guaranteed, and market participants should not rely on its publication, after 2021. The potential
elimination of the LIBOR benchmark or any other benchmark, changes in the manner of administration of any
benchmark, or actions by regulators or law enforcement agencies could result in changes to the manner in which
EURIBOR or LIBOR is determined, which could require an adjustment to the terms and conditions, or result in other
consequences, in respect of any debt linked to such benchmark (including but not limited to the Floating Rate Notes and
drawings under the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement). Any such change, as well as manipulative practices or
the cessation thereof, may result in a sudden or prolonged increase in reported EURIBOR or LIBOR, which could have
an adverse impact on our ability to service debt that bears interest at floating rates of interest.
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If the Issuer determines that: (i) there has been a material disruption to EURIBOR, (ii) EURIBOR is not
available for use temporarily, indefinitely or permanently, (iii) there are restrictions or prohibitions on the use of
EURIBOR, (iv) an alternative rate has replaced EURIBOR in customary market practice in international capital markets
applicable generally to floating rate notes or (v) it has become unlawful for the Calculation Agent, the Issuer or a third
party agent of the Issuer to calculate any payments due to holders using EURIBOR, the Indenture will provide a
mechanism whereby the Notes Issuer could cause an independent financial advisor to determine an appropriate successor
rate (or, if not reasonably practicable to appoint such independent financial advisor, the Issuer would determine such
successor benchmark rate), and make certain adjustments to such rate, including applying a spread thereon to make such
successor rate comparable to EURIBOR, which upon certification by the Issuer to each of the Trustee, the Calculation
Agent and the relevant paying agent will be used to calculate the interest rate in relation to the Floating Rate Notes
without any further action or consent by the noteholders or the Trustee. This means that interest on the Floating Rate
Notes would be determined on the basis of a benchmark rate, together with adjustments, that was not contemplated at the
time you purchased the Floating Rate Notes issued on the Issue Date. In certain circumstances, the ultimate procedure for
the purposes of calculating interest for a particular interest period may result in the rate of interest for the last preceding
interest period being used, effectively resulting in the application of a fixed rate of interest. See “Description of the
notes—Interest—Interest on the floating rate notes.”

The Notes will be structurally subordinated to the liabilities of non-Guarantor subsidiaries.

As of the Issue Date, all of our subsidiaries (other than the Guarantors) will not guarantee the Notes. Such
subsidiaries will not have any obligations to pay amounts due under the Notes or to make funds available for that
purpose. Generally, holders of indebtedness of, and trade creditors of, non-Guarantor subsidiaries, including lenders
under bank financing agreements, are entitled to payments of their claims from the assets of such subsidiaries before
these assets are made available for distribution to the Issuer or the Guarantors, as a direct or indirect shareholder of such
subsidiaries. Accordingly, in the event that any non-Guarantor subsidiary becomes insolvent, is liquidated, reorganized or
dissolved or is otherwise wound up other than as part of a solvent transaction:

« the creditors of the Issuer (including the holders of the Notes) and the Guarantors will have no right to
proceed against the assets of such subsidiary; and

« the creditors of such non-Guarantor subsidiary, including trade creditors, will generally be entitled to
payment in full from the sale or other disposal of the assets of such subsidiary before the Issuer or the
Guarantors, as a direct or indirect shareholder, will be entitled to receive any distributions from such
subsidiary.

As such, the Notes and the Notes Guarantees thereof will be structurally subordinated to the creditors (including
trade creditors) and any preferred stockholders of our non-Guarantor subsidiaries.

As of September 30, 2019, after giving effect to the transactions, the Issuer’s non-Guarantor subsidiaries would
have had third-party financial debt of €11.9 million. Furthermore, the Indenture will not prohibit us (subject to certain
limitations) from incurring debt at the level of non-Guarantors in the future and such indebtedness would rank
structurally senior to the Notes and the Notes Guarantees.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements included in this offering memorandum refer to the Group and
therefore contain information on both Guarantors and non-Guarantors. The consolidated financial statements may be of
limited use in assessing the financial position of the Issuer and the Guarantors separate from the non-Guarantors.

The Notes will be effectively subordinated to our finance leases to the extent of the value of the assets securing such
obligations.

The Notes will be effectively subordinated to amounts outstanding under our finance leases to the extent of the
value of the assets securing such obligations. Our finance leases are secured by liens in respect of the equipment and
vehicles that have been financed thereby. In the event of any foreclosure, dissolution, winding up, liquidation,
reorganization, administration or other bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding of the relevant non-Guarantor subsidiary
with the finance lease obligation, such creditors will have prior claims to the assets thereunder to the extent of the value
of such related assets, and therefore the value of thereof will not be available for distribution in connection with the order
of payment under the bankruptcy estate of the relevant company, including in respect of the Issuer or Guarantors as
equity holder. See also “—The notes will be secured only to the extent of the value of the assets that have been granted as
security for the notes.”
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We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to finance an offer to repurchase the Notes upon the
occurrence of certain events constituting a change of control as required by the Indenture, and the change of control
provision contained in the Indenture may not necessarily afford you protection in the event of certain important
corporate events.

Upon the occurrence of certain events constituting a “change of control,” the Issuer will be required to offer to
repurchase all outstanding Notes at a purchase price in cash equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof on the date of
purchase plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to the date of purchase. If a change of control
were to occur, there can be no assurances that we would have sufficient funds available at such time, or that we would
have sufficient funds to provide to the Issuer to pay the purchase price of the outstanding Notes or that the restrictions in
our New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement, the Intercreditor Agreement or our other existing contractual obligations
would allow us to make such required repurchases. The repurchase of the Notes pursuant to such an offer could cause a
default under such indebtedness, even if the change of control itself does not. Under certain circumstances, a change of
control under the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement would, if so requested by a lender, result in the cancellation
of such lender’s commitments and require the repayment of amounts outstanding under such lender’s commitments under
the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement and a change of control may result in an event of default under, or
acceleration of, other indebtedness. We may be required to repay a proportionate amount of debt under our New
Revolving Credit Facility Agreement if we repay all or a portion of the principal amount of the Notes.

The ability of the Issuer to receive cash from its respective subsidiaries to allow it to pay cash to the holders of
the Notes, following the occurrence of a change of control, may be limited by our then existing financial resources.
Sufficient funds may not be available when necessary to make any required repurchases. If an event constituting a change
of control occurs at a time when we are prohibited from providing funds to the Issuer for the purpose of repurchasing the
Notes, we may seek the consent of the lenders under such indebtedness to the purchase of the Notes or may attempt to
refinance the borrowings that contain such prohibition. If such a consent to repay such borrowings is not obtained, the
Issuer will remain prohibited from repurchasing any Notes. In addition, we expect that we would require third-party
financing to make an offer to repurchase the Notes upon the occurrence of a change of control. There can be no
assurances that we would be able to obtain such financing.

Any failure by the Issuer to offer to purchase the Notes would constitute a default under the Indenture, which
would, in turn, constitute a default under the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement and certain other indebtedness.
See “Description of the notes—Change of control” The change of control provision contained in the Indenture may not
necessarily afford you protection in the event of certain important corporate events, including a reorganization,
restructuring, merger, recapitalization or other similar transaction involving us that may adversely affect you, because
such corporate events may not involve a shift in voting power or beneficial ownership or, even if they do, may not
constitute a “Change of Control” (as defined in the Indenture).

In addition, the occurrence of certain events that might otherwise constitute a change of control will be deemed
not to be a change of control, provided that upon consummation thereto, a certain consolidated net leverage ratio of the
Issuer and its restricted subsidiaries is met.

The definition of “Change of Control” in the Indenture will include a disposition of all or substantially all of the
assets of the Issuer and its restricted subsidiaries, taken as a whole, to any person. Although there is a limited body of
case law interpreting the phrase “substantially all,” there is no precise, established definition of that phrase under
applicable law. Accordingly, in certain circumstances, there may be a degree of uncertainty as to whether a particular
transaction would involve a disposition of “substantially all” of the Issuer’s and its restricted subsidiaries, assets taken as
awhole. As aresult, it may be unclear as to whether a change of control has occurred and whether the Issuer is required
to make an offer to repurchase the Notes.

Corporate benefit, financial assistance laws and other limitations on the Notes Guarantees or the security interests
may adversely affect the validity and enforceability of the Notes Guarantees of the Notes or security interests in the
Collateral.

The Guarantors will guarantee, and the Issuer and the Guarantors will provide security in respect of, the
payment of the Notes on a first-priority basis. The Issuer and the Guarantors are incorporated under the laws of France
and future Guarantors could be incorporated in other jurisdictions. Enforcement of the obligations under the Notes
Guarantees against the Guarantors or the enforcement of a security interest in the Collateral will be subject to certain
defenses available to the Issuer and the Guarantors, as applicable, in the relevant jurisdiction. Although laws differ in
these jurisdictions, these laws and defenses may include those that relate to fraudulent conveyance or transfer, financial
assistance, corporate purpose or benefit, voidable preference, insolvency or bankruptcy challenges, preservation of share
capital, thin capitalization, capital maintenance or similar laws and regulations or defenses affecting the rights of
creditors generally. If one or more of these laws and defenses are applicable, the Issuer and the Guarantors, as applicable,
may have no liability or decreased liability under their respective Notes Guarantees or the security interest in the

47



Collateral may be void or may not be enforceable depending on the amounts of its other obligations and applicable law.
For example, the amount enforceable under the Notes Guarantees is limited to the outstanding amount under the
Proceeds Loans which is of a maximum amount of approximately €471.9 million as of the Issue Date, and the validity
and enforceability of the Notes Guarantees will be subject to the limitations described in “Limitations on validity and
enforceability of the notes guarantees and the security interests and certain insolvency law considerations—France.” By
virtue of these limitations, the Guarantors’ obligation under its Notes Guarantees could be significantly less than amounts
payable under the Notes, or the Guarantors may have effectively no obligation under their Notes Guarantees. Other
indebtedness of the Guarantors may not be similarly limited. In addition, limitations on the enforceability of judgments
obtained in New York courts in such jurisdictions could limit the enforceability of the Notes Guarantees or the security
interest in the Collateral against any of the Guarantors or the Issuer, as applicable. The court may also in certain
circumstances avoid the Notes Guarantees or the security interest in the Collateral granted during hardening periods
(période suspecte).

Under French corporate benefit rules, a court could declare any guarantee unenforceable and, if payment had
already been made under the relevant guarantee, require that the recipient return the payment to the relevant guarantor, if
the court found that the Guarantors did not receive some real and adequate corporate benefit from the transaction
involving the grant of the guarantee as a whole. The existence of real and adequate corporate benefit to the Guarantors
and whether the amounts guaranteed are commensurate with the benefit received are factual matters which must be
determined on a case-by-case basis. French case law provides no clear guidance on this point.

The Notes Guarantees provide the holders of the Notes with a direct claim against the Guarantors. In addition,
the Issuer and the Guarantors will secure the payment of the Notes by granting security under the relevant Security
Documents. However, each security interest granted under a Security Document will be limited in scope to the value of
the relevant assets expressed to be subject to that security interest and the Indenture will provide that the Notes
Guarantees and the amounts recoverable thereunder will be limited to the maximum amount that can be guaranteed by
the Guarantors, without rendering the relevant Notes Guarantee/security interest voidable or otherwise ineffective under
applicable law or without resulting in a breach of any applicable law, and enforcement of the Notes Guarantees and
Security Document would be subject to certain generally available defenses. In particular, the Notes Guarantees granted
by the Guarantors will be limited to the aggregate amount of the Notes proceeds, directly or indirectly on-lent, or used to
refinance any indebtedness previously directly or indirectly on-lent, to the Guarantors and outstanding from time to time.
Any payment that would be made by the Guarantors under its Notes Guarantees would reduce the maximum amount of
its Notes Guarantees. See “Limitations on validity and enforceability of the notes guarantees and the security interests
and certain insolvency law considerations—France.”

The Notes, the Notes Guarantees and the security interests in the Collateral may be declared unenforceable against
third parties under fraudulent conveyance laws.

French laws contain specific provisions dealing with fraudulent conveyance both in and outside insolvency
proceedings. These provisions offer creditors protection against a decrease in their means of recovery. A legal act
performed by a person (including, without limitation, an agreement pursuant to which the person guarantees the
performance of the obligations of a third party or agrees to provide or provides security for any of its or a third party’s
obligations, enters into additional agreements benefiting from existing security and any other legal act having similar
effect) can be challenged in or outside the context of insolvency proceedings of the relevant person by the creditor’s
representative (mandataire judiciaire), the commissioner of the safeguard or reorganization plan (commissaire &
[’exécution du plan) in the insolvency proceedings of the relevant person or by any of the creditors of the relevant person
outside insolvency proceedings or any creditor who was prejudiced in its means of recovery as a consequence of the act
in or outside the context of insolvency proceedings, and may be declared unenforceable against third parties under
French law if: (i) the person performed such acts without an obligation to do so; (ii) the creditor concerned or, in the case
of the person’s insolvency proceedings, any creditor, was prejudiced in its means of recovery as a consequence of the act;
and (iii) at the time the act was performed both the person and the counterparty to the transaction knew or should have
known that one or more of such person’s creditors (existing or future) would be prejudiced in their means of recovery,
unless the act was entered into for no consideration in which case such knowledge of the counterparty is not necessary
for a successful challenge on the grounds of fraudulent conveyance.

As a result of any such successful challenge, holders of the Notes may not benefit from the Notes Guarantees or
the security interests in the Collateral and the value of any consideration that holders of the Notes received with respect
to the security interests in the Collateral or the Notes Guarantees could also be subject to recovery, possibly, from
subsequent transferees. In addition, under such circumstances, holders of the Notes might be held liable for any damages
incurred by prejudiced creditors of the Issuer or the Guarantors, as applicable, as a result of the fraudulent conveyance.
See “Limitations on validity and enforceability of the notes guarantees and the security interests and certain insolvency
law considerations—France.”
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The insolvency and administrative laws of France may not be favorable to creditors, including investors in the Notes,
and may limit your ability to enforce your rights under the Notes, the Notes Guarantees or the security interests in the
Collateral.

The Notes will be issued by the Issuer and will be guaranteed by the Guarantors, each of which are organized
and existing under the laws of France. In the event of a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar event, proceedings could be
initiated in France. Proceedings could also be initiated in France to enforce your rights against Collateral located in
France. In general, French insolvency legislation favors the continuation of a business and protection of employment
over the payment of creditors. In the context of proceedings affecting creditors, including court-assisted proceedings
(mandat ad hoc proceedings or conciliation proceedings (procédure de conciliation)), and court-administered
proceedings (safeguard proceedings (sauvegarde, sauvegarde accélérée or sauvegarde financiere accélérée), judicial
reorganization proceedings (redressement judiciaire) or judicial liquidation proceedings (liquidation judiciaire)), the
ability of holders of the Notes to enforce their rights under the Notes or the Notes Guarantees could be limited or
suspended. See “Limitations on validity and enforceability of the notes guarantees and the security interests and certain
insolvency law considerations—France.”

In addition, under French law, enforcement of a security interest in the Collateral provided by the Issuer or the
Guarantors, as the case may be, may be adversely affected by specific or general defenses available to debtors under
French law, as the case may be, in respect of the validity, binding effect and enforceability of such security interest.

In addition, the bankruptcy, insolvency, administrative and other laws of the Issuer and the Guarantors’ may be
materially different from, or in conflict with, those of the United States, including in the areas of rights of creditors,
priority of governmental and other creditors, the ability to obtain post-commencement interest and duration of the
proceedings. The application of these laws, or any conflict among them, could call into question whether any particular
jurisdiction’s law should apply, adversely affect your ability to enforce your rights under the Notes, the Notes Guarantees
and the Collateral in those jurisdictions or limit any amounts that you may receive.

For more information regarding insolvency laws and enforceability issues as they relate to the Issuer, the Notes
Guarantees and security interests in the Collateral, see “Limitations on validity and enforceability of the notes guarantees
and the security interests and certain insolvency law considerations.”

Investors may not be able to recover in civil proceedings for U.S. securities law violations.

The Issuer and the Guarantors are organized outside the United States, and their business is conducted entirely
outside the United States. All of the directors and executive officers of the Issuer and the Guarantors are nonresidents of
the United States. Although the Issuer and the Guarantors will submit to the jurisdiction of certain New York courts in
connection with any action under U.S. securities laws, you may be unable to effect service of process in the United States
on the directors and executive officers of the Issuer and the Guarantors, and you may be unable to enforce against them
judgments obtained in U.S. courts. Moreover, as most of our assets and those of our directors and executive officers are
located outside of the United States, actions of the Issuer and the Guarantors may not be subject to the civil liability
provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States. However, it may be possible for investors to effect service
of process in France upon those persons or entities, provided that The Hague Convention on the Service Abroad of
Judicial and Extrajudicial Documents in Civil or Commercial Matters of November 15, 1965 is complied with.

The United States is not currently bound by a treaty providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of
judgments, other than arbitral awards, rendered in civil and commercial matters with France. There is, therefore, doubt as
to the enforceability in France of civil liabilities based upon U.S. securities laws in an action to enforce a U.S. judgment
in France. In addition, the enforcement in France of any judgment obtained in a U.S. court based on civil liabilities,
whether or not predicated solely upon U.S. federal securities laws, will be subject to certain conditions. There is also
doubt that a French court would have the requisite power or authority to grant remedies sought in an original action
brought in France on the basis of U.S. securities laws violations. For further information, see “Service of process and
enforcement of civil liabilities”.

Creditors under the New Revolving Credit Facility and counterparties to certain hedging obligations and future
indebtedness permitted to be incurred under the terms of the Indenture and the New Intercreditor Agreement to rank
pari passu with the New Revolving Credit Facility are entitled to be repaid with recoveries from the proceeds from the
enforcement of the Collateral in priority over the Notes.

The New Intercreditor Agreement includes provisions governing the sharing of recoveries from proceeds from
enforcement of the Collateral. Such recoveries and enforcement proceeds are required to be turned over to the Security
Agent after certain events, including the acceleration of the Notes or the New Revolving Credit Facility. The Security
Agent is required to pay turned-over amounts and other recoveries by the Security Agent from enforcement actions to
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discharge obligations under the New Revolving Credit Facility or certain hedging obligations and future indebtedness in
priority to paying any such amounts to discharge the Notes. As such, in the event of a foreclosure of the Collateral, you
may not benefit from such recoveries if the then outstanding claims under the New Revolving Credit Facility or certain
hedging obligations and future indebtedness are greater than the proceeds recovered. Any proceeds remaining from an
enforcement sale of Collateral will, after all obligations under the New Revolving Credit Facility and such hedging
obligations and, if applicable, future Indebtedness that ranks pari passu with the New Revolving Credit Facility have
been discharged, be applied pro rata in repayment of the Notes.

The granting of the security interests in the Collateral may create hardening periods for such security interests in
accordance with the law applicable in France.

The granting of new security interests in connection with Notes previously issued may create hardening periods
(période suspecte) (a specific period preceding the court decision opening judicial reorganization or liquidation
proceedings) for such security interests in France. The applicable hardening period for these new security interests will
run from the moment each new security interest has been granted, perfected or recreated. In addition, the Indenture will
permit the security interests in the Collateral to be released and retaken in certain circumstances. Such release and
retaking will restart the applicable hardening periods. Moreover, the granting of a shared security interest to secure future
indebtedness may restart or reopen hardening periods in France. The applicable hardening period may run from the
moment such new security is amended, granted or perfected. In each case, if the security interest granted, perfected or
recreated were to be enforced before the end of the respective hardening period applicable in such jurisdiction, it may be
declared void and/or it may not be possible to enforce it.

In the event any Permitted Reorganization is completed as described under “Description of the notes,” new
hardening periods may be created in respect of security interests that are granted, perfected or recreated in connection
with such Permitted Reorganization, and the security interests would be subject to the same risks described in the
preceding paragraph. The applicable hardening period may run from the moment such new security is amended,
transferred, assigned, granted or perfected.

See “Limitations on validity and enforceability of the notes guarantees and the security interests and certain
insolvency law considerations—France.”

The principal amount of the Proceeds Loans forming part of the Collateral may be less than anticipated as a result of
prepayments of such loans prior to the maturity date of the Notes.

The issuer entered into the Existing Proceeds Loan as part of the 2018 Transactions and, on or about the Issue
Date, the Issuer will enter into the New Proceeds Loan. The receivables relating to the Proceeds Loans will form part of
the Collateral and the receivables thereunder will be pledged to secure the Notes. Although the Intercreditor Agreement
will restrict our ability to make repayments prior to the maturity date of the Notes of amounts due under the Proceeds
Loans, we will be permitted in certain circumstances to make such payments. Any repayments prior to the maturity date
of the Notes would result in a reduction in the principal amount of the Proceeds Loans, and any reduction in the principal
amount of the Proceeds Loans could reduce the value of your security on the receivables and the value of the guarantee
provided by the obligor under the Proceeds Loans.

You may be required to pay a “soulte” in the event you decide to enforce a pledge over the securities account by
judicial or contractual foreclosure of the Collateral consisting of securities rather than by a sale of such Collateral in
a public auction.

Security interests governed by French law may only secure payment obligations, may only be enforced
following a payment default and may only secure up to the secured amount that is due and remaining unpaid. Under
French law, pledges over assets may generally be enforced at the option of the secured creditors either (i) pursuant to a
judicial process (x) by way of a sale of the pledged assets in a public auction (the proceeds of the sale being paid to the
secured creditors) or (y) by way of the judicial foreclosure (attribution judiciaire) of the pledged assets or (ii) by way of
contractual foreclosure (pacte commissoire) of the pledged assets to the secured creditors, following which the secured
creditors become the legal owner of the pledged assets. If the secured creditors choose to enforce by way of foreclosure
(whether a judicial foreclosure or private foreclosure), the secured liabilities would be deemed extinguished up to the
value of the foreclosed attributed assets. Such value is determined either by the judge in the context of a judicial
attribution (attribution judiciaire) or by an expert pre-contractually agreed or appointed by a judge in the context of a
private attribution (pacte commissoire). In a proceeding regarding an attribution judiciaire or a pacte commissoire, an
expert is appointed to value the collateral (in this case, the securities) and if the value of the collateral exceeds the amount
of secured debt, the secured creditor may be required to pay the pledgor a soulte equal to the difference between the
value of the securities as so determined and the amount of the secured debt. This is true regardless of the actual amount
of proceeds ultimately received by the secured creditor from a subsequent sale of the Collateral.
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If the value of such securities is less than the amount of the secured debt, the relevant amount owed to the
relevant creditors will be reduced by an amount equal to the value of such securities, and the remaining amount owed to
such creditors will be unsecured.

An enforcement of the pledged securities could be undertaken through a public auction in accordance with
applicable law. Since such public auction procedures are not designed for a sale of a business as a going concern,
however, it is possible that the sale price received in any such auction might not reflect the value of our business as a
going concern. See “Limitations on validity and enforceability of the notes guarantees and the security interests and
certain insolvency law considerations—France.”

It may be difficult to realize the value of the Collateral securing the Notes.

The Collateral securing the Notes will be subject to any and all exceptions, defects, encumbrances, liens and
other imperfections permitted under the Indenture or the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement and the ability of the
Security Agent to enforce certain of the Collateral may be restricted by the Intercreditor Agreement and accepted by
other creditors that have the benefit of first-ranking security interests in the Collateral securing the Notes from time to
time, whether on or after the Issue Date. The existence of any such exceptions, defects, encumbrances, liens and other
imperfections could adversely affect the value of the Collateral, as well as the ability of the Security Agent to realize or
foreclose on such Collateral. Furthermore, the ranking of security interests can be affected by a variety of factors,
including, among others, the timely satisfaction of perfection requirements, statutory liens or re-characterization under
the laws of certain jurisdictions.

The ability of the Security Agent to enforce on the Collateral located in a particular jurisdiction or governed by
the law of a particular jurisdiction is subject to mandatory provisions of the law of such jurisdiction. Enforcement of the
Collateral may also be subject to certain statutory limitations and defences or to limitations contained in the terms of the
Security Documents designed to ensure compliance with applicable statutory requirements.

In addition, the security interests of the Security Agent will be subject to practical problems generally associated
with the realization of security interests over real or personal property such as the Collateral. For example, the Security
Agent may need to obtain the consent of a third party, including that of competent regulatory authorities or courts, to
enforce a security interest. There can be no assurances that the Security Agent will be able to obtain any such consents.
We also cannot assure you that the consents of any third parties will be given when required to facilitate a foreclosure on
such assets. Accordingly, the Security Agent may not have the ability to foreclose upon those assets, and the value of the
Collateral may significantly decrease.

Holders of the Notes may not control certain decisions regarding the Collateral.

To the extent permitted under applicable law, and subject to the Agreed Security Principles, the Notes will be
secured on a first-priority basis by substantially the same rights, property and assets securing the obligations under the
New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement. In addition, under the terms of the Indenture, we will be permitted to incur
significant additional indebtedness and other obligations that may be secured by the same Collateral.

Pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement and the Indenture, the Security Agent will serve as the common security
agent for the secured parties under the New Revolving Credit Facility, the Notes and the hedging obligations (if any),
respectively, with regard to the shared Collateral (as applicable). The Intercreditor Agreement will provide that the
Security Agent will, subject to certain limited exceptions, act to enforce the security interests in the Collateral and take
instructions from the relevant secured creditors in respect of the Collateral only at the direction of an “instructing group.”

Subject to certain exceptions described below and in further detail in the section entitled “Description of certain
financing arrangements—Intercreditor agreement,” among other things, the “majority pari passu creditors” (generally,
creditors representing the simple majority of, among other things, the outstanding principal amount under the Notes and
any pari passu secured indebtedness) will constitute an instructing group and will have the right to instruct the Security
Agent as to the enforcement of the Collateral, provided that such instructions are consistent with the “enforcement
principles” set forth in the Intercreditor Agreement. If, however:

« the majority pari passu creditors have not either: (i) made a determination as to the method of enforcement
and notified the Security Agent of that determination or (ii) appointed a financial adviser to assist them in
making such a determination, in each case, within three months of the date on which an instructing group
delivers a copy of their proposed enforcement instructions (the “initial notice”); or
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»  the “super senior discharge date” (as described in the section below entitled “Description of certain
financing arrangements—Intercreditor agreement”) has not occurred within six months of the date of the
initial notice; or

« aninsolvency event is continuing with respect to a member of the Group; or

»  the majority pari passu creditors have not either: (i) made a determination as to the method of enforcement
and notified the Security Agent of that determination or (ii) appointed a financial adviser to assist them in
making a determination, and the “majority super senior creditors” (as described below): (a) determine in
good faith that a delay in issuing enforcement instructions could have a material adverse effect on the
ability to effect a distressed disposal or on the expected realization proceeds of any enforcement and
(b) deliver enforcement instructions they believe to be consistent with the enforcement principles before the
Security Agent has received instructions from the majority pari passu creditors,

then the Security Agent will, instead follow the instructions that are subsequently given by the “majority super
senior creditors” (generally, creditors representing more than 66.67% of the aggregate of all unpaid and undrawn
commitments under the New Revolving Credit Facility and the termination value or assumed termination value of certain
hedging liabilities), provided that such instructions are consistent with the “enforcement principles” set forth in the
Intercreditor Agreement. See “Description of certain financing arrangements—Intercreditor agreement.”

The foregoing security enforcement arrangements could be disadvantageous to the holders of the Notes in a
number of respects. Disputes may occur between the holders of the Note and creditors under our New Revolving Credit
Facility, counterparties to certain hedging obligations, if any, and/or holders of any permitted pari passu secured
indebtedness as to the appropriate manner of pursuing enforcement remedies and strategies with respect to the Collateral
securing such obligations. In such an event, the holders of the Notes will be bound by any decisions of the relevant
instructing group, which may result in enforcement action in respect of the relevant Collateral, whether or not such action
is approved by the holders of the Notes or may be adverse to such holders of the Notes. The creditors under the New
Revolving Credit Facility, counterparties to certain hedging obligations, if any, the holders of any permitted pari passu
secured indebtedness and may have interests that are different from the interest of holders of the Notes and they may
elect to pursue their remedies under the relevant Security Documents at a time when it would otherwise be
disadvantageous for the holders of the Notes to do so.

Other creditors not party to the Intercreditor Agreement could commence enforcement action against the Issuer
or one or more of its subsidiaries, the Issuer or one or more of its subsidiaries could seek protection under applicable
bankruptcy laws, or the value of certain Collateral could otherwise be impaired or reduced in value. In addition, if we
incur substantial additional indebtedness which may be secured by the Collateral, the holders of the Notes may not
comprise the requisite majority creditors for the purposes of instructing the Security Agent. Further, if the super senior
creditors have not been repaid in full within six months of the date of the proposed enforcement instructions or in the
event of the occurrence of certain other circumstances described above, then control of the enforcement proceedings will
shift to the majority super senior creditors.

The holders of the Notes also have no separate right to enforce the Collateral securing the Notes. In addition, the
holders of the Notes will not be able to instruct the Security Agent, force a sale of Collateral or otherwise independently
pursue the remedies of a secured creditor under the relevant Security Documents, unless they comprise an instructing
group which is entitled to give such instructions, which, in turn, will depend on certain conditions and circumstances
including those described above.

The Issuer and the Guarantors will have control over the Collateral securing the Notes, and the sale of particular
assets could reduce the pool of assets securing the Notes.

The Security Documents, subject to the terms of the Indenture and the New Revolving Credit Facility
Agreement, will allow the Issuer and the Guarantors to remain in possession of, retain exclusive control over, freely
operate, and collect, invest and dispose of any income from the Collateral securing the Notes to the extent that it relates
to their assets. So long as no enforcement event has occurred, the Issuer and the Guarantors may, among other things,
without any release or consent by the Security Agent, conduct ordinary course activities with respect to the Collateral,
such as selling, factoring, abandoning or otherwise disposing of the Collateral and making ordinary course cash
payments, including repayments of indebtedness. Any of these activities could reduce the value of the Collateral, which
could reduce the amounts payable to you from the proceeds of any sale of the Collateral in the case of an enforcement of
the liens on the Collateral.
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The value of the Collateral securing the Notes may not be sufficient to satisfy our obligations under the Notes and
such Collateral may be reduced or diluted under certain circumstances.

For a description of the security over the Collateral, see “Description of the notes—Security.” In the event of an
enforcement of the pledges in respect of the Notes, the proceeds from the sale of the assets underlying the pledges may
not be sufficient to satisfy the Issuer’s obligations with respect to the Notes. No appraisal of the value of the Collateral
has been made in connection with this Offering. The value of the assets underlying the pledges will also depend on many
factors, including, among others, whether or not the business is sold as a going concern, the ability to sell the assets in an
orderly sale, the condition of the economies in which operations are located, the availability of buyers and whether
approvals required to purchase the business would be available to a buyer of the assets. In addition, the Intercreditor
Agreement will provide that, in the event of any distribution of the proceeds from the sale of certain Collateral, the
lenders under the New Revolving Credit Facility, certain hedging obligations and certain future indebtedness will be
entitled to receive from such distribution payment in full in cash before the holders of the pledges securing the Notes will
be entitled to receive any payment from such distribution with respect to the Notes.

The shares and other Collateral that are pledged or assigned for the benefit of the holders of the Notes may
provide for only limited repayment of the Notes, in part because most of these shares or other assets may not be liquid
and their value to other parties may be less than their value to us. Likewise, there can be no assurances that the Collateral
will be salable or, if salable, that there will not be substantial delays in the liquidation thereof. Most of our assets will not
secure the Notes, and it is possible that the value of the Collateral will not be sufficient to cover the amount of
indebtedness secured by such Collateral. As a result, the creditors secured by a pledge of the shares may not recover
anything of value in the case of an enforcement sale. In addition, the value of this Collateral may decline over time.

The Indenture will also permit the granting of certain liens other than those in favor of the holders of the Notes
on the Collateral. To the extent that holders of other secured indebtedness or third parties have liens on the Collateral,
including statutory liens, whether or not permitted by the Indenture or the Security Documents, such holders or third
parties may have rights and remedies with respect to the Collateral which, if exercised, could reduce the proceeds
available to satisfy our obligations under the Notes. Moreover, if we issue additional notes under the Indenture, holders
of such additional notes would benefit from the same collateral as the holders of the Notes being offered hereby, thereby
diluting your ability to benefit from the liens on the Collateral. Although we will be subject, under the Indenture, to
certain restrictions on our ability to incur additional indebtedness that will be secured by the Collateral, including a
Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined and described under “Description of the notes—Certain covenants—Limitation
on indebtedness™), the definition of “Indebtedness” (as defined under “Description of the notes”) for purposes of
calculating the Consolidated Net Leverage Ratio contains certain important exceptions and carve-outs.

The security over the Collateral will not be granted directly to the holders of the Notes.

The Indenture and the New Intercreditor Agreement will provide that only the Security Agent as security agent,
trustee and Parallel Debt (as defined below) creditor has the right to enforce the Security Documents. As a consequence,
holders of the Notes will not have direct security interests and will not be entitled to take enforcement action in respect of
the Collateral securing the Notes, except through the Trustee under the Indenture, who will (subject to the provisions of
the Indenture) provide instructions to the Security Agent in respect of the Collateral.

Under French law, prior to a recent reform of the security agent regime, as described below, certain “accessory”
security interests such as rights of pledge require that the pledgee of a French law security interest and the creditor of the
claim secured by such security interest are the same person. Such security interests cannot be held on behalf of third
parties who do not hold the secured claim, unless they act as fiduciary (fiduciaire) under Article 2011 of the French Civil
Code or as security agent (agent des sdretés) under Article 2488-6 et seq. of the French Code Civil (as modified by
Ordinance n°2017-748 of May 4, 2017, which came into force on October 1, 2017. The beneficial holders of interests in
the Notes from time to time will not be parties to the Security Documents. In order to permit the beneficial holders of the
Notes to benefit from a secured claim, the New Intercreditor Agreement will provide for the creation of “parallel debt”
obligations in favor of the Security Agent (the “Parallel Debt”) mirroring the obligations of the Issuer and the
Guarantors (as principal obligors) towards the holders of the Notes under or in connection with the Indenture (the
“Principal Obligations”). The Parallel Debt will at all times be in the same amount and payable at the same time as the
Principal Obligations. Any payment in respect of the Principal Obligations shall discharge the corresponding Parallel
Debt and any payment in respect of the Parallel Debt shall discharge the corresponding Principal Obligations. Pursuant to
the Parallel Debt, the Security Agent becomes the holder of a claim equal to each amount payable by an obligor under the
Notes. The pledges governed by French law will directly secure the Parallel Debt, and may not directly secure the
obligations under the Notes and the other indebtedness secured by the Collateral. The holders of the Notes will not be
entitled to take enforcement actions in respect of such security interests except through the Security Agent (even if they
are in some instances direct beneficiaries of the security interests in the Collateral).
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None of the Parallel Debt and trust mechanism constructs have been generally recognized by French courts and
to the extent that the Notes or security interests in the Collateral created under the Parallel Debt and/or trust constructs
are successfully challenged by other parties, holders of the Notes may not receive on this basis any proceeds from an
enforcement of the Notes Guarantees or security interests in the Collateral. The holders of the Notes will bear the risks
associated with the possible insolvency or bankruptcy of the Security Agent as the creditor of the Parallel Debt.

There is one published decision of the French Supreme Court (Cour de cassation) on Parallel Debt mechanisms
(Cass. com. September 13, 2011 n°10-25533 Belvedere) relating to a bond documentation governed by New York law.
Such a decision recognized the enforceability in France of certain rights (especially the filing of claims in safeguard
proceedings) of a security agent benefiting from a Parallel Debt. In particular, the French Supreme Court upheld the
proof of claim of the legal holders of a Parallel Debt claim, considering that it did not contravene French international
public policy (ordre public international) rules. The ruling was made on the basis that the French debtor was not exposed
to double payment or artificial liability as a result of the Parallel Debt mechanism. Although this court decision is
generally viewed by legal practitioners and academics as a recognition by French courts of Parallel Debt structures in
such circumstances, there can be no assurance that such a structure will be effective in all cases before French courts.
Indeed, it should be noted that the legal issue addressed by it is limited to the proof of claims. The French court was not
asked to generally uphold French security interests securing a Parallel Debt. It is also fair to say that case law on this
matter is scarce and based on a case-by-case analysis. Such a decision should not be considered as a general recognition
of the enforceability in France of the rights of a security agent benefiting from a Parallel Debt claim. There is no certainty
that the Parallel Debt construction will eliminate the risk of unenforceability under French law.

To the extent that the security interests in the Collateral created for the benefit of the Security Agent as creditor
under the Parallel Debt construction are successfully challenged by other parties, holders of the Notes will not be entitled
to receive on this basis any proceeds from an enforcement of the security interests in the Collateral. In addition, the
holders of the Notes will bear the risks associated with the possible insolvency or bankruptcy of the Security Agent as the
beneficiary of the Parallel Debt.

The concept of “trust” has been recognized by the French Tax Code and the French Supreme Court (Cour de
cassation), which has held, in the same published decision referred to above (Cass. com. September 13, 2011 n°10-25533
Belvedere) that a trustee validly appointed under a trust governed by the laws of the State of New York could validly be
regarded as a creditor in safeguard proceedings opened in France. However, while substantial comfort may be derived
from the above, France has not ratified the Hague Convention of July 1, 1985 on the law applicable to trusts and on their
recognition (the “Trust Convention”), and two réponses ministérielles dated January 24, 2008 and January 8, 2009
indicated its reluctance to do so to avoid conflicts between the “trust” and the French fiducie, so that the concept of
“trust” has not been generally recognized under French law. See “Limitations on validity and enforceability of the notes
guarantees and the security interests and certain insolvency law considerations—France.”

The Notes will be secured only to the extent of the value of the assets that have been granted as security for the Notes.

If there is an event of default in the Notes, the holders of the Notes will be secured only to the extent of the
value of the assets that have been granted as security for the Notes. In addition, in the future, the obligations to provide
additional guarantees and grant additional security over assets, whether as a result of the creation of future assets or
subsidiaries or otherwise, are, in certain circumstances, linked to our obligations under the New Revolving Credit Facility
Agreement, subject to certain agreed security principles. To the extent that lenders under the New Revolving Credit
Facility Agreement are granted security, the negative pledge in the Indenture may require, subject to local law
limitations, such security to also be granted for the benefit of holders of the Notes. The Agreed Security Principles set
forth in the Indenture will contain a number of limitations on the rights of the lenders to be granted security in certain
circumstances. The operation of the Agreed Security Principles may result in, among other things, the amount
recoverable under any Collateral provided being limited or security not being granted or perfected over a particular type
or class of assets. Accordingly, the Agreed Security Principles may affect the value of the security provided by the Issuer
and the Guarantors.

To the extent that the claims of the holders of the Notes exceed the value of the assets securing those Notes and
other obligations, those claims will rank equally with the claims of the holders of all other existing and future senior
unsecured indebtedness ranking pari passu with the Notes. As a result, if the value of the assets pledged as security for
the Notes is less than the value of the claims of the holders of the Notes, those claims may not be satisfied in full before
the claims of certain unsecured creditors are paid.

Investors’ rights in the Collateral may be adversely affected by the failure to perfect security interests in the
Collateral.

Applicable law may require that a security interest in certain assets can only be properly perfected and its
priority retained through certain actions undertaken by us or the secured party or the grantor of the security. The liens on
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the Collateral securing the Notes and the Notes Guarantees may not be perfected with respect to the claims of the Notes
and the Notes Guarantees if we, or the Security Agent, fail or are unable to take the actions required to perfect any of
these liens. Such failure may result in the invalidity of the relevant security interest in the Collateral securing the Notes or
adversely affect the priority of such security interest in favor of the Notes against third parties, including a trustee in
bankruptcy and other creditors who claim a security interest in the same Collateral. In addition, applicable law may
require that certain property and rights acquired after the grant of a general security interest can only be perfected at the
time such property and rights are acquired and identified. There can be no assurance that the Security Agent will monitor,
or that we will inform the Security Agent of, the future acquisition of property and rights that constitute Collateral, and
that the necessary action will be taken to properly perfect the security interest in such after-acquired collateral. Neither
the Trustee nor the Security Agent has any obligation to monitor the acquisition of additional property or rights that
constitute Collateral or to perfect of any security interest. Such failure may result in the loss of the security interest in the
Collateral or the priority of the security interest in favor of the Notes and the Notes Guarantees against third parties.

Additionally, the Indenture and the Security Documents entered into in connection with the Notes will not
require us to take a number of actions that might improve the perfection or priority of the security interests of the
Security Agent in the Collateral. To the extent that the security interests created by the Security Documents with respect
to any Collateral are not perfected, the Security Agent’s rights will be equal to the rights of general unsecured creditors in
the event of a liquidation, foreclosure, bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceeding.

There are circumstances other than repayment or discharge of the Notes under which the Collateral securing the
Notes and the Notes Guarantees will be released automatically and under which the Notes Guarantees will be released
automatically, without your consent or the consent of the Trustee.

Under various circumstances, the Collateral securing the Notes and the Notes Guarantees will be released
automatically as described under “Description of the notes—Security—Release of liens”, including:

» inconnection with any sale or disposition of such property or assets to (a) any person that is not the Issuer
or a Restricted Subsidiary (as defined under “Description of the notes”) either before or after giving effect
to such transaction, if such sale or other disposition does not violate the covenant described under
“Description of the notes—Certain covenants—Limitation on sales of assets and subsidiary stock” or
(b) the Issuer or any Guarantor; provided that such transfer is otherwise in compliance with the Indenture
and, immediately following such sale or disposition, a lien of at least equivalent ranking over the same
assets or property exists or is granted in favor of the Security Agent (on its own behalf and on behalf of the
Trustee for the holders);

« in connection with the release of a Guarantor from its Notes Guarantees pursuant to the terms of the
Indenture, the release of the property and assets, and capital stock, of such Guarantor;

»  if'the Issuer designates any Restricted Subsidiary (as defined under “Description of the notes”) to be an
Unrestricted Subsidiary (as defined under “Description of the notes™) in accordance with the applicable
provisions of the Indenture, the release of the property, assets and Capital Stock of such Unrestricted
Subsidiary (as defined under “Description of the notes”);

« upon legal defeasance, covenant defeasance or satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture, as provided in
“Description of the notes—Defeasance” and “Description of the notes—Satisfaction and discharge”;

» in compliance with the provisions of the Intercreditor Agreement or any additional intercreditor agreement
relating to disposals of assets subject to security (see “Description of certain financing arrangements—
Intercreditor agreement”);

* (i) in accordance with “Description of the notes—Amendments and waivers,” (ii) in accordance with the
covenant described under “Description of the notes—Certain covenants—Impairment of security interest”
and (iii) in accordance with the second paragraph under the covenant described under “Description of the
notes—Certain covenants—Limitation on liens” so long as immediately after the release there is no other
indebtedness secured by a lien on the property or assets that was the subject of the initial lien that would
result in the requirement for the Notes and the Notes Guarantees to be secured equally and ratably with, or
prior to, such lien;

* inorder to effectuate a Permitted Reorganization (as defined under “Description of the notes”) or a merger,
consolidation, conveyance or transfer conducted in compliance with covenant described under the
“Description of the notes—Certain covenants—Merger and consolidation”; provided that following such
Permitted Reorganization or merger, consolidation, conveyance or transfer, a lien of at least equivalent
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ranking over the same assets or property is granted in favor of the Security Agent (on its own behalf and on
behalf of the Trustee for the holders) to the extent such assets or property continue to exist as assets or
property of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary;

« upon the full and final payment and performance of all obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantors under
the Indenture and the Notes; or

»  as otherwise permitted in accordance with the Indenture.

Under various circumstances, the Notes Guarantees of the Guarantors (and any future Notes Guarantee granted
subsequent to the Issue Date) will be released automatically as described under “Description of the notes—Notes
guarantees—Releases”, including:

» upon a sale or other disposition (including by way of merger, consolidation, amalgamation or combination)
of capital stock of the relevant Guarantor (whether by direct sale or sale of a holding company of such
Guarantor) to a Person that is not (either before or after giving effect to such transaction) the Issuer or a
Restricted Subsidiary (as defined under “Description of the notes™), if the sale or other disposition does not
violate the covenant described under “Description of the notes—Certain covenants—Limitation on sales of
assets and subsidiary stock” and such that the relevant Guarantor no longer remains a Restricted
Subsidiary;

» in connection with any sale, disposition, exchange or other transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of
such Guarantor (including by way of merger, consolidation, amalgamation or combination) to a person that
is not (either before or after giving effect to such transaction) the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary, if the
sale or other disposition does not violate the covenant described under “Description of the notes—Certain
covenants—Limitation on sales of assets and subsidiary stock”;

« upon the designation in accordance with the Indenture of such Guarantor as an Unrestricted Subsidiary;

« upon legal defeasance, covenant defeasance or satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture, as provided in
“Description of the notes—Defeasance” and “Description of the notes—Satisfaction and discharge”;

« inaccordance with the provisions of the Intercreditor Agreement or an additional intercreditor agreement
relating to the release of Notes Guarantees on an enforcement sale or other disposal of such Guarantor;

»  as described under “Description of the notes—Amendments and waivers”;

»  with respect to a future Notes Guarantee given under the covenant described below “Description of the
notes—Certain covenants—Additional notes guarantees,” upon release of the relevant Notes Guarantee that
gave rise to the requirement to issue such future Notes Guarantee so long as no event of default would arise
as a result and no other indebtedness that would give rise to an obligation to give a future Notes Guarantee
is at that time guaranteed by the relevant Guarantor;

« with respect to any Guarantor which is not the continuing or surviving person in the relevant consolidation
or merger, as a result of a Permitted Reorganization or a transaction permitted by the covenant described
under “Description of the notes—Certain covenants—Merger and consolidation—The guarantors” and the
Indenture;

« upon the full and final payment and performance of all obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantors under
the Indenture and the Notes; or

« as otherwise permitted in accordance with the Indenture.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks, are not recommendations to buy or hold securities and may be subject to
revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time.

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings may not
reflect the potential impact of all risks related to the structure, market, additional risk factors discussed above and other
factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and
may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal by the rating agency at any time. No assurance can be given that a
credit rating will remain constant for any given period of time or that a credit rating will not be lowered or withdrawn
entirely by the credit rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances in the future so warrant. A suspension, reduction or

56



withdrawal at any time of the credit rating assigned to the Notes by one or more of the credit rating agencies may
adversely affect the cost, terms and conditions of our financings and could adversely affect the value and trading of the
Notes.

Transfer of the Notes will be restricted, which may adversely affect the value of the Notes.

Because the Notes and the Notes Guarantees have not or will not have been, and are not required to be,
registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction, they may not be offered or sold in the
United States except to QIBs in accordance with Rule 144A, in offshore transactions in accordance with Regulation S or
pursuant to another exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act
and all other applicable laws. These restrictions may limit the ability of investors to resell the Notes. It is the obligation of
investors in the Notes to ensure that all offers and sales of the Notes in the United States and other countries comply with
applicable securities laws. For further information, see “Notice to investors.”

The Notes will initially be held in book-entry form and therefore investors must rely on the procedures of the relevant
clearing systems to exercise any rights and remedies.

The Notes will initially only be issued in global certificated form and held through Euroclear and Clearstream.

Interests in the Global Notes (as defined under “Book-entry, delivery and form”) will trade in book-entry form
only, and Notes in definitive registered form, or Definitive Registered Notes (as defined under “Book-entry, delivery and
form”), will be issued in exchange for book-entry interests only in very limited circumstances. Owners of book-entry
interests will not be considered owners or holders of Notes. The common depositary, or its nominee, for Euroclear and
Clearstream will be the sole registered holder of the Global Notes representing the Notes. Payments of principal, interest
and other amounts owing on or in respect of the Global Notes representing the Notes will be made to the Principal Paying
Agent, which will make payments to Euroclear and Clearstream. Thereafter, these payments will be credited to
participants’ accounts that hold book-entry interests in the global Notes representing the Notes and credited by such
participants to indirect participants. After payment to the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, the Issuer
will have no responsibility or liability for the payment of interest, principal or other amounts to the owners of book-entry
interests. Accordingly, if investors own a book-entry interest, they must rely on the procedures of Euroclear and
Clearstream, and if investors are not participants in Euroclear and Clearstream, they must rely on the procedures of the
participant through which they own their interest, to exercise any rights and obligations of a holder of Notes under the
Indenture.

Unlike the holders of the Notes themselves, owners of book-entry interests will not have the direct right to act
upon the Issuer’s solicitations for consents, requests for waivers or other actions from holders of the Notes. Instead, if an
investor owns a book-entry interest, they will be permitted to act only to the extent they have received appropriate
proxies to do so from Euroclear and Clearstream. The procedures implemented for the granting of such proxies may not
be sufficient to enable such investor to vote on a timely basis.

Similarly, upon the occurrence of an “Event of Default” under the Indenture, unless and until Definitive
Registered Notes are issued in respect of all book-entry interests, if investors own book-entry interests, they will be
restricted to acting through Euroclear and Clearstream. The procedures to be implemented through Euroclear and
Clearstream may not be adequate to ensure the timely exercise of rights under the Notes. See “Book-entry, delivery and
form.”

There may not be active trading markets for the Notes, in which case your ability to sell the Notes will be limited.

The Notes are new issues of securities for which there are currently no established trading markets. There can be
no assurances that:

» the liquidity of any markets in the Notes;
» your ability to sell your Notes; or
» the prices at which you would be able to sell your Notes.

Future trading prices of the Notes will depend on many factors, including, among others, prevailing interest
rates, our operating results and the markets for similar securities. The liquidity of the trading markets for the Notes may
be adversely affected by a general decline in the markets for similar securities. Historically, the markets for
non-investment-grade securities have been subject to disruptions that have caused substantial volatility in the prices of
securities similar to the Notes. Any such disruption may have a negative effect on you, as a holder of Notes, regardless of
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our prospects and financial performance. In addition, the Indenture will allow us to issue additional Notes in the future,
which could materially adversely impact the liquidity of the Notes. The Initial Purchasers have advised that they intend to
make markets in the Notes after completing this Offering. However, they have no obligation to do so and may
discontinue market-making activities at any time without notice. In addition, such market-making activity will be subject
to limitations imposed by the Securities Act and other applicable laws and regulations. As a result, there may not be any
active trading markets for the Notes. If no active trading markets develop, you may not be able to resell your Notes at a
fair value, if at all.

The Notes may not become, or remain, listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Although the Issuer will, in the Indenture, agree to use its commercially reasonable efforts to have the Notes
listed on the Securities Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange after the Issue Date and to maintain such listing
as long as the Notes are outstanding, the Issuer cannot assure you that the Notes will become, or remain listed. If the
Issuer cannot maintain the listing on the Securities Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or it becomes unduly
burdensome to make or maintain such listing, the Issuer may cease to make or maintain such listing on the Securities
Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, provided that they will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain
(prior to the delisting of the Notes, if applicable) and maintain the listing of the Notes on another stock exchange,
although there can be no assurance that the Issuer will be able to do so. Although no assurance can be made as to the
liquidity of the Notes as a result of listing on the Securities Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or another
recognized listing exchange for comparable issuers in accordance with the Indenture, failure to be approved for listing or
the delisting of the Notes from the Securities Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or another listing
exchange in accordance with the Indenture may have a material adverse effect on a holder’s ability to resell Notes in the
secondary market.

Certain covenants will be suspended if the Notes receive investment grade ratings.

The Indenture will provide that, at any time following the Issue Date, if the Notes receive an investment grade
rating (Baa3 or better by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., BBB— or better from Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group or
BBB-— or better from Fitch Ratings, Inc.) and no default or event of default has occurred and is continuing, then
beginning that day and continuing until such time as the Notes are no longer rated investment grade by at least two of the
foregoing ratings agencies, certain covenants will cease to be applicable to the Notes. See “Description of the notes—
Certain covenants—Suspension of covenants on achievement of investment grade status.” At any time when these
covenants are suspended, we will be able to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, pay cash dividends, sell
assets and redeem subordinated indebtedness without restriction, each of which may conflict with the interests of holders
of the Notes. There can be no assurance that the Notes will ever achieve an investment grade rating or that any such
rating will be maintained.

58



Use of proceeds

The aggregate gross proceeds of the Offering will be €860.0 million. We intend to use such proceeds to (i) repay
all amounts outstanding under our Existing Senior Facilities, (ii) pay costs, fees and expenses in connection with the
Transactions, including underwriting commissions and fees for legal, accounting, printing, ratings advisory and other
professional services and (iii) fund cash to the balance sheet.

Amounts included in the table below are based on estimated data as of the Issue Date and assume that the
Transactions will take place on the Issue Date. Actual amounts will vary from estimated amounts depending on several
factors, including the actual date on which the Transactions occur, differences from the estimates of outstanding amounts
of existing debt to be repaid on the Issue Date, the estimated amount of cash of the Issuer and its subsidiaries as of the
Issue Date, and differences between estimated and actual fees and expenses. Any increase in these amounts will be
funded with cash on the balance sheet. This table should be read in conjunction with “Capitalization.”

Sources of funds Uses of funds
(€ millions) (€ millions)
Notes offered hereby® .......... Repayment of the Existing
860.0 Senior Facilities?................... 820.0
Fees, costs and expenses®..... 8.0
Cash on balance sheet............ 32.0
Total Sources............cc.ceue.... 860.0 Total uses..........cc..coevvvevrennnn.. 860.0

@ Represents the gross proceeds of the Offering.

2 Represents the estimated amount of the prepayment in full of €820.0 million in aggregate principal amount
outstanding under the Existing Senior Facilities (excluding accrued interest and unpaid interest and fees), drawn
under the Existing Senior Term Loan as of September 30, 2019. The Existing Revolving Credit Facility was
undrawn as of September 30, 2019. The Existing Senior Term Loan bears interest at a rate per annum equal to
EURIBOR (with a 0% floor) plus an initial margin of 3.5% (subject to a margin ratchet based on the level of
leverage that is not currently applicable), payable at the end of each interest period (of one, three or six months),
and matures on February 15, 2025. The Existing Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at a rate per annum
equal to EURIBOR (with a 0% floor) (subject to a margin ratchet based on the level of leverage that is not
currently applicable) plus an initial margin of 3.5%, payable at the end of each interest period (of one, three or
six months), and matures on August 15, 2025.

3 Represents estimated fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Transactions, including
underwriting fees and commissions, professional fees and expenses and other transaction costs.
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Capitalization

The following table describes the cash and cash equivalents and capitalization as of September 30, 2019 of the
Group (i) on a historical basis and (ii) as adjusted to give effect to the consummation of the Transactions and the
application of proceeds from the Offering as described in “Use of proceeds,” as if each had occurred on September 30,
2019. Actual amounts will vary from estimated amounts depending on several factors, including differences from the
estimates of outstanding amounts of existing indebtedness to be repaid on the Issue Date, the estimated amount of cash of
the Issuer and its subsidiaries as of the Issue Date, as well as the differences between estimated and actual fees and
eXpenses.

You should read this table in conjunction with “Summary—The transactions,” “Use of proceeds,” “Summary
historical consolidated financial and other data,” “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and
results of operations,” “Description of certain financing arrangements” and the Financial Statements and accompanying
notes appearing elsewhere in this offering memorandum. Except as set forth below, there have been no other material
changes to our capitalization since September 30, 2019. The as adjusted information below is illustrative only and does
not purport to be indicative of what our actual capitalization will be following the consummation of the Transactions.

As of September 30, 2019

(€ millions) Actual As adjusted
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTSD ..ot 39.9 71.9
Debt®

EXisting Senior FACHIIES®).........c.ciiiiicececee ettt 820.0 —
NOtes OFfEred NBrEDYM™ .........cvceeeee ettt et — 860.0
New Revolving Credit FACIlity®).........cccvvvvivieieceee ettt — —
FINANCE 1BASESO).........oviicviciee et 223.7 223.7
Total Senior SECUred deDT.........c.ooii e 1,043.7 1,083.7
ONEE GBI ...ttt bbb bbb 43.3 43.3
Total third-party financial debt ... 1,087.0 1,127.0
Subordinated shareholder fUNAING®)...........cciieviiiieieee e, 190.0 190.0
TOTAI BOUITY ....cvvvviieeece ettt ettt bbbt bbb es sttt et bt s e st bbb nans 513.5 513.59
Total CAPITAIIZATION. ... ottt bbb e st en e nr e b e sbesnesre e 1,790.5 1,830.5
(1) As adjusted estimated cash and cash equivalents reflects €32.0 million of cash funded to the Issuer’s balance

sheet in connection with the Transactions. See “Use of proceeds.”

2 All debt is presented at its aggregate principal amount, and does not reflect capitalized debt issuance costs or
accrued interest expense.

3) We expect to use a portion of the proceeds of the Offering to repay all amounts drawn under, and cancel, the
Existing Senior Facilities. See “Use of proceeds.”

4) Represents the principal amount of the Notes offered hereby.

(5) The New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement permits the incurrence of up to €120.0 million of revolving
credit borrowings on a committed basis. The obligations of the borrowers under the New Revolving Credit
Facility Agreement will be guaranteed by the Guarantors and will be secured by first-priority security interests
in the Collateral. Pursuant to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement, creditors under the New Revolving
Credit Facility Agreement and certain hedging obligations, if any, will have the right to receive priority with
respect to proceeds from enforcement of security over the Collateral. Any remaining proceeds received upon
any enforcement action over any Collateral will be applied pro rata to the repayment of all obligations under the
Indenture and any other senior secured indebtedness of the Issuer and the Guarantors permitted to be incurred
and secured by the Collateral in accordance with the Indenture and pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement. See
“Description of certain financing arrangements—New revolving credit facility agreement” and “Description of
certain financing arrangements—Intercreditor agreement.” We do not expect there to be any drawings under
the New Revolving Credit Facility on the Issue Date.

(6) Our finance leases are secured by liens over equipment in our fleet and generally have maturities of five years.
Of the amounts drawn under finance leases as of September 30, 2019, €213.0 million was owed by the
Guarantors and €10.7 million was owed by our other subsidiaries.

@) Other debt consists of €1.2 million of accrued interest on debt, €41.5 million of bilateral credit facilities, €
0.3 million of bank overdraft and €0.3 million of other financial debt.
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(8)

©)

On February 15, 2018, in connection with the Kiloutou Acquisition, the Issuer issued convertible bonds to
certain of its shareholders for an original principal amount of €165.0 million. These convertible bonds bear
interest at a rate of 9.09% per annum, payable in kind. The convertible bonds are unsecured, and will be
subordinated to the Notes and the Notes Guarantees pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement. As of

September 30, 2019, we had €190.0 million outstanding under the convertible bonds, which comprises the
principal amount thereof and accrued interest of €25.0 million, and excludes the effect of capitalized debt issue
costs.

Does not reflect adjustments to take into account the cancellation of debt issuance costs that result from the
repayment and cancellation of the Existing Senior Facilities.
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Selected historical financial information

The tables below set forth certain selected consolidated financial information of the Group as of and for the
years ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 and the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2019. For further
information on the comparability of our financial statements, see “Presentation of financial and other information—
Overview—Comparability of financial statements.”

The historical consolidated financial information contained in the following tables is derived from our Financial
Statements, prepared in accordance with French GAAP.

The illustrative pro forma financial information contained in the following tables is derived from:

» the condensed consolidated illustrative pro forma income statement of the Issuer for the year ended
December 31, 2018, reflecting adjustments to the consolidated income statement of the Issuer for the year
ended December 31, 2018 (as presented in the 2018 Audited Financial Statements) to give effect to (i) the
addition of the results of operations of the Acquired Kiloutou Group for the period from January 1, 2018 to
February 14, 2018 (i.e., the date prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date), based on the
accounting records of the Acquired Kiloutou Group, as further adjusted to harmonize the accounting rules
and methods with those of the New Kiloutou Group, (ii) the depreciation of acquired customer relationship
assets of the Group as part of the recurring purchase price allocation adjustments for the Kiloutou
Acquisition for the period from January 1, 2018 to February 14, 2018, (iii) the financial interests resulting
from the Kiloutou Acquisition Financing and (iv) related tax effects, as if each such event had occurred on
January 1, 2018 (the “2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information”). The 2018 Illustrative Pro
Forma Financial Information has been included to facilitate comparability to our historical and subsequent
consolidated financial statements; and

» the consolidated illustrative pro forma income statement of the Issuer for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018, reflecting adjustments to the consolidated income statement of the Issuer for the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 (as presented in the 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements) to
give effect to (i) the addition of the results of operations of the Acquired Kiloutou Group for the period
from January 1, 2018 to February 14, 2018 (i.e., the date prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion
Date), based on the accounting records of the Acquired Kiloutou Group, as further adjusted to harmonize
the accounting rules and methods with those of the New Kiloutou Group, (ii) the depreciation of acquired
customer relationship assets of the Group as part of the recurring purchase price allocation adjustments for
the Kiloutou Acquisition for the period from January 1, 2018 to February 14, 2018, (iii) the financial
interests resulting from the Kiloutou Acquisition Financing, and (iv) related tax effects, as if each such
event had occurred on January 1, 2018 (the “Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial
Information”). The Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information has been included to
facilitate comparability to our historical and subsequent consolidated financial statements.

The 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information and Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial
Information contained in this offering memorandum are not intended to, and do not, comply with the reporting
requirements of the SEC, will not be subject to review by the SEC, and would not be permitted to be included in a
registration statement filed with the SEC in compliance with applicable U.S. securities laws. Neither the assumptions
underlying the adjustments reflected in the 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information and Nine-Month 2018
[llustrative Pro Forma Financial Information nor the resulting adjusted financial information has been audited in
accordance with any generally accepted auditing standards.

You should read the tables below in conjunction with “Presentation of financial and other information,”
“Summary historical consolidated financial information and other data,” “Management’s discussion and analysis of
financial condition and results of operations,” “Use of proceeds,” “Capitalization,” as well as the historical Financial
Statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this offering memorandum.

Selected income statement data

Twelve months

Nine months ended ended

Year ended December 31, September 30, September 30,

2016 2017 2018W 2018@ 2019 2019

(€ millions) Financiere Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer Issuer
illustrative illustrative
pro forma pro forma

Total revenue........cccoeeeveenennee. 532.1 606.9 688.8 502.9 543.5 729.4
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Total equipment and logistics

COSES ot (212.0)  (233.9) (265.8) (196.7)  (216.0) (285.1)
Gross profit.......cccovveeirnnen. 320.1 372.9 423.0 306.2 3275 444.3
Total payroll costs.................... (177.8)  (198.8) (213.7) (156.5)  (169.3) (226.5)
Other operating COStS................ (90.9) (97.0) (114.2) (84.3) (92.6) (122.5)
Net expense for doubtful

receivables........ccovienenn, (3.3) (4.2) (5.5) 3.9 (4.3) (5.9)
Financial expenses.................... (40.0) (42.7) (42.0) (30.7) (36.3) (47.6)
Other operating income

EXPENSeS, Net.......ccccververrernnnn 0.4 0.0 (0.1) 0.1 0.1 0.1
Net income from ordinary

ACtIVItIES....ooveiceece 8.6 30.4 474 31.0 25.0 414
Extraordinary income

(EXPENSE) v (5.4) (2.5) (4.5) 4.2) (1.1) (1.4)
INCOME taX ..ovvieieeccre e (1.2) (7.6) (12.0) (9.4) (7.5) (10.1)
Amortization of fair value

adjustments to intangible

ASSELS 1. (0.1 0.4 (14.8) (11.4) (11.2) (14.6)
Net income for the period ...... 1.8 20.7 16.2 6.0 5.2 15.4

(1) Comprises 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information for the Issuer. See “Presentation of financial and
other information” and note 6 to the 2018 Audited Financial Statements for further details.
2 Comprises Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information for the Issuer. See “Presentation of

financial and other information” and note 6 to the 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements for further

details.

Selected balance sheet data

As of
As of December 31, September 30,
2016 2017 2018 2019
(€ millions) Financiére Kilinvest Issuer Issuer
Assets
GOOAWIIL......eciiiicece s 333.4 383.2 646.9 649.2
INtANGIDIE ASSELS ... 161.0 162.3 478.7 466.9
Property, plant and eqUIPMENt............cooveieienirieniseeee e 361.7 416.9 540.1 618.9
Other financial fiXed aSSEtS .........cocvreririiiiere e 3.0 3.2 2.6 3.2
Investments accounted for by the equity method ...........c..ccceveneee 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0
TOtal FIXEA ASSELS.....vviiieeiiitie et eree e 859.1 965.8 1,668.3 1,738.2
Inventories and WOrK in Progress .......ccvecvevvevieeieeseenesieeseeseenneenns 9.5 10.3 12.3 15.8
Customer advances and prepayments........ccccovveveriesieereeseesesesennes 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.6
Trade receiVables..... ..o 117.9 138.5 161.2 168.0
Other reCeIVAbIES ..o 20.0 21.6 38.0 36.7
Marketable SECUNILIES.........covvvviriieieee e 0.0 2.2 2.0 2.0
Cash inbank and at hand............cccocvvivriieiencni e 7.9 30.6 24.9 37.9
Accruals and Other aSSELS ........coceiereiieierere e 4.8 4.5 22.3 17.2
TOtal CUFTENT @SSELS ....vviiieiieiiieieic e 160.6 208.0 261.3 278.3
TOAL @SSELS ...ttt 1,019.7 11738 1,929.6 2,016.4
Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share Capital .........coviiiiiiic 1.2 1.2 51 5.1
Additional paid-in capital.........ccccooiiiiiii 125.7 125.7 484.9 484.9
Reserves and retained earnings ........ccooceeeverenerienesienieene e (40.6) (38.8) .7 18.7
Net income attributable to owners of parent ..........ccccceceveiinciennns 1.8 20.7 20.5 5.2
Exchange differences ... (0.7) (0.4) (0.0) (0.4)
Equity attributable to owners of parent..........c.ccccovieiiincinenns 87.4 108.4 508.8 513.5
MINOFILY INTEIESES ..vviveeieie e 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
0] 7 UN=To (U1 Y SO SPR 87.4 108.4 508.8 513.5
Provisions for contingencies and charges...........cccccoocovincinennns 17.3 194 61.9 57.0
BONGS. ... vttt 386.2 413.0 178.0 190.0
Convertible DONAS ........cccovcviiiieeec e 356.1 383.0 178.0 190.0
L@ ] 11T T30 30.1 30.0 0.0 0.0



Borrowings and financial debt.............ccooereiniivieincceeee e 404.7 471.6 994.8 1,087.0
Borrowings other than from financial institutions...............c.cccoe.ee. 2.6 2.0 29 11
Trade PayabIes. ... ..o 55.0 78.7 88.5 74.6
Tax and payroll liabilities. ... 55.3 69.1 73.5 72.8
Other payables. ... 7.7 8.0 175 16.0
Accruals and other liabilities...........cooeiiiiniiiic 3.4 3.4 3.9 4.3
Total lADIITIES ..ccvveeieeeeceee e 915.0 1,046.0 1,358.9 1,445.9
Total equity and lHabilities ........ccveieiiieiissecrceee e 1,019.7 1,173.8 1,929.6 2,016.4
Selected cash flow statement data
Twelve months
Nine months ended ended
Year ended December 31, September 30, September 30,
2016 2017 2018% 2018@ 2019 2019
(€ millions) Financiére Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer Issuer
illustrative illustrative
pro forma pro forma
Net cash from operating
aCtiVItieS ..ovvvve e 127.3 184.9 152.8 88.4 114.9 179.3
Net cash for investing activities  (254.8)  (207.7) (864.1) (834.1)  (193.0) (223.0)
Net cash from financing
aCtiVIties ....cvovveveeee e 133.5 50.6 738.2 768.6 90.9 60.5
Change in cash and cash
equivalents ........ccccceevirnnnn 5.9 21.7 27.0 22.9 12.9 16.8
Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the period................... (6.9) 20.3 26.8 22.8 39.6 39.6
1) Comprises 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information for the Issuer. See “Presentation of financial and
other information” and note 6 to the 2018 Audited Financial Statements for further details.
2 Comprises Nine-Month 2018 Illustrative Pro Forma Financial Information for the Issuer. See “Presentation of

financial and other information” and note 6 to the 2019 Unaudited Interim Financial Statements for further

details.
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Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations

The following is a discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of the Group in
the periods set forth below, based on data extracted from the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer and
Financiere Kilinvest as discussed under “Presentation of financial and other information.”

The Issuer was incorporated on November 16, 2017 for the purpose of facilitating the Kiloutou Acquisition and,
prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date, did not engage in any activities other than those related to the 2018
Transactions.

As discussed in the 2018 Audited Financial Statements, the Kiloutou Acquisition has been accounted for at fair
value and, accordingly, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from the Acquired Kiloutou Group have been
recorded at their estimated fair value as of February 15, 2018, the effective date of the Kiloutou Acquisition. As a result,
the 2016 Audited Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Financial Statements are not directly comparable to the
financial statements of the Issuer for periods subsequent to the Kiloutou Acquisition due to (i) the Issuer’s application of
purchase accounting as of February 15, 2018 in connection with the Kiloutou Acquisition and (ii) additional interest
expense associated with the financing of the Kiloutou Acquisition.

The reporting entity for our consolidated financial statements prior to January 1, 2018 was Financiere
Kilinvest. Since January 1, 2018, our consolidated financial statements (consolidating the financial statements of all of
our Guarantor and non-Guarantor subsidiaries) have been the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer. Since the
New Kiloutou Group was created, for financial reporting purposes, on January 1, 2018, the most recent unaudited
interim financial information of the Issuer available as of the date of this offering memorandum is as of and for the nine
months ended September 30, 2019. Going forward, holders of the Notes will also receive consolidated financial
statements of the Issuer pursuant to the reporting provisions in the Indenture, although we may in the future provide
consolidated financial statements of a parent entity in compliance with such reporting provisions. See “Description of
the notes—Certain covenants—Reports.”

The following discussion should also be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and related notes
thereto included elsewhere in this offering memorandum. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements
that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs, which are based on assumptions we believe to be reasonable. Our actual
results could differ materially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or
contribute to these differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this offering memorandum, particularly in
“Risk factors” and “Forward-looking statements.”

Unless the context indicates otherwise, in this “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition
and results of operations,” the terms “Group,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to (a) prior to the Kiloutou Acquisition
Completion Date, the Acquired Kiloutou Group and (b) on and after the Kiloutou Acquisition Completion Date, the New
Kiloutou Group.

Overview

We are the second largest generalist equipment rental player in Europe and the second largest player in our
largest market, France, based on revenue, serving the construction, civil works, craft, services, industry and events
sectors. We have a significant European presence serving over 300,000 clients across five countries (France, Poland,
Italy, Spain and Germany). As of September 30, 2019, we had a network of 519 branches offering a rental fleet that
comprises approximately 250,000 tools and pieces of equipment (excluding accessories) of approximately 1,000 different
types. In the twelve months ended September 30, 2019, we generated revenue of €729.4 million and EBITDA of
€240.3 million.

We started our business with a focus on tools and light equipment. Over time, we have grown this offering and
diversified our offering to provide a wide array of complementary heavy equipment as well as value-adding services,
creating a one-stop-shop for both professional customers (business-to-business) and individuals (business-to-consumer)
looking for solutions for a variety of projects and construction works.

We report our revenue in two segments: Rental and Services. For the twelve months ended September 30, 2019,
€515.9 million, or 70.7%, of our revenue was derived from our Rental segment and €213.5 million, or 29.3%, was
derived from our Services segment.

* Rental segment. We rent both heavy and light equipment and tools to a diversified client base including
construction and civil work companies, craftsmen, public entities, industrial companies, events companies
and, to a lesser extent, individuals. Our Rental segment consists of two business lines in France: Generalist
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and Specialist. Our French Generalist business line includes our core equipment rental activities. We offer
one of the largest catalogues of rental equipment across four product categories: Tools and Light
Equipment, Earthmoving, Access and Utility Vehicles, which accounted for 35%, 32%, 21% and 6%,
respectively, of our French Rental segment pro forma revenue in the year ended December 31, 2018. Our
French Specialist business line, which accounted for 6% of our French Rental segment pro forma revenue
in the year ended December 31, 2018, comprises three product categories: Power, Module and Events.

»  Services segment. We offer services that are directly associated with our Rental segment activities, as
well as other services that cater to our clients’ requirements. Our Services segment includes the following
activities: transportation and delivery of equipment, sale of consumables (such as ancillary products that are
fitted to equipment we rent, as well as cross-sales of other products, such as diamond blades and sandpaper,
safety equipment and oil) and spare parts adapted to our equipment rental offering, sale of insurance
policies offered to customers in connection with our rental agreements, cleaning and repair services for the
maintenance of our equipment, fuel for equipment and vehicles, client trainings and various other activities
such as the sale of products or subrental of equipment. Our two largest Services categories, Transportation
and Delivery and Consumables, accounted for 38% and 27%, respectively, of revenue within our Services
segment for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019.

Historically located in Lille, we have progressively expanded our reach into key industrial and populated areas
in France, building a dense network of 445 branches covering all key regions as of September 30, 2019. We also began
expanding our business internationally in 2014 with the acquisition of two companies in Poland. As of September 30,
2019, we had 74 branches in Poland, Italy, Spain and Germany.

We believe that our dense network in France contributes to strong branch visibility and, ultimately, to strong
brand recognition. Our business model is based on a decentralized approach that allows our clusters to have a high degree
of autonomy and responsibility. Cluster and branch managers have a solid knowledge of their local markets and are in a
strong position to build long-lasting relationships with local clients, which we believe enable them to react quickly,
efficiently and precisely to their specific geographic markets. We intend to apply the same business model to the other
countries in which we operate as we expand our international network.

The chart below shows our total revenue by geography for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019.

Total revenue by geography
for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019

B France o Poland m Germany o Italy ® Spain

We own the second largest equipment rental fleet in Europe in terms of gross book value, with a gross book
value of €1.3 billion as of September 30, 2019. In recent years, we have heavily invested in our operations to modernize
our equipment fleet and improve our service offering, which we believe positions us well to capture future market
growth, driven by increasing customer preference for renting rather than owning equipment, as well as increasing our
favorable penetration rates in our geographic markets. As of September 30, 2019, our young equipment fleet within our
French Generalist business line had an estimated weighted average age of 4.6 years (compared to 5.3 years in 2016) and
an estimated weighted average useful life of over ten years. Offering a relatively new fleet allows us not only to provide
our clients with modern and well-functioning equipment but also to better manage our repair and maintenance costs. We
believe that the high quality of our equipment fleet is highly regarded by our clients.

66



Through both bolt-on acquisitions and organic growth, we continue to expand and diversify our offering from
our core rental equipment activities into new specialist markets. Our Power, Module and Events business lines are fully
integrated with our operations, including with respect to products and services offered through our network of branches,
logistics and fleet management, and customer care services, which enables us to increase and diversify our client base.

We also invest in innovative solutions to accommodate our clients’ changing needs, which cannot be easily
replicated by smaller competitors. For example, we recently launched our drones offering, which includes the rental of
unmanned aerial vehicles and related equipment, such as drones and drone sensors, together with ancillary services, such
as piloting. Our drone solutions provide: (i) photos and videos that can be used in inspecting, monitoring and promoting
projects, (ii) aerial thermography, (iii) topographic surveying, (iv) panoramic imaging for the installation, modification or
maintenance of antennas and masts in the telecom industry, (v) thermographic imaging to assess defaults and anomalies
in photovoltaic panels and (vi) 3-D modelling. Other recently launched innovative offerings include our offering of
connected and intelligent KARE safety vests, which are designed to avoid collisions of pedestrian employees and
machines and for which we have received the 2019 Mat D’Or innovation award in the category “equipment and tools”, as
well as industrial exo- and ergo-skeleton, which are pieces of equipment that operators wear that allow them to lift and
carry heavy objects.

We believe that the size and density of our network, our large and well-diversified customer base and the quality
of our fleet constitute key competitive advantages that enable us to gain market share and increase the efficiency of our
operations, as well as to secure repeat business. These competitive advantages and the attractive underlying fundamentals
of the equipment rental industry have enabled us to deliver strong financial performance historically, with our revenue
growing at a compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of 10.5% between 2005 and 2018.

Key factors affecting results of operations

Our results of operations have been, and may continue to be, affected by the key factors set forth below as well
as other factors, many of which are beyond our control. For trends affecting our business and the markets in which we
operate, see also “Risk factors,” “Industry” and “Business.”

General market conditions, seasonality and cyclicality

Our performance is impacted by the global and European macroeconomic environment, the stability of the
global credit markets and general economic conditions in our customers’ end-markets, which impact our customers’
demand for our products and services, with particular exposure to such conditions in France. During economic
downturns, certain of our customers (in particular, small and medium enterprises and individuals) can often cut spending
or be more likely to go out of business. Conversely, improving economic conditions tend to be correlated with an
increase in demand for our products and services.

Conditions in the markets in which our customers operate have an impact on both the utilization rate of our
equipment and on prices. Subject to certain contractual arrangements and framework agreements entered into with
certain of our customers, as demand increases, utilization follows and we can then choose to allocate equipment to
customers who are willing to pay higher prices. When demand decreases, the opposite occurs, and we may reduce prices
to preserve utilization levels. Demand can be affected by seasonality that can have an impact (positive or negative) over a
longer period and by short-term factors that affect the utilization rates and prices for a brief period. For example, demand
in the construction and civil engineering markets tends to decrease during extended periods of inclement weather and in
the winter while increasing during extended periods of mild weather and in the summer. We seek to manage the impact
of medium and long-term trends through the adjustment of our capital expenditures, increases or decreases in sales of our
equipment, and the management of our branch network.

After a strong performance in 2018, the construction and rental markets in Europe have shown signs of
decelerating growth. Global economic risks are mainly political, with the key risk being the escalation of the trade war
between China and the United States. According to Euroconstruct’s June 2019 report, the French construction market
grew by 3.1% in 2018, driven by all construction sub-segments, particularly civil engineering. However, Euroconstruct
estimated that the construction output would only increase by 0.8% in 2019, with trade wars and political uncertainty
posing additional risks to growth. Euroconstruct also confirmed another year of growth for the construction markets in
our other geographies. The European Rental Association estimated an overall growth rate of approximately 4.4% in
European rental markets in 2018. Among those markets, the French rental market was expected to be among the fastest
growing with a growth rate of approximately 7.8%. Poland, Spain, Germany and Italy were also expected to grow with
rates of approximately 8.8%, 5.3%, 5.2% and 5.8%, respectively.
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Acquisitions

We have historically expanded our operations through prudent, mostly small- to medium-sized bolt-on
acquisitions, thereby expanding our network and as a result our revenue stream. Our results of operations during the
periods under review have been affected by such acquisitions, which may make it more difficult for investors to evaluate
the historical performance of our business by comparing period-over-period results. See “—Factors affecting
comparability of results” below for an explanation of how acquisitions during the periods under review have affected the
comparability of our results across these periods.

Many of the acquisitions we completed in recent years were aimed at increasing the density of our network in
our existing markets, diversifying into specific business sectors and end-markets and enhancing our geographic coverage.
Most of our acquisitions during the periods under review have been sales and EBITDA accretive within limited
turnaround time, while some have required greater management time and resources to complete their turnaround.

Acquisitions impact our financial position and results of operations in a variety of ways. First, our results for the
period during which an acquisition takes place are affected by the inclusion of the results of the acquired business in our
consolidated results. As acquired businesses are included in our consolidation perimeter from the date of completion of
each relevant acquisition, their full impact is only reflected in our financial statements in the subsequent period.
Furthermore, acquisitions may result in the addition of new branches and the closure of existing ones as we seek to
optimize our fleet management and streamline our operations, which can have a significant impact on our revenue from
one period to the next. In addition, costs directly incurred in connection with acquisitions are accounted for as goodwill
in our financial statements and do not appear in our income statement. From a financial position point of view, upon the
completion of an acquisition, the purchase price is allocated to the tangible and intangible assets of the target and
liabilities assumed based on the fair value as of such date. Excess purchase price over these allocations is recorded as
goodwill, which is not amortized for accounting purposes but is subject to testing for impairment.

Capital expenditures and equipment disposals

The management of our level of capital expenditure by increasing or decreasing the amount of investment in our
fleet is an important factor in our results of operations and cash flow. Decisions about investment in new equipment are
based on the condition and remaining useful life of our existing equipment as well as on our views of future demand. We
sell assets in our fleet when we believe that these assets have reached the end of their useful life because they have
become obsolete or when the cost of maintaining them in proper condition for customer use is too high. We also sell
assets in our fleet before the end of their useful life if we believe a decline in demand in a given market is likely to last
for a significant period of time. We believe that our experience in the rental equipment market allows us to recognize
inflection points (the points at which demand is poised to level off or change direction) in the cycles affecting the sectors
in which our customers operate, so that we can increase investment just before the bottom of the cycle (before we expect
demand to expand), and decrease investment just before the top of the cycle (before we expect demand to contract). We
believe that our anticipation of trends in the cycles affecting the sectors in which our customers operate, particularly
historically in the construction and civil engineering sectors, has helped us to control our levels of investment and related
debt, and thus maintain strong levels of cash flow and positive net income during the periods under review.

The allocation of investments in our rental fleet is determined by the type of equipment and the requirements of
our clusters and branches. In the nine months ended September 30, 2019, we maintained the level of our fleet capital
expenditures at €178.4 million compared with €185.7 million for the same period the previous year.

Fixed cost structure

Our business, like that of all equipment rental groups, is capital-intensive with a predominantly fixed cost
structure that principally relates to the depreciation of our equipment fleet, as well as other operating expenses that are
fixed for short or long periods of time, such as costs of materials and logistics as well as certain personnel charges and
real estate rent.

The management of our costs is an important factor in our results of operations and cash flow. To the extent
possible we seek to deploy our fleet efficiently across our network to respond to increases and decreases in demand rather
than renting out additional equipment from third parties to then rent it out to our customers or duplicating investments in
the same piece of equipment in different geographies, which would eventually lead to over-capacity. We also monitor on
a regular basis our general administration costs.
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Factors affecting comparability of results

The change in the scale of our rental network as a result of acquiring new branches and closing existing ones
affects the comparability of our results during those periods by increasing both revenue and expenses.

Recent acquisitions

2019

2017

2016

During the periods under review, we made the following acquisitions of rental equipment compared:

In July 2019, we acquired 100% of M+S Arbeitsbiihnen GmbH., a German company offering access
equipment.

In October 2018, we acquired 100% of Michaud Location, a French generalist rental company.

In August 2018, we acquired 100% of Elevo Sarl, an Italian company offering access equipment.

In July 2018, we acquired 100% of Seralfe, a Spanish generalist rental company.

In July 2018, we acquired 100% of GL Verleih Nrww GmbH, a German company offering access equipment.

In June 2018, we acquired 100% of Butsch & Meier GmbH and Butsch & Meier Freiburg GmbH, German
companies offering access equipment.

In December 2017, we acquired 100% of Landrau, a French company specializing in the modular industry.
In November 2017, we acquired 100% of Gam Polska, a Polish generalist rental company.

In October 2017, we acquired 100% of Ctc de Maquinaria, Alquileres y Reparaciones Osca, Unién de
Alquiladores de Maquinaria, a Spanish generalist rental company.

In October 2017, we acquired 100% of Aixomat, a French generalist rental company.
In July, 2017, we acquired 100% of Cofiloc and Euronol, two Italian companies offering access equipment.

In May, 2017, we acquired 100% of Tora Location, a French generalist rental and modular company.

In December 2016, we acquired 100% Alvecon, a Spanish generalist rental company.

In October 2016, we acquired 100% of C.A.L.—Compagnie Atlantique de Location (“CAL”), a French
company specializing in the power industry.

In April 2016, we acquired Starlift GmbH, a German company offering access equipment.

In January 2016, we acquired 100% of Aquiloc/Aloutout/Icimat, French generalist rental companies.

Key performance indicators

We consider revenue and EBITDA to be key measures in analyzing our business. EBITDA is a non-French

GAAP measure but we believe that it and similar measures are widely used by certain investors as supplemental
measures of performance and liquidity. See “—Liquidity and capital resources.” We present financial information by
segment in our financial statements: Rental and Services. While we do not present additional financial information on our
segments in our financial statements, we consider that our activity is split into six business units: General and Specialist
in France, Poland, Spain, Germany and Italy and that our Services Segment has six business lines (Transportation and
delivery, Consumables, Insurance, Cleaning & repair, Fuel and Other services).

69



The following table sets out these key figures in each of the Rental and Services segments for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2019.

As of or for the
As of or for the year ended nine months ended
December 31, September 30,
2016 2017 2018 2018 2019
(€ millions) Financiére
Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer
illustrative illustrative
pro forma pro forma
Net revenue by Segment
RENLAL ... 373.8 427.8 490.5 359.5 384.9
SBIVICES .ottt ettt ettt re e 158.3 179.1 198.3 143.5 158.7
Transportation and delivery.........c.ccoocevevevencneicnnenn 584  66.0 75.3 55.2 60.3
ConSUMADIES ..o 49.1 51.9 53.8 38.7 42.4
INSUFBNCE ... .ottt 19.1 24.9 30.6 22.6 24.7
Cleaning & repair..........cceecvevieviee e 12.7 15.1 18.6 13.3 16.1
TFAINING ..ccieiece e e 2.0 2.5 2.9 2.0 2.3
SUD-TENLAIS ... 19.8 20.9 18.9 13.0 14.3
Other SEIVICES......ccveiiiieieeeeereee s 29 (2.3 (1.8) (1.3) (1.5)
Total NEL FEVENUE ......oiiiiiieiiiee e 532.1 606.9 688.8 502.9 543.5

The following table sets out these key figures in each of the countries in which we operate for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2019.

As of or for the
As of or for the year ended nine months ended
December 31, September 30,
2016 2017 2018 2018 2019
(€ millions) Financiere
Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer
illustrative illustrative
pro forma pro forma
Net revenue by Geography
FraNCe...oc e 501.9 551.6 593.7 437.4 459.0
France Generalist..........cccccooviviiiiiicceccc e, 490.2 529.7 557.4 4109 4283
France Specialist .........ccooiriiiiiiie e 11.7 219 36.4 26.6 30.8
POIaNd........oooiiice e 14.7 17.8 23.6 16.7 17.9
GEIMANY ...ttt 135 15.3 23.7 15.6 22.6
ALY o 0 134 304 20.9 27.9
SPAIN. et 2.0 8.8 17.3 12.2 16.0
Total NEt FEVENUE ........cecviiiieiiccieeceeeee e 532.1 606.9 688.8 502.9 543.5

The following table sets out these key EBITDA and EBITDA margin for the years ended December 31, 2016,
2017 and 2018 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2019.

As of or for the
As of or for the year ended nine months ended
December 31, September 30,
2016 2017 2018 2018 2019
(€ millions) Financiere

Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer

illustrative illustrative

pro forma pro forma
EBITDA ..o 156.1 1917 226.7 162.0 175.7
EBITDA Margin (%0) ..o 29.3 31.6 32.9 32.2 32.3

Key income statement items

The following is a summary description of certain line items from our income statement. For more information
see “—=Critical accounting policies and estimates” and the notes to our consolidated audited financial statements.

Revenue from rentals includes the fees paid by customers to rent equipment.
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Services revenue includes the fees paid by customers for services in connection with equipment rentals such as
transportation, fuel, damage waivers and the cost of repair and maintenance services charged back to our customers.

Net gains/(losses) on equipment sales principally includes profits or losses realized from the sale of used
equipment.

Maintenance costs includes the cost of maintenance of our equipment.

Holding costs includes depreciation on fleet equipment (whether owned or leased under finance leases) and
equipment costs incurred under our operating leases.

Logistics costs includes the costs of transporting equipment between branches and to customer sites.
Other costs includes other operating costs that are not accounted for as maintenance, holding or logistics costs.

Gross salaries and paid vacation provisions relates primarily to the salaries and vacation days to be paid to
employees.

Payroll taxes and training levy relates to social security charges and training levies (taxe d’apprentissage).

Performance bonus relates to bonus paid to employees upon reaching certain performance targets including with
respect to profitability and quality.

Other expenses relates to other operating expenses such as temporary staff and termination costs.
Advertising costs relates to publicity, media and advertising costs.

Overheads relate to general administration expenses and leasing of certain equipment such as vehicles.
Rental costs relates to the cost of renting premises for our branches.

Net expense for doubtful receivables includes losses on bad debts net of change in provisions on customer
accounts.

Financial expenses comprises interest charges on bank loans and hedging expenses.

Other operating income relates to proceeds from the sale of other assets, reversal of provision on risk and other
charges.

Extraordinary income and expenses includes a limited number of unusual, abnormal, and uncommon items with
significant amounts, which are disclosed separately in the income statement to make it easier to appreciate the Group’s
current operating performance.

Income tax consists of current and deferred taxes calculated in accordance with the relevant tax laws in force in
the jurisdictions in which we operate. As of December 31, 2018, the corporate tax rate in France was 32.02% excluding
CVAE (added value tax). We are also subject to tax rates in the other countries in which we operate, which ranged from
15% to 27.5% as of the same date.

Amortization of fair value adjustments to intangible assets principally includes depreciation of fixed assets (fleet
and non-fleet) following an acquisition. Depreciation and amortization also includes depreciation of intangible assets
qualified as such (trademarks and customer relationships) following a purchase price allocation exercise.
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Income statement

The table below sets out our income statements for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 and the
nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2019.

Year ended December 31,

Nine months ended September 30,

2016 2017 2018 2018 2019
(€ millions) Financiére Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer
illustrative illustrative
pro forma® pro forma®
Revenue from Rentals ...........cccoerieennen. 373.8 427.8 490.5 359.5 384.9
Revenue from Services and Sub-Leases. 158.3 179.1 198.3 1435 158.7
Total ReVeNUE..........coccvvveieierenerieaens 532.1 606.9 688.8 502.9 543.5
Net Gains/(Losses) on Equipment Sales
Retirements........cccovvvvennenccnin, 19.8 17.2 224 13.6 175
Maintenance COStS ........cocevveirererinenen. (43.1) (46.0) (53.0) (38.5) (40.3)
Holding CoStS......ccoovviriiiieeeeie e (106.8)  (115.4) (139.7) (103.2)  (117.0)
LOQisStiCS COSES ....vvvinrivirieicinieiec e (33.5) (38.9) (47.2) (33.8) (38.6)
Other COSES....vvvvieiierieeiesiee e (48.4) (50.9) (48.3) (34.7) (37.6)
Total Equipment and Logistics Costs. (212.0)  (233.9) (265.8) (196.7)  (216.0)
Gross Profit......cccocvvviinniicieies 320.1 372.9 423.0 306.2 327.5
Gross Salaries and Paid Vacation
PrOVISIONS ....cveiieirieiiiincise e (111.8) (122.5) (134.7) (99.1)  (109.1)
Payroll Taxes and Training Levy ........... (42.4) (46.2) (51.3) (37.3) (40.0)
Performance BONUSES ...........ccceevvveieiinns (14.0) (17.5) (12.7) (10.0) (11.4)
Other EXPENSES.......cccvvvivveeerierieriesieseenns (9.6) (12.6) (15.0) (10.2) (8.8)
Total Payroll Costs.......ccccoovvvrvrvinrnnnn, (177.8)  (198.8) (213.7) (156.5)  (169.3)
Advertising CoStS ......cccceveveriererininnnnas (4.8) 4.7 (5.8) (4.9) 4.7)
Overheads.........coeevvereiineneic e (41.3) (46.3) (58.8) (42.0) (47.2)
Rental COoStS .....ooeveeriici e (44.8) (46.0) (49.5) (37.9) (40.8)
Net Expense for Doubtful Receivables .. (3.3) (4.2) (5.5) 3.9 (4.3)
Financial EXPenses........cccccevevenerenuenne. (40.0) (42.7) (42.0) (30.7) (36.3)
Other Operating Income Expenses, Net. 0.4 0.0 (0.2) 0.1 0.1
Net Income from Ordinary Activities. 8.6 30.4 474 31.0 25.0
Extraordinary Income (—) and Expenses
() et (5.4) (2.5) (4.5) 4.2) (1.1)
INCOME TaX..ciieiieiieeiecie e (1.2 (7.6) (12.0) 9.4 (7.5
Amortization of Fair Value Adjustments
to Intangible ASSetS........ccccvvvererenne (0.1) 0.4 (14.8) (11.4) (11.2)
Net Income for the Period Before
Minority Interests.........cccocoeevveiene. 1.8 20.7 16.2 6.0 5.2
Net Income for the period attributable to
MINOrity INtErestS.......cocovvviveneiriennn. 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Net Income for the Period
Attributable to Owners of the
Parent ... 1.8 20.7 16.2 6.0 5.2
EBITDA ..o 156.1 191.7 226.7 162.0 175.7
(1) The illustrative pro forma data with respect to revenue from rentals, revenue from services and sub-leases, net

gain/(losses) on equipment sales retirements, maintenance costs, holding costs, logistics costs, other costs, gross
salaries and paid vacation provisions, payroll taxes and training levy, performance bonuses, other expenses, for
the year ended December 31, 2018 and for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018 correspond to the
sum of the corresponding amounts as derived from the accounting records of the Acquired Kiloutou Group for
the period from January 1, 2018 to February 14, 2018 and those from the Issuer for the year ended
December 31, 2018 and the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018.
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Nine months ended September 30, 2019 compared to the illustrative pro forma nine months ended September 30, 2018
Total revenue

Our revenue increased by 8.1% to €543.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€502.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. This increase was due to a dynamic construction
environment and favorable weather, which resulted in organic growth of 5.1% (€25.4 million, of which revenue from our
Generalist France business unit accounted for €15.4 million) and the positive impact of certain acquisitions of
€15.2 million mainly due to the acquisition of Elevo (Italy), Seralfe (Spain) and Butsch and Meier (Germany) in 2018.

Revenue from rentals increased by €25.4 million and revenue from services increased by €15.2 million. The
increase in revenue from rentals resulted from the same drivers such as dynamic construction environment and favorable
weather conditions. The increase in revenue from services was due to an increase in our rental activities, which led to
additional cross-selling opportunities.

As of September 30, 2019, revenue from our Generalist France business unit represented 78.8%, revenue from
our Specialist France business unit represented 5.7% and revenue from our international operations accounted for 15.5%
of our total revenue.

Net gains/(losses) on equipment sales

Our net gains on equipment sales increased by 28.7% to €17.5 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2019 from €13.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. This increase was due to both an increase of the
number of equipment sold and a higher ratio of sales prices to purchase prices of the sold equipment.
Maintenance costs

Our maintenance costs increased by 4.7% to €40.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€38.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The increase was partly due to the increased size of our
equipment fleet. Due to preventative maintenance and higher revenue from equipment rentals, the maintenance
costs/rental sales ratio improved and reached 10.5%.
Holding costs

Our holding costs increased by 13.3% to €117.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€103.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. This increase was due to significant investments in our
fleet and equipment realized during the period, which increased costs in relation to depreciation.
Logistics costs

Our logistics costs increased by 14.2% to €38.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€33.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. This increase was due to the increase in deliveries of
equipment to customer sites.
Other costs

Our other costs increased by 8.4% to €37.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€34.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. This increase was due to increased purchases of
consumables for sale.
Gross salaries and paid vacation provisions

Our gross salaries and paid vacation provisions increased by 10.0% to €109.1 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019 from €99.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. This increase was due to
increased hiring of staff in light of increased equipment rentals and activity from our operations.
Payroll taxes and training levy

Our payroll taxes and training levy increased by 7.3% to €40.0 million for the nine months ended September 30,

2019 from €37.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The increase was mostly due to the increase in
employees.
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Performance bonuses

Our performance bonuses increased by 14.1% to €11.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019
from €10.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The increase was mostly due to the increased number
of employees (as performance bonuses are based on a percentage of salaries, and therefore vary with total payroll) and a
higher level of bonuses resulting from increased activity from our operations.

Other expenses

Our other expenses decreased by 12.7% to €8.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€10.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The decrease was due to reduced termination costs and
reduced expenses in relation to temporary staff.
Advertising costs

Our advertising costs increased by 6.9% to €4.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€4.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The increase in publicity costs was due to a TV campaign
that we launched as well as an increased advertising on radio.
Overheads

Our overheads increased by 12.3% to €47.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€42.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The increase was mainly due to additional IT costs and
consulting fees.
Rental costs

Our rental costs increased by 7.7% to €40.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€37.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The increase was due to the higher number of branches as
well as the larger size of our branches to support increased business activity. Due to increased revenue from rentals, the
ratio of rental costs to sales remained stable.
Net expense for doubtful receivables

Our net expenses for doubtful receivables increased by 10.2% to €4.3 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019 from €3.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The increase was in line with the
growth of sales.
Financial expenses

Our financial expenses increased by 18.2% to €36.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€30.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. This increase was due to the implementation of the
incremental senior facility of €150.0 million, which mainly resulted in additional interest costs.

Other operating income and expenses, net

Our other net operating income was stable at €0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

Extraordinary income (—) and expenses (+)

Our extraordinary expenses amounted to €1.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. This
charge was due to the payment of social contributions in relation to the free shares allocated in connection with the
Kiloutou Acquisition.

Income tax
Our income tax decreased by 20.2% to €7.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from

€9.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. This decrease was mainly due to the decrease of our net
income over the period.
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Amortization of fair value adjustments to intangible assets

Our amortization of fair value adjustments to intangible assets decreased by 1.8% to €11.2 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2019 from €11.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

EBITDA

EBITDA increased by 8.4% to €175.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
€162.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 due to increased revenue from rentals and gains on sales of
equipment. EBITDA margin remained stable over the period from 32.2% to 32.3%.

Ilustrative pro forma year ended December 31, 2018 compared to year ended December 31, 2017
Total revenue

Our revenue increased by 13.5% to €688.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from €606.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2017. This increase was due to a dynamic construction environment and favorable
macro-economic conditions, which resulted in organic growth of 7.6% (€46.0 million, most of which was due to
increased revenue from our Generalist France business unit (€26.0 million)) and the positive impact of acquisitions for an
amount of €36.0 million (5.9%) mainly due to acquisitions of Cofiloc and Elevo Sarl in Italy, Butsch & Meier
Freiburg GmbH in Germany and Seralfe and Ctc de Maquinaria, Alquileres y Reparaciones Osca, Union de Alquiladores
de Magquinaria in Spain.

Revenue from rentals increased by €62.7 million and revenue from services increased by €19.2 million. The
increase in revenue from rentals resulted from the same drivers such as dynamic construction environment and positive
macro-economic conditions. The increase in revenue from services was due to an increase in our rental activities, which
led to additional cross-selling opportunities.

As of December 31, 2018, revenue from our Generalist France business unit represented 80.9%, revenue from
Specialist France represented 5.3% and revenue from our international operations accounted for 13.8% of our total
revenue.

Net gains/(losses) on equipment sales

Our net gains on equipment sales increased by 30.4% to €22.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018
from €17.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. This increase was due to higher proceeds received for the sale
of equipment as a result of larger volumes of equipment sold and price increases.

Maintenance costs

Our maintenance costs increased by 15.2% to €53.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€46.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase was due to the increased size of our equipment fleet.
Our maintenance costs/rental sales ratio remained stable during the period.

Holding costs

Our holding costs increased by 21.1% to €139.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€115.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. This increase was due to higher capital expenditures, which
resulted in a larger equipment fleet and larger depreciation costs.

Logistics costs

Our logistics costs increased by 21.1% to €47.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€38.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. This increase was due to the increase in deliveries of equipment to
customer sites and gas prices.

Other costs
Our other costs decreased by 5.4% to €48.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from €50.9 million

for the year ended December 31, 2017. This decrease was due to the reclassification of the CVAE (tax contribution) as
corporate income tax.
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Gross salaries and paid vacation provisions

Our gross salaries and paid vacation provisions increased by 10.0% to €134.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 from €122.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase was due to increased hiring
of staff to match the increase in rental activities.
Payroll taxes and training levy

Our payroll taxes and training levy increased by 11.0% to €51.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018
from €46.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase was consistent with the increase in the number of
our employees.
Performance bonuses

Our performance bonuses decreased by 27.4% to €12.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€17.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2017, performance bonuses were
higher than the previous year because employees generally reached their profitability and quality targets in the context of
favorable macro-economic conditions and business activities.
Other expenses

Our other expenses increased by 19.1% to €15.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€12.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. This increase was due to higher recruitment expenses and a higher
level of profit sharing.
Advertising costs

Our advertising costs increased by 23.4% to €5.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase was due to additional advertising online and on radio to
increase brand awareness and support the development of our business in France and in the countries where we operate.
Overheads

Our overheads increased by 27.0% to €58.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from €46.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2017. This increase was due to increased IT and consulting fees as well as travel
expenses.
Rental costs

Our rental costs increased by 7.6% to €49.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from €46.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase was due to the increased number of branches we operate as well as
the larger size of our branches to support high levels of rental activities.
Net expense for doubtful receivables

Our net expenses for doubtful receivables increased to €5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase was due to higher rental sales, which led to higher
provisions for doubtful receivables.
Financial expenses

Our financial expenses decreased by 1.6% to €42.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€42.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease was due to the reduction in interest costs because of
the repayment of existing convertible bonds issued by Kilinvest in 2011.

Other operating income and expenses, net

Our other net operating expense was stable at €0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€0.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Extraordinary income (—) and expenses (+)

Our extraordinary expense amounted to €4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. This charge was
mainly due to extraordinary expenses and fees incurred in connection with the Kiloutou Acquisition.

Income tax

Our income tax increased by 57.9% to €12.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from €7.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2017. This increase was mainly due to reclassification of the CVAE tax contribution.

Amortization of fair value adjustments to intangible assets

Our amortization of fair value adjustments to intangible assets increased to negative €14.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2018 from positive €0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The difference was due to
the purchase price allocation following the Kiloutou Acquisition, which resulted in the amortization of intangible assets.

EBITDA

EBITDA increased by 18.3% to €226.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to
€191.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 due to increased rental sales and higher gains on sales of
equipment. Good control of our labor costs also contributed to the increase in EBITDA. The EBITDA margin increased
from 31.6% to 32.9%.

Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to year ended December 31, 2016

Total revenue

Our revenue increased by 14.1% to €606.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from €532.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2016. This increase was due to a dynamic economic environment and high levels of
construction activity, which resulted in organic growth of 8.3% (€44.0 million, of which revenue from our Generalist
France business unit accounted for €36.9 million) and the positive impact of M&A activities, which accounted for
€30.8 million (5.8%), mainly due to the acquisitions of CAL (Kiloutou Energie, power solutions), Cofiloc in Italy and
Alvecon in Spain.

Revenue from rentals increased by 14.4% (€54.0 million) and revenue from services increased by 13.1%
(€20.8 million). The increase in revenue from rentals resulted from dynamic macro-economic conditions. The increase in
revenue from services is due to an increase in our rental activities, which led to additional cross-selling opportunities.

As of December 31, 2017, revenue from our Generalist France business unit represented 87.3%, revenue from
our Specialist France business unit represented 3.6% and revenue from our international operations accounted for 9.1%
of our total revenue.

Net gains on equipment sales

Our net gains on equipment sales decreased by 13.1% to €17.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017
from €19.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. This decrease was due to lower renewal capital expenditures
as we did not renew our equipment fleet to the same extent compared to the previous year.
Maintenance costs

Our maintenance costs increased by 6.7% to €46.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from
€43.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. This increase, due to the increased size of the equipment fleet, is
lower than the increase of rental activity due to improvement in the maintenance process (predictive and preventive
maintenance). As a result, the ratio of maintenance costs on rental sales decreased from 11.5% in 2016 to 10.8% in 2017.
Holding costs

Our holding costs increased by 8.1% to €115.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from

€106.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. This increase was due to the additional investments we made to
increase the fleet, which led to higher fleet value and higher depreciation costs.
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Logistics costs

Our logistics costs increased by 16.1% to €38.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from
€33.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. This increase was consistent with the increase of rental activities
that require us to deliver equipment to customer sites and between clusters as part of our ongoing operations.

Other costs

Our other costs increased by 5.2% to €50.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from €48.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2016. This increase was due to the growth of services and higher margins.

Gross salaries and paid vacation provisions

Our gross salaries and paid vacation provisions increased by 9.6% to €122.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 from €111.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase is due to the increased
number of employees. The labor cost/revenue ratio decreased due to strong organic growth that offset the increase in
labor costs.

Payroll taxes and training levy

Our payroll taxes and training levy increased by 9.0% to €46.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017
from €42.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase was due a larger workforce and is in line with
the growth of salaries paid to employees.

Performance bonuses

Our performance bonuses increased by 25% to €17.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from
€14.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase was due to an increase in the number of employees
and to higher levels of bonuses paid as more employees reached their profitability and quality targets as a result of
increased activity in our operations.

Other expenses

Our other expenses increased by 31.3% to €12.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from
€9.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. This increase was due to the higher level of profit sharing that
resulted from improved revenue.
Advertising costs

Our advertising costs decreased by 2.1% to €4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from
€4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease was due to lower spending for advertising on radio and
online during the period.

Overheads

Our overheads increased by 12.1% to €46.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from €41.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2016. This increase was due to the higher level of travel expenses.

Rental costs

Our rental costs increased by 2.7% to €46.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from €44.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase was due to higher costs to maintain our properties and real estate as
our levels of rent remained stable for the period. The rental costs ratio decreased due to an increase in activity that offset
the increase in rental costs.

Net expense for doubtful receivables
Our net expenses for doubtful receivables increased by 24.2% to €4.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2017 from €3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. This increase was due to both an increase in our revenue

and due to the identification of customer receivables that were deemed as higher risks by management compared to the
previous year, which had exceptionally low expenses for doubtful receivables.
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Financial expenses

Our financial expenses increased by 6.8% to €42.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from
€40.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. This increase was due to an increased level of net financial debt.

Other operating income and expenses, net

Our other operating expense, net decreased to €0.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from
€0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Extraordinary income (—) and expenses (+)

Our extraordinary expense decreased to €2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from €5.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2016. The difference was mainly explained by extraordinary fees paid in relation to
non-recurring operations.

Income tax

Our income tax increased to €7.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from €1.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016. This increase was due to the higher level of taxable income as a result of increased net
income.

Amortization of fair value adjustments to intangible assets

Our amortization of fair value adjustments to intangible assets decreased to positive €0.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017 from negative €0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

EBITDA

EBITDA increased by 22.8% to €191.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 from €156.1 million due
to increased rental sales, higher productivity and better management of costs, especially maintenance costs. The EBITDA
margin increased from 29.3% to 31.6%.

Liquidity and capital resources

Historically, our primary sources of cash have been cash flows from operating activities and borrowings under
our debt facilities, including the Existing Revolving Credit Facility (which will be repaid in full and cancelled as part of
the Transactions). We expect that, following the completion of the Transactions, our primary sources of cash will be cash
flows from operating activities and borrowings, including under the New Revolving Credit Facility. Borrowings under
the New Revolving Credit Facility will be subject to certain conditions, including compliance with financial maintenance
and other covenants and warranties. See “Description of certain financing arrangements—New revolving credit facility
agreement” and “Description of the notes.”

Historically, our principal uses of cash have been, and following the completion of the Transactions we expect
will continue to be, operating expenses, capital expenditures and debt service payments.

We currently have, and following the completion of the Transactions, will continue to have, substantial
indebtedness. After giving effect to the Transactions as of September 30, 2019, we would have had outstanding
€1,127.0 million of total third-party financial debt and € 1,055.1 million of total third-party net financial debt. See
“Capitalization.” Our high level of debt may have important negative consequences for you. See “Risk factors.” There
are also limitations on our ability to obtain additional debt financing. See “Description of the notes—Certain covenants—
Limitation on indebtedness,” and “Description of certain financing arrangements—New revolving credit facility
agreement.” Further, any additional indebtedness that we do incur could reduce the amount of our cash flow available to
make payments on our then existing indebtedness, including under the Notes offered hereby.

Our ability to make principal or interest payments when due on our indebtedness, including indebtedness under
the New Revolving Credit Facility Agreement and our obligations under the Notes, and to fund our ongoing operations,
will depend on our future performance and our ability to generate cash, which, to a certain extent, is subject to general
economic, financial, industry, regulatory and other factors, as well as other factors discussed in “Risk factors,” many of
which are beyond our control.
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We believe that, based on our current level of operations, our cash on hand, cash flows from operating activities
and the availability of borrowings under the New Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to fund our operating
expenses, capital expenditures and debt service payments for at least the next twelve months.

Cash flow

The following is a discussion of our cash flow from operations, cash flow from investing activities and cash
flow from financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 and the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2019.

Cash flow from operations includes EBITDA, fluctuations in our net working capital, interest paid, corporate
income tax payments (including CVAE tax contribution) and exceptional items cashed out and cancellation of hon-cash
items in EBITDA (mainly net book value of disposed equipment).

Cash flow from investing activities consists of our capital expenditures, changes in asset suppliers, financial
investments and divestments and as well as the cash impact of external acquisitions.

Cash flow from financing activities reflects the net issuance of new debt or equity, less debt repayments and
dividend payments. All the cash flow related to the financial leases are included in this sub-total.

The following table presents a summary of our cash flow for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and
2018 and the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2019:

Nine months ended

Year ended December 31, September 30,
2016 2017 2018 2018 2019
(€ millions) Financiere Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer
illustrative illustrative
pro forma pro forma
Cash flow from Operations ..........cccceerevenernivnennns 127.3 184.9 152.8 88.4 114.9
Cash flow for investing activities..........c.cc.cecvvees (254.8)  (207.7) (864.1) (834.1)  (193.0)
Cash flow from financing activities ..............c........ 1335 50.6 738.2 768.6 90.9
Change in cash and cash equivalents.................. 5.9 21.7 27.0 22.9 12.9
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
PEFIOAM ...t (6.9) 20.3 26.8 22.8 39.6
Q) Including bank overdrafts.

Nine months ended September 30, 2019 compared to the illustrative pro forma nine months ended September 30, 2018
Cash flow from operations

Net cash provided by operations increased by 30.0% from €88.4 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 to €114.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. Before changes in working capital
requirements and in interest payments on debt, net cash provided by operations increased by 15.6% from €147.3 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 to €170.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019, due to
an EBITDA increase of €13.6 million and the decrease in non-recurring items of €3.4 million. Changes in working
capital rose from a negative impact of €15.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 to a negative impact
of €26.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. The negative trend in working capital in the nine months
ended September 30, 2019 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was primarily due to a decrease in
account payables.

Cash flow for investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities decreased from €834.1 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2018 to €193.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019, primarily due to the Kiloutou Acquisition in
2018. Capital expenditures increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from €203.5 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2018, of which our rental fleet accounted for €185.7 million, to €189.6 million in the nine
months ended September 30, 2019, of which our rental fleet accounted for €178.4 million. Cash from fixed asset
disposals, related to our rental fleet is already included in EBITDA. The impact of changes in scope of consolidation in
September 2018 includes cash flows in relation to the Kiloutou Acquisition of €596.7 million.
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Cash flow from financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities decreased from €768.6 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 to €90.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. In the nine months ended
September 30, 2018, we issued €1,012.8 million of debt and the capital increase of €427.7 million. These amounts are
composed of €827.0 million of debt and €427.7 million in connection with the Kiloutou Acquisition. We repaid
€671.9 million of debt, including €46.9 million of finance leases in the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and
€630.7 million related to the Kiloutou Acquisition. In the nine months ended September 30, 2019, we issued
€184.1 million of debt, composed of €23.6 million of new finance leases. We repaid €93.0 million of debt, including
€57.8 million of finance leases.

Ilustrative Pro Forma year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017
Cash flow from operations

Net cash provided by operations decreased by 17.3% from €184.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2017 to €152.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Before changes in working capital requirements and
variations in other financial debt and in accrued interest on debt, net cash provided by operations increased by 18.6%
from €179.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to €212.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, due
to the increase of EBITDA. Changes in working capital decreased from a positive impact of €16.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017 to a negative impact of €9.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The negative trend
in working capital in the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily
due to the decrease in trade payables variation.

Cash flow for investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased from €207.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to
€864.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to the Kiloutou Acquisition in 2018. Capital
expenditures increased from €138.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, of which our rental fleet accounted
for €124.6 million, to €226.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2018, of which our rental fleet accounted for
€203.2 million. Cash from fixed asset disposals related to our rental fleet is already included in EBITDA. The impact of
changes in scope of consolidation in December 2018 includes flows in connection with the Kiloutou Acquisition for
€596.7 million.

Cash flow from financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities increased from positive € 50.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 to positive € 738.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. In the year ended December 31,
2017, we issued €250.7 million of debt, composed of €172.5 million in bank loan and €78.1 million in leases. We repaid
€ 200.1 million of debt, including €60.2 million of finance leases. In the year ended December 31, 2018, we issued
€1,006.9 million of debt, composed of €114.6 million of new finance leases and € 827.0 million of debt due to the
Kiloutou Acquisition. The €427.7 million of capital increase also relates to the Kiloutou Acquisition. We repaid
€696.3 million of debt, including €64.6 million of finance leases and €630.7 million related to operations in connection
with the Kiloutou Acquisition.

Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016
Cash flow from operations

Net cash provided by operations increased by 45.3% from €127.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2016
to €184.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. Before changes in working capital requirements and variations
in other financial debt and in accrued interest on debt, net cash provided by operations increased by 26.1% from €
142.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to €179.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, due to the
increase in EBITDA. Changes in working capital rose from a negative impact of € 3.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016 to a positive impact of €16.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The improvement in
working capital in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 was primarily due
to changes in trade payables.

Cash flow for investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities decreased from €254.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to
€207.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily due the decrease of the renewal of capital expenditures.
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Capital expenditures decreased for the year ended December 31, 2017 from €161.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016, of which our rental fleet accounted for €144.9 million, to €138.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017, of which our rental fleet accounted for €124.6 million. Cash from fixed asset disposals, related to
our rental fleet is already included in EBITDA.

Cash flow from financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities decreased from positive € 133.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016 to positive € 50.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. In the year ended December 31,
2016, we issued €276.9 million of debt, composed of €140.0 million of debt loan, €30.0 million of bonds and
€106.9 million of finance lease. We repaid €143.5 million of debt, including € 48.2 million of finance leases. In the year
ended December 31, 2017, we issued €250.7 million of debt, composed of €78.1 million of new finance leases. We
repaid €200.1 million of debt, including € 60.2 million of finance leases.

Capital expenditures

Our capital expenditures consist principally of investments in fixed assets (i.e., our equipment fleet). We
determine and allocate our budget for capital expenditures on an annual basis. Decisions about investment in new
equipment are based in significant part on our views of future demand. During growth cycles we may decide to invest in
our business by replacing aging or end-of-life equipment and by expanding the total size of the fleet, while in downturns
we tend to restrict capital expenditures to the replacement of end-of-life equipment and conserve cash.

The table below shows our investments for the last three years.

As of or for
As of or for the year ended the nine months
December 31, ended September 30,
2016 2017 2018 2018 2019

(€ millions) Financiere Kilinvest Issuer Issuer Issuer

illustrative illustrative

pro forma pro forma

Capital expenditures and disposal proceeds

Gross capital expenditures .........cccocceeveneneiene. (161.3)  (138.0) (226.8) (203.5)  (189.6)
Purchase of rental equipment.............ccocoovvnnenn. (144.9) (124.6) (203.2) (185.7)  (178.4)
Purchase of non-rental equipment ..................... (16.5) (13.3) (23.6) 17.7) (11.3)
Net proceeds from disposal of fixed assets ......... 24.4 19.8 26.8 16.5 20.5
Proceeds from rental equipment sales................ 23.7 19.8 26.7 16.4 204
Proceeds from other asset sales ..............ccceueee. 0.7 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Net capital expenditures™ ............ccocevevvvsrininnnne. (136.9) (118.2) (200.0) (187.0)  (169.1)
Q) We define net capital expenditures as capital expenditures, less proceeds from the sale of fixed assets, including

rental equipment.

Our total gross capital expenditures for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 amounted to €189.6 million,
of which € 178.4 million was from the purchase of rental equipment, compared to € 203.5 million for the nine months
September 30, 2018, of which € 185.7 million was from the purchase of rental equipment. Total gross capital
expenditures spend in the nine months ended September 30, 2019 decreased due to a lower level of growth capital
expenditures.

Total gross capital expenditures increased from €138.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 to
€226.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2018. Purchase of rental equipment amounted to € 203.2 million in the
year ended December 31, 2018, compared to € 124.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2017.

Contractual obligations

The table below summarizes our contractual obligations as of September 30, 2019, after giving effect to the
Transactions. The information presented in the table below reflects our management’s estimates of the contractual
maturities of our obligations. These maturities may differ significantly from the actual maturity of these obligations. The
table does not reflect amounts that may be drawn under the New Revolving Credit Facility, interest thereon, and any
utilization fees payable thereunder.

(€ millions) Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-5 years 5 years
Notes offered hereby™ ...........cccovveeeieeiieeceeee e 860.0 — — 860.0



Convertible BONAS@ ..........ccoveevereeeeeeeeeee e 190.0 — — 190.0
Leases and other borrowings from financial institutions®..... 267.1 80.8 186.3 0.0
Other borrowings from non-financial institutions.................. 1.1 0.4 0.7 0.0
TOLAL e 1,318.2 81.2 187.0 1,050.0
Q) Does not reflect interest payments due in respect of the Notes offered hereby.
(2 In 2018 convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of €165.0 million were issued to some direct and

indirect shareholders. The notes are redeemable 10 years from issuance.
3) Includes finance leases and bilateral loans.
Off-balance sheet commitments

We are a party to various customary off-balance sheet arrangements, including guarantees given to financial
institutions in connection with the Existing Senior Facilities and with operating leases contracted for equipment rental
payments that are not capitalized, real estate leases and other vehicle leases.

Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risks
Currency and interest rate derivatives

We are exposed to market risks arising from fluctuations in interest rates and exchange rates in the ordinary
course of our business. To manage these risks effectively, we enter into hedging transactions and use derivative financial
instruments to mitigate the adverse effects of these risks. We do not enter into financial instruments for trading or
speculative purposes.

We still own a portfolio of derivative financial instruments hedging interest rate variations for a notional amount
of €1,805.7 million as of September 30, 2019 to expire in January 2025. These derivatives include interest rate swaps for
our Existing Senior Facilities. The mark to market value of this derivatives portfolio was negative €28.5 million as of
September 30, 2019 and decreased to €22.3 million as of October 31, 2019. We may enter into interest rate swaps in
connection with the issuance of Floating Rate Notes. As of September 30, 2019, our financial debt was composed of
€223.7 million of financial leases and €863.0 million of loans. The amount of our debt covered by hedging interest rate
instrument as of September 30, 2019 was €570.7 million.

The majority of our revenue (96.7% as of September 30, 2019), expenses and obligations are denominated in
euros. However, we are exposed to foreign exchange rate risk, primarily in respect of Polish Zloty. We do not consider
this exposure as material and we do not own foreign exchange rate derivative financial instruments as of September 30,
2019.

Certain differences between French GAAP and IFRS

The Group’s audited consolidated financial statements and unaudited interim consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this offering memorandum have been prepared in accordance with French GAAP. Certain
differences exist between French GAAP and IFRS that may be material to the financial information presented therein.

The discussion set forth below summarizes certain differences identified between French GAAP as applied by
the Group and IFRS, following a limited analysis of both sets of principles. The Group is responsible for preparing the
summary below and has not prepared a reconciliation of its consolidated financial information from French GAAP to
IFRS.

In making an investment decision, investors must rely upon their own examination of the Group, the terms of
the Offering and the financial information. Potential investors should consult their own professional advisors for an
understanding of the differences between French GAAP and IFRS and how those differences might affect the financial
information herein. Potential investors should not take this summary to be a comprehensive list of all differences between
French GAAP and IFRS.

Some differences between French GAAP and IFRS, as they relate to the Group, are listed hereafter.

+  CVAE tax contribution (Contribution a la Valeur Ajoutée des Entreprises, a local business tax applied in
France) has been classified as other operating expenses under French GAAP in 2016 and 2017 rather than
income tax under IFRS. Since 2018, the CVAE tax contribution is classified as income tax.

83



»  Retirement indemnities would have been treated differently under IFRS than French GAAP, but we do not
deem this difference to be material for the Group.

»  Certain acquisition costs are capitalized under French GAAP rather than being expensed as they would be
under IFRS.

»  Valuation of financial debt differs from French GAAP under 1AS 32 and IFRS 9. Application of
IAS32/TFRS9 to the Group would increase the financial debt by €28.4 million as at September 30, 2019 and
by €22.3 million as at October 30, 2019.

» Recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities differs from French GAAP under 1AS 12.

* IFRS 16, applicable since January 1, 2019 is a significant difference between French GAAP and IFRS.
Application of IFRS 16 to the Group would:

» Increase EBITDA by replacing the operating lease costs by depreciation of right of use and interest on
rents. The impact on EBITDA is estimated to be €55.3 million for the twelve months ended September 30,
20109.

» Increase the financial debt as at September 30, 2019 by €148.0 million.
Critical accounting policies and estimates

French GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period.
These estimates and assumptions are based on the information available at the time of preparation of the financial
statements and affect the published amounts. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements under French GAAP requires the consideration by our
management of estimates and assumptions that can affect the reported value of certain assets and liabilities, income and
expenses, and the information disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Our management reviews these estimates
and assumptions on a regular basis to ensure that they are appropriate based on past experience and current economic
conditions. Items in future financial statements may differ from current estimates as a result of changes in these estimates
and assumptions.

The main estimates made by management in the preparation of financial statements relate to the valuation and
the useful life of non-current assets (especially goodwill).

When a specific transaction is not covered by any standards or interpretations, management uses its judgment in
developing and applying an accounting policy that results in the production of relevant and reliable information.

As a result, our management believes that the financial statements provide a true and fair view of our financial
position, financial performance and cash flows and reflect the economic substance of transactions. We consider the
following policies and estimates to be the most critical in understanding the assumptions and judgments that are involved
in preparing our financial statements and the uncertainties that could affect our financial results, financial condition and
cash flows.

Fair value, goodwill and other intangible assets

The identifiable assets and liabilities of acquired companies are measured at fair value on first-time
consolidation.

Fair value adjustments are recognized where necessary along with the corresponding deferred taxes.

Any goodwill, badwill, fair value adjustments or transaction costs related to shares purchased prior to the date
on which control is acquired are eliminated on consolidation as they are not considered to be identifiable assets or
liabilities.

Any difference between (i) the acquisition cost of the shares of a newly consolidated company (including net of

tax transaction costs) and (ii) the acquisition-date fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, is
recognized under “Goodwill” in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Following the transposition of Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament into French law by
Government Order no. 2015-900 and Decree no. 2015-903 of July 23, 2015, goodwill recognized on the acquisition of
consolidated companies is not amortized as the activities to which the goodwill relates do not have any foreseeable limit.

The intangible assets identified by the Group correspond to the value of (i) a trademark, and (ii) customer
relationships, in view of the recurring revenue generated with customers.

The value of the trademark concerned was measured using the relief-from-royalty method (by capitalizing
future royalties to infinity based on the assumption of a 1.5% annual growth rate and an 8.1% discount rate).

Customer relationships have been recognized as intangible assets in view of the highly recurring nature of
revenue identified for certain business units. Based on the business unit analyses used by Group management, customer
relationship intangible assets have been identified for the following business units: (i) general rentals in France,

(i) specialist rentals in France, and (iii) general rentals in Poland, Italy and Germany.

The intangible assets recognized for these customer relationships will be amortized on a straight-line basis over
a period of ten years, with the recognition of corresponding deferred taxes.

Goodwill and intangible assets are tested for impairment once a year. No impairment losses were recognized for
these assets at December 31, 2018 in view of the fact that (i) the date on which the Group acquired control of the
companies concerned was so recent, and (ii) the companies’ results were in line with expectations.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are measured at fair value. Only real estate assets are revalued, with the
revaluations based on values provided by real estate valuation experts, which are updated where necessary to take into
account changes in the local property markets in the countries where the assets are located. Revalued assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over a period of 20 years for real estate owned.

The amortization of intangible assets (excluding market share and trademarks) and the depreciation of property,
plant and equipment are calculated using the straight-line method, based on the estimated useful lives of the assets
concerned. The amortizable/depreciable amount corresponds to the asset’s acquisition cost, as defined above, less any

residual value.

If any indication of impairment is identified, an impairment loss is recognized where the fair value of an asset is
lower than its carrying amount.

The useful lives of the Group’s main assets are as follows:
» software: 1 to 5 years
»  buildings: 20 years
» leasehold improvements, fixtures and fittings: 4 to 10 years
» lifting equipment: 3 to 9 years
»  earth-moving equipment: 3 to 9 years
»  other equipment: 3 to 10 years
» vehicles: 3to 5 years
« office and IT equipment: 3 to 6 years
»  furniture: 3 to 10 years
Receivables and payables

Receivables and payables are recognized at nominal value.
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Subsequent to initial recognition, a provision for impairment is recognized for receivables if their fair value is
lower than their carrying amount. In accordance with French GAAP, any exchange differences are recognized in
consolidated net income.

Finance leases

In accordance with the recommended method under French GAAP, the Group capitalizes assets held under
finance leases.

These assets are capitalized when:
» the lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term;
» the lease contains a bargain purchase option;

» the lease covers the majority of the economic life of the asset, irrespective of whether ownership is
transferred to the lessee by the end of the lease term;

« the present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease is equal to, or greater than,
substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset.

The Group’s finance leases mainly concern rental equipment, land and buildings, as follows:

+ the leased assets are capitalized and are depreciated in the same way as the Group’s other property, plant
and equipment.

»  the aggregate amount of the lease payments is accounted for in the same way as the repayment of a
conventional loan taken out to finance the assets concerned. Consequently, lease payments recorded in the
individual financial statements of Group companies are eliminated on consolidation through the recognition
of interest expense and the repayment of the finance lease liability over the term of the lease.

» under French GAAP, capitalization of assets held under finance leases is only permitted in consolidated
financial statements and not in individual company financial statements.

Retirement benefit obligations

In accordance with French GAAP, retirement benefit obligations are recorded as a provision in the consolidated
financial statements.

The projected benefit obligation is measured by an independent actuary and is validated by the Statutory
Auditors. It is calculated using the projected unit credit method, which sees each period of service as giving rise to an
additional unit of benefit entitlement.

The benefit obligations are determined based on salaries, payroll tax rates, estimated retirement ages, and the
probability that the employees concerned will still be with the Group at their retirement date. The Group applies a 2%
rate for future salary increases and uses the INSEE 2012-2016 mortality table. Staff turnover rates are calculated by age
bracket. The probability of employees leaving the Group before retirement varies between 8.8% for employees over 50
and 24.8% for those aged between 20 and 24. The discount rate used is 1.60%.

Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are recognized using the liability method, taking into account:

»  All temporary differences (arising both in the individual financial statements and directly in the
consolidated financial statements) between the carrying amount of an asset or liability and its tax base.

»  Tax losses, when their utilization is considered highly probable.
»  Taxes related to restatements, adjustments and eliminations made on consolidation.

The income tax rates used for calculating deferred taxes are 25.82% for French companies, 19% for Polish
companies, 25% for Spanish companies, 24% for Italian companies, and 26% for German entities.
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Industry

Certain of the information set forth in this section has been derived from external sources, including, among
other sources, a report the European Rental Association (the “ERA”) and a report from Euroconstruct. Unless
otherwise stated, the source of all industry metrics, estimates and projections used in this offering memorandum is the
ERA. Industry publications generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources
believed to be reliable, but some of the information may have been derived from estimates or subjective judgments or
may have been subject to limited audit or validation. While we believe these market data and other information are
accurate and correct, we have not independently verified them. Furthermore, such estimates or judgments, particularly
as they relate to expectations about our market and industry, involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change
based on various factors, including those discussed under “Risk factors” and “Forward-l0oking statements” elsewhere
in this offering memorandum. These projections and other forward-looking statements in this section are not guarantees
of future performance and actual events and circumstances could differ materially from current expectations. Numerous
factors could cause or contribute to such differences. See “Market and industry data”, “Risk factors” and
“Forward-looking statements.”

Industry overview

Equipment rental companies provide customers with equipment, including both large equipment (such as
earthmoving equipment, telescopic handlers, boom lifts, excavators and forklift trucks), and smaller equipment and tools
(such as power saws, perforators, sanding equipment, scaffolding, ladders, power generators and other small tools) used
in construction and renovation projects as well as craftwork and do-it yourself projects. Rental companies also often
provide a wide range of services associated with the equipment they offer for rent such as transportation and delivery,
fuel provision, sale of consumables, insurance, maintenance, subrentals, site diagnosis and logistics and training.

The primary customers for equipment rental companies such as us include construction companies, civil work
companies, public utilities, local authorities and government entities, events companies and tradesmen, as well as a
number of industrial groups and other companies. In addition, craftsmen and homeowners, increasingly seek to rent
equipment, although on a less frequent basis as compared with the primary customers described above.

We operate in France, Germany, Italy, Poland and Spain. The dynamics of the customer and geographic end
markets we serve vary significantly, as described below under “—Our geographic markets”.

Market size and growth forecast

The total size of the European equipment rental market (defined as total rental revenue, including rental-related
revenue, merchandise and sale of used equipment) at €26.0 billion in 2018. The three largest equipment rental markets in
Europe in 2018 were the United Kingdom (estimated at €6.8 billion), Germany (estimated at €4.6 billion) and France
(estimated at €3.9 billion) and collectively accounted for approximately 59% of total rental revenue in 2018. The
European rental market is forecasted to grow by 3.8% in 2019, as compared with estimated growth of 4.4% in 2018.
Growth in our markets in 2018 was as follows: 6.2% in Poland, 7.8% in France, 5.3% in Spain, 5.8% in Italy and 5.2% in
Germany.

The graphic below presents the rental revenue, forecasted market growth rates and construction rental
penetration rate (as of 2018) for the equipment rental markets in which we operate, as well as key reference markets in
the United Kingdom and Scandinavia. Construction rental penetration rate for the purposes of this graph is calculated as
the share of total rental market divided by the total construction output.
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(Source: ERA 2019 Market Report)

Overall, the European construction market is expected to experience slower growth in the coming years, within
a wider context of a weakening economic expansion, although almost all European countries are expected to continue
growing in the short term. The forecasted growth rate of the 19 European countries covered by Euroconstruct data is
expected to be 1.9% in 2019, 1.5% in 2020 and 1.4% in 2021, and is forecasted to grow at a CAGR of 1.6% between
2018 and 2021. According to Euroconstruct, the residential construction end market grew on average by 3.0% in 2018 for
the 19 European countries covered by Euroconstruct data and is expected to grow by 1.2% in 2019, 1.0% in 2020 and
0.8% in 2021, at a forecasted CAGR of 1.0% over between 2018 and 2021, while the non-residential construction end
market grew on average by 1.9% in 2018 and is expected to grow by 1.3% in 2019, 1.2% in 2020 and 1.2% in 2021, at a
forecasted CAGR of 1.3% between 2018 and 2021. The civil engineering end market grew on average by 5.6% in 2018
and is expected to grow by 4.2% in 2019, 3.1% in 2020 and 2.9% in 2021, at a forecasted CAGR of 3.4% between 2018
and 2021. Overall economic growth in Europe is expected to slow due to low business confidence caused by a variety of
factors, including economic and political uncertainty in Italy and widespread political uncertainty due to Brexit. While
infrastructure is expected to remain a key driver of growth in the European construction market (and, as a result in the
European equipment rental markets) through 2020, many EU-funded infrastructure projects are reaching completion
ahead of the next EU budgetary period beginning in 2021. In addition, other macroeconomic drivers, such as geopolitical
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risks, rising protectionism (including the trade dispute between the United States and China), slowing emerging
economies and saturation of the market and an excess in production capacities, may have a negative impact on the
construction sector growth in the years to come.

The graphic below presents the market sizes and forecasted market growth rates of the construction markets in
the equipment rental markets in which we operate, as well as key reference markets in the United Kingdom and
Scandinavia (in descending order based on equipment rental market size for 2018):

Market size
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(Source: 87" Euroconstruct report)
Competitive landscape

We are the second largest generalist equipment rental company in Europe based on revenue, after Loxam. Our
primary competitors are large national and international equipment providers that offer broad, generalized product ranges
to customers. In addition to such generalist equipment rental companies (who may also offer specialist ranges), we also
compete with dedicated specialty equipment rental companies, such as Algeco in regards to modular construction
equipment rentals and Aggreko in regards to temporary energy solutions rentals.
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The European equipment rental industry is generally highly fragmented, with a small number of incumbent
national or international operators holding sizeable market shares and many smaller companies serving discrete local or
regional markets. Fragmentation also generally characterizes each of the five geographies in which we operate.
Competition in the equipment rental market tends to be based primarily on geographic and equipment availability, as
well as equipment quality, price, quality of sales relationships, delivery times, quality of service and possession of
relevant health and safety certifications. The equipment rental market is characterized by substantial capital expenditure
requirements and the importance of long-lasting relationships with suppliers and customers. The geographic coverage,
network flexibility, strength of brand, and economies of scale of existing key players create high barriers to entry and
further contribute to these challenges for potential market entrants.

In France, where we were the second largest player and held an estimated 16.0% market share in 2018 (in terms
of revenue), we primarily compete with Loxam.

In Italy, where we believe we were the fourth largest player in 2018 (in terms of revenue), we primarily compete
with CGT Ediliza, Mollo and Loxam/Nacanco.

In Poland, where we believe we were the second largest player in 2018 (in terms of revenue), we primarily
compete with Ramirent, Atut, Mateco, Riwal and Cramo.

In Germany, where we have a significant regional presence in key regions, we primarily compete with Zeppelin,
HKL, Boels, TVH Mateco, Cramo, Gerken Arbeitsbiihnen and Paul Becker.

In Spain, where we believe we were the fourth largest player in 2018 (in terms of revenue), we primarily
compete with Loxam-Hiine, GAM, Mateco, Maquinza and Axor.

Key market drivers

The equipment rental industry is dependent on general economic conditions and the activity levels of the
construction market. Increased rental penetration and a structural shift towards the equipment rental model is also driving
growth in our market.

Construction market activity levels

Growth in the equipment rental industry tends to be closely correlated to growth in the construction market, as
the equipment rental industry generally tries to forecast growth in the construction market and respond to changes
therein.

The construction market is composed of three primary subsectors: (i) new residential and non-residential,
(ii) renovation and maintenance and (iii) infrastructure (which includes transportation infrastructure and
telecommunications, as well as energy and water works).

While the construction market as a whole is cyclical, individual end markets have different growth patterns and
do not necessarily follow similar trends. For example, the renovation and maintenance end market tends to be relatively
closely correlated to macroeconomic cycles, as customers tend to reduce or delay new projects in favor of renovation and
maintenance work during economic downturns. In addition, construction activity levels can vary significantly between
different regional and local markets, providing further balance to demand for rental equipment.

Structural shift towards the equipment rental model

The long-term growth prospects for the equipment rental industry continue to be favorable, driven in part by a
structural shift towards equipment rental versus equipment ownership by end-users. The rental concept is increasingly
attractive in a macroeconomic context in which even financially healthy companies find equipment rental to be a prudent
way to control costs, which allows them to focus on their core strategy and optimize capital expenditures. Additionally,
some companies may rely on the rental channel because they do not have the financial resources to invest in a large
costly equipment fleet or are unable to renew an ageing fleet at favorable terms on a regular basis or as required to
respond to customers’ needs. Construction, industrial and public works companies increasingly recognize the advantages
of equipment rental over ownership, which include but are not limited to:

« allowing customers to exchange fixed costs for variable costs on an as-needed basis, so that rental costs are
only incurred when there is a predictable source of revenue; in contrast, ownership costs are fixed and
include a number of ongoing costs, such as insurance, maintenance, repair, transportation and storage; these
costs tend to increase over the life of the product;
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+ reducing the amount of capital required relative to purchasing and maintaining equipment, which allows
companies to manage capital and operating expenditures to more efficiently invest in their core operations;

+ transferring the complexity of the equipment resale process as well as the residual value risk of the
equipment at the end of its useful life to the rental equipment provider so that the customer can avoid losses
associated with depreciation;

»  ability to be used to supplement owned equipment, thereby increasing the range and number of tasks that
can be performed and allowing customers to take advantage of new business opportunities without making
significant investments and capital commitments;

« allowing customers to access up-to-date technology, benefitting from advancements in efficiency and
enabling them to remain compliant with regulatory changes without the additional cost of having to replace
outdated equipment;

» outsourcing to rental equipment providers fleet management and minimizes costs related to idle equipment
during project downtimes and provides flexibility to deal with unexpected events such as equipment failure
or changes in planning; and

« allowing customers to select the most appropriate piece of equipment for their projects, which can improve
safety, efficiency and quality of work.

Rental penetration

Construction rental penetration is expected to increase throughout Europe as users recognize the advantages of
equipment rental. The construction rental penetration rate is an important growth factor for equipment rental companies
in a context of forecasted slowing in construction output. The rental penetration rate tends to vary from country to
country, and is influenced by, among other factors, the existence and quality of equipment rental companies in the local
market, national economic conditions, attractiveness of financing and tax environments, weather patterns and cultural
attitudes towards equipment rental.

The average construction rental penetration rate for the 15 European countries covered by the ERA report was
1.4% in 2018. For 2018, France’s construction rental penetration rate was estimated to be 1.4%. Generally speaking, we
believe there is room to grow in terms of rental penetration in all of the geographies in which we operate.

Our geographic markets

We operate equipment rental branches in five European countries: France, Italy, Poland, Germany and Spain.
Growth in our markets in 2018 was as follows: 6.2% in Poland, 7.8% in France, 5.3% in Spain, 5.8% in Italy and 5.2% in
Germany. These geographic markets, including their size and growth prospects, are described below.

French equipment rental market

The French equipment rental market was the third largest market in Europe in 2018, behind the United Kingdom
and Germany, with an estimated size of €3.9 billion in 2018. The French rental market is forecasted to grow at a CAGR
of 3.2% from 2019 through 2021, compared to an estimated CAGR of 3.5% in the French construction market over the
same period. We and Loxam are the two largest players in the French equipment rental market and together accounted
for approximately 35% of the total market in terms of revenue in 2018, with us holding an estimated 16.0% market share
based on our revenue in 2018. Both companies have contributed to the consolidation of the market while pursuing
different growth strategies. We have focused on opening new branches in areas with good rental potential through
organic growth and bolt-on acquisitions, while Loxam has focused on larger acquisitions

The challenging economic climate in France following the 2008 financial crisis affected the equipment rental
industry until 2014, when the industry stabilized. The equipment rental market in France has displayed stronger growth
than the French construction market since 2010, primarily due to good economic conditions, high demand in the
construction sector and high degree of market concentration amongst the two largest player. As demand for dwellings
still exceeds supply in France, the residential construction market should be an important market driver for the coming
years: growth in residential construction is estimated to have been 2.0% for 2018 and is forecasted to be 1.3% in 2019.
Additionally, growing numbers of energy efficiency projects are also expected to boost the renovation sector in France.
In addition to the residential construction and renovation, the French equipment rental market is also favorably exposed
to a strong infrastructure construction industry. For example, under its 2017 investment plan, the French government will
invest €20 billion by 2022, in addition to EU-level funding that is also expected to drive infrastructure construction
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growth. Finally, increasing rental penetration rates in the construction sector are also expected to support the French
rental equipment market in the near future.

The table below presents actual, estimated and forecasted revenue, revenue growth and penetration data for the
equipment rental market in France over the 2016 to 2020 period.

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
{actual) (actual) ( estimated) (estimated) (forecasted)
Revenue (€ million) 3,345 3,585 3,865 4,000 4,225
Y revenue growih (7.6)% 7.2% 7.8% 5.8% 3.3%
I'J/' . X g H | ¥ - -
5 construction indusir) ] 3% 1.4% 1.4% 1.5 1.5%

frenerrat ion rate

Italian equipment rental market

The Italian equipment rental market is the fifth largest market in Europe in 2018, with an estimated size of
€1.6 billion. In 2018 the equipment rental market in Italy grew by an estimated 5.8% and is forecasted to grow at a
CAGR of 2.4% between 2019 and 2021.

After years of contraction, the rental industry in Italy is recovering and the health of the construction sector,
estimated as being responsible for 70% of rental demand, is driving growth. The main drivers of growth in the Italian
rental equipment market are construction output, GDP and industrial production. Since 2015, the Italian construction
sector has shown a modest recovery from severe crisis. In 2018, the Italian construction market performed better than
expected, growing by 2.2% (as compared with 0.5% growth in 2017), aided by growth both in new infrastructure
investments, building renovation activity and a recovering residential construction market driven by low interest rates
and improved access to mortgages. Public expenditures for infrastructure are expected to continue to grow, due to
significant funds and resources already allocated, and, according to Euroconstruct, for non-public construction, a relevant
surge in permits effectively represents new production in the short term. The residential and non-residential real estate
markets continue to improve and further growth is expected due to refurbishment of public building stock, supported by
newly approved government measures. Finally, in the coming years, the Italian construction market may also be driven
by eco-innovation and energy efficient renovations.

The table below presents actual, estimated and forecasted revenue, revenue growth and penetration data for the
equipment rental market in Italy over the 2016 to 2020 period.

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

(actual) (actual) (estimated) (estimated) (forecasted)
Revenue (€ million) 1,395 1,465 1,550 1,625 1,665
% growth 2.6% 509 582 4.8% 3 500
Y construction indusiry 0.8% 0.8% 0.8% 0.8% 0.9%
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Polish equipment rental market

The Polish equipment rental market is the tenth largest market in Europe, with an estimated size of €685 million
in 2018. The equipment rental market in Poland grew by an estimated 6.2% in 2018 and is forecasted to grow at a CAGR
of 8.8% between 2019 and 2021. The Polish rental equipment market is highly fragmented, with smaller rental
companies accounting for more than 65% of total industry revenue, and with European rental companies such as us
playing an increasingly important role. Based on our 2018 revenue, we believe that we held the number two position in
the Polish market.

Construction is estimated to account for 80% of equipment rental demand in Poland and, following a period of
decline between 2010 and 2016, the Polish construction industry is showing signs of improvement which is currently
benefitting the Polish rental equipment market. According to Euroconstruct reporting, Polish construction production in
the first quarters of 2019 was 7% higher than the same periods in 2017 and increases have been observed across
construction sectors. The highest growth is in infrastructure, which rose 16%, while the production of housing has
increased at a double-digit rate and non-residential construction has increased by half. The Polish construction market is
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characterized by the comparatively high importance of the non-residential and infrastructure sectors: residential
construction accounted for just 20% of the overall construction market in 2018. New government programs announced in
2018 for the development of roads and highways and the modernization of railway lines, as well as inflows of EU
funding, also contribute to a positive forecast of further increases in infrastructure construction output. Additionally,
relatively low rental penetration rates in both the construction and the non-construction sectors represents room for
growth, in particular considering the recent expansion of the manufacturing industry in Poland.

The table below presents actual, estimated and forecasted revenue, revenue growth and penetration data for the
equipment rental market in Poland over the 2016 to 2020 period.

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
(actual) (actual) (estimated) (estimated) (forecasted)

Revenue (€ million,

converted from Polish 570 645 635 735 205
zloty on a constant

currency basis)
%o g”}“"‘h (3.4)% 13.2% .2% 7.3% 0.5%

Y construction industry

) (L.5% (L5% 0.7% . 7% (L.5%
penefration rale

German equipment rental market

The German equipment rental market is the second largest market in Europe, with an estimated size of
€4.6 billion in 2018. The German equipment rental market grew by an estimated 5.2% in 2018 and is forecasted to grow
ata 4.0% CAGR from 2019 to 2021. The German equipment rental market is characterized by cohabitation between
international companies and national rental players having a strong local customer base, as well as sophisticated customer
demands in terms of innovation, services, and quality. Additionally, distributors and manufacturers also play an
important role, though they tend to have business models that are more rent-to-sell oriented.

Germany experienced a strong macroeconomic upswing between 2014 and 2018 and, although growth is
slowing, the medium-term outlook remains good. Between 2010 and 2018, the total output of the German construction
sector grew by 13.5%. The construction sector accounts for an estimated average of 65% of rental demand in Germany.
In addition, the relatively low rental penetration rate in German presents a growth opportunity.

The table below presents actual, estimated and forecasted revenue, revenue growth and penetration data for the
equipment rental market in Germany over the 2016 to 2020 period.

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

(actual) (actual) (estimated) (estimated) (forecasted)
Revenue (€ million) 4,315 4,395 4.625 4,885 5,090
% grf“l'fh Q2% 1.9%5 52% 5.0% 4 2%
T 1.7% 1.7% 1.7% 1.7% 1.7%
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Spanish equipment rental market

The Spanish equipment rental market is the sixth largest market in Europe, with an estimated size of €1.4 billion
in 2018. The Spanish equipment rental market grew by an estimated 5.3% in 2018 and is forecasted to grow at a CAGR
of 5.2% from 2019 to 2021.

The construction sector is estimated to account for 75% of rental demand in Spain, which has increased in recent
years following recovery in the Spanish construction sector. With generally improving macroeconomic conditions in
Spain, the contribution of the non-construction sector may evolve in the coming years.

Between 2008 and 2013, the Spanish construction industry experienced a difficult period, with many
construction companies closing, but has shown signs of recovery in terms of total construction output, number of
operating companies and total number of employees in recent years. The construction sector in Spain is driven in large
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part by residential construction, which is in turn fueled by a growing number of households, increasing consumer
confidence and declining mortgage rates. Additionally, promising trends are observed in the housing renovation and
sustainable construction segments, thanks to several policy schemes, regional initiatives and dedicated programs, such as
the new State Housing Plan 2018-2021. With more than 70% of Spanish equipment rental industry revenue generated by
firms with fewer than 50 employees, the current fragmentation also offers room for further consolidation.

The table below presents actual, estimated and forecasted revenue, revenue growth and penetration data for the

equipment rental market in Spain over the 2016 to 2020 period.

2016 207
(actual) (actual)
Revenue (€ million) 1,190 1,310
% growth (1.2)% 10.1%
Y construction industry 0.7%; 0.8%
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2018 2019 2020
(estimated) (estimated) (forecasted)
1,380 1,445 1,520
5.3% 4 7% 5.2%
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Business
Overview

We are the second largest generalist equipment rental player in Europe and the second largest player in our
largest market, France, based on revenue, serving the construction, civil works, craft, services, industry and events
sectors. We have a significant European presence serving over 300,000 clients across five countries (France, Poland,
Italy, Spain and Germany). As of September 30, 2019, we had a network of 519 branches offering a rental fleet that
comprises approximately 250,000 tools and pieces of equipment (excluding accessories) of approximately 1,000 different
types. In the twelve months ended September 30, 2019, we generated revenue of €729.4 million and EBITDA of €
240.3 million.

We started our business with a focus on tools and light equipment. Over time, we have grown this offering and
diversified our offering to provide a wide array of complementary heavy equipment as well as value-adding services,
creating a one-stop-shop for both professional customers (business-to-business) and individuals (business-to-consumer)
looking for solutions for a variety of projects and construction works.

We report our revenue in two segments: Rental and Services. For the twelve months ended September 30, 2019,
€515.9 million, or 70.7%, of our revenue was derived from our Rental segment and €213.5 million, or 29.3%, was
derived from our Services segment.

* Rental segment. We rent both heavy and light equipment and tools to a diversified client base including
construction and civil work companies, craftsmen, public entities, industrial companies, events companies
and, to a lesser extent, individuals. Our Rental segment consists of two business lines in France: Generalist
and Specialist. Our French Generalist business line includes our core equipment rental activities. We offer
one of the largest catalogues of rental equipment across four product categories: Tools and Light
Equipment, Earthmoving, Access and Utility Vehicles, which accounted for 35%, 32%, 21% and 6%,
respectively, of our French Rental segment pro forma revenue in the year ended December 31, 2018. Our
French Specialist business line, which accounted for 6% of our French Rental segment pro forma revenue
in the year ended December 31, 2018, comprises three product categories: Power, Module and Events.

«  Services segment. We offer services that are directly associated with our Rental segment activities, as
well as other services that cater to our clients’ requirements. Our Services segment includes the following
activities: transportation and delivery of equipment, sale of consumables (such as ancillary products that are
fitted to equipment we rent, as well as cross-sales of other products, such as diamond blades and sandpaper,
safety equipment and oil) and spare parts adapted to our equipment rental offering, sale of insurance
policies offered to customers in connection with our rental agreements, cleaning and repair services for the
maintenance of our equipment, fuel for equipment and vehicles, client trainings and various other activities
such as the sale of products or subrental of equipment. Our two largest Services categories, Transportation
and Delivery and Consumables, accounted for 38% and 27%, respectively, of revenue within our Services
segment for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019.

Historically located in Lille, we have progressively expanded our reach into key industrial and populated areas
in France, building a dense network of 445 branches covering all key regions as of September 30, 2019. We also began
expanding our business internationally in 2014 with the acquisition of two companies in Poland. As of September 30,
2019, we had 74 branches in Poland, Italy, Spain and Germany.

We believe that our dense network in France contributes to strong branch visibility and, ultimately, to strong
brand recognition. Our business model is based on a decentralized approach that allows our clusters to have a high degree
of autonomy and responsibility. Cluster and branch managers have a solid knowledge of their local markets and are in a
strong position to build long-lasting relationships with local clients, which we believe enable them to react quickly,
efficiently and precisely to their specific geographic markets. We intend to apply the same business model to the other
countries in which we operate as we expand our international network.

The chart below shows our total revenue by geography for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019.

Total revenue by geography
for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019
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We own the second largest equipment rental fleet in Europe in terms of gross book value, with a gross book
value of €1.3 billion as of September 30, 2019. In recent years, we have heavily invested in our operations to modernize
our equipment fleet and improve our service offering, which we believe positions us well to capture future market
growth, driven by increasing customer preference for renting rather than owning equipment, as well as increasing our
favorable penetration rates in our geographic markets. As of September 30, 2019, our young equipment fleet within our
French Generalist business line had an estimated weighted average age of 4.6 years (compared to 5.3 years in 2016) and
an estimated weighted average useful life of over ten years. Offering a relatively new fleet allows us not only to provide
our clients with modern and well-functioning equipment but also to better manage our repair and maintenance costs. We
believe that the high quality of our equipment fleet is highly regarded by our clients.

Through both bolt-on acquisitions and organic growth, we continue to expand and diversify our offering from
our core rental equipment activities into new specialist markets. Our Power, Module and Events business lines are fully
integrated with our operations, including with respect to products and services offered through our network of branches,
logistics and fleet management, and customer care services, which enables us to increase and diversify our client base.

We also invest in innovative solutions to accommodate our clients’ changing needs, which cannot be easily
replicated by smaller competitors. For example, we recently launched our drones offering, which includes the rental of
unmanned aerial vehicles and related equipment, such as drones and drone sensors, together with ancillary services, such
as piloting. Our drone solutions provide: (i) photos and videos that can be used in inspecting, monitoring and promoting
projects, (ii) aerial thermography, (iii) topographic surveying, (iv) panoramic imaging for the installation, modification or
maintenance of antennas and masts in the telecom industry, (v) thermographic imaging to assess defaults and anomalies
in photovoltaic panels and (vi) 3-D modelling. Other recently launched innovative offerings include our offering of
connected and intelligent KARE safety vests, which are designed to avoid collisions of pedestrian employees and
machines and for which we have received the 2019 Mat D’Or innovation award in the category “equipment and tools”, as
well as industrial exo- and ergo-skeleton, which are pieces of equipment that operators wear that allow them to lift and
carry heavy objects.

We believe that the size and density of our network, our large and well-diversified customer base and the quality
of our fleet constitute key competitive advantages that enable us to gain market share and increase the efficiency of our
operations, as well as to secure repeat business. These competitive advantages and the attractive underlying fundamentals
of the equipment rental industry have enabled us to deliver strong financial performance historically, with our revenue
growing at a compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of 10.5% between 2005 and 2018.

Our competitive strengths

We believe that we have a number of core competitive strengths that enable us to compete effectively in our
market, which are discussed further below.

Leading pan-European equipment rental provider with established positioning in core markets

We are the second largest player operating in the European generalist rental equipment market (based on rental
revenue), with a network of 519 branches across five countries as of September 30, 2019. We have established our
leading position in the European market by developing and expanding our network both organically and through a series
of successful bolt-on acquisitions, while cultivating a well-recognized brand that is known for strong market and
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technical expertise and building a large, high-quality fleet. We are also recognized for the quality of our equipment and
services, our prices, product availability, network and proximity to and knowledge of our customers. As a result, we have
consistently increased our revenue market share in France over the past decade, from 10.5% in 2008 to 16.0% in 2018.
We believe our fleet of approximately 250,000 tools and pieces of equipment (excluding accessories) is the second
largest in the European market in terms of gross book value, with a gross book value of €1.3 billion as of September 30,
2019.

In France, which is our largest market, we are the second largest player (based on rental revenue), with a dense
network of 445 branches as of September 30, 2019. We are one of only two players with a national presence, with all
other players competing at a regional level. We are seven times larger than the third player in the industry (based on
rental revenue), with none of the smaller players holding more than approximately 2% of market share as of 2018. We
benefit from the highest brand awareness in the French construction industry (both in terms “Top of Mind” and
“Spontaneous” recognition), based on the number of professionals that cited Kiloutou in a survey of approximately 700
equipment rental consumers (both legal entities and individuals) conducted by a third-party consultant in April 2015.

We are also among the top five players in Poland, Italy and Spain and have a significant presence in Germany,
where we currently primarily offer Access products. Since 2014, we have significantly expanded our international
footprint with a combination of organic development and opportunistic, value-accretive acquisitions. As of
September 30, 2019, we operated 74 branches in Europe outside of France. We have leveraged the know-how we have
cultivated from our extensive experience in France to build a strong presence in our other markets. As a result, we have
achieved significant recognition for our equipment and service quality across our markets.

Favorable market conditions supporting long-term organic growth

We expect to benefit from the positive medium-term outlook of the European equipment rental market as well
as the larger European construction market, which is a key driver of business for us. According to the ERA, the total size
of the European equipment rental market (defined as total rental revenue, including rental-related revenue, merchandise
and sale of used equipment) was €26.0 billion in 2018, with overall growth of 4.4% in 2018.

Our five geographic markets were among the top ten equipment rental markets in Europe and are expected to
grow in the medium term, as illustrated in the chart below.
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In France, which accounted for 84% of our revenue in the twelve months ended September 30, 2019, the
equipment rental market value in 2018 was estimated at €3.9 billion, with 65% of rental revenue estimated to stem from
demand in the construction sector. According to the ERA, the French rental industry will benefit from a good economic
environment in the following years. The market in France is expected to grow at an average growth rate of 3.2% from
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2019 through 2021 driven by an increase in rental volume growth (resulting from both the construction market growth
and increasing rental penetration rate) as well as a steady rental price growth.

In our international markets, our investment strategy takes into account the local market conditions within a
country and we sometimes opt to grow regionally rather than nationally in order to enjoy higher growth rates. We have
benefitted from strong growth in both the Italian and Spanish markets in recent years despite challenging market
conditions. The Spanish market was significantly impacted by the global financial crisis of 2008, which caused
investments to decline steeply and accordingly the fleet age to increase substantially, which we believe creates
opportunities for consolidation. We believe we are well positioned to take advantage of market grow both organically
and through acquisitions in such countries.

Except for Spain, all of our geographic markets had lower penetration rates (measured as the size of the
equipment rental market over construction output) than the average European rate, including countries such as the United
Kingdom and Sweden, in 2018. Penetration rates for equipment rental have been increasing year over year in France and,
even where penetration rates are not increasing, we believe that the comparatively low penetration rates for equipment
rental in certain of the countries in which we operate creates room to capture new market share, which we anticipate will
continue to provide us with growth opportunities.

In the countries where we operate, the equipment rental market has been consistently expanding and amplifying
the construction and economic cycles, with stronger and longer growth periods than the construction market uptakes, and
with downturns typically followed by periods of strong recovery. The equipment rental market in such countries grew at
a CAGR of 5.1% from 2008 to 2018 on a revenue-weighted average base, largely exceeding the growth in gross domestic
product (GDP), industrial production, construction output and civil engineering growth over the same period (CAGRs of
1.0%, (0.5%), (1.4%) and (1.8%), respectively).

We expect that this consistent increase in demand for equipment rental in our principal markets will continue in
the long-term, supported by the following positive fundamental trends:

« anincrease of global urbanization with 68% of the world population expected to be urban by 2050 (as
opposed to 55% in 2018), according to the United Nations;

« anincreasing preference for renting rather than owning equipment, as a result of customer perception that
renting (i) reduces the cost for low-usage equipment (rental companies can obtain better purchase prices and
resale value, better manage annual repair and maintenance costs and optimize equipment utilization rate),
and (ii) optimizes the split between operational expenditures and capital expenditures by reducing the fixed
costs of maintaining and replacing an equipment fleet;

» an ongoing shift towards a “sharing economy” and a more sustainable and environmentally friendly
business model (renting improves cost-effectiveness and operational flexibility while minimizing waste,
financial risks and entry barriers by reducing operational complexity (e.g., a reduced fleet size demands
fewer procurement, maintenance, logistics and asset disposal activities));

» the use of digital technology by rental companies, which promotes an increase in sales by enhancing the
speed and quality of the customer journey and automating order requests (e.g., with the use of Internet of
Things technologies);

» ashortage of skilled technicians to repair and maintain equipment, which favors outsourcing technical
expertise for strategic activities and reduces the need for support functions linked to equipment usage; and

* increasing awareness of health safety and environment (“HSE”) issues and related legislation and
regulation, with equipment rental facilitating the fulfillment of local regulations and providing safer,
well-serviced equipment.

Therefore, we believe that the European equipment rental market is structurally attractive and we are well

positioned to reach the untapped potential customer base in the European market and to take advantage of opportunities
for business growth in the medium- and long-term.
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Unique value proposition with strong competitive advantages
One-stop-shop for customers

We are a true one-stop-shop equipment rental company with a significant market presence, which allows us to
lead and compete across multiple business lines and product categories and to provide a seamless and high-quality
experience to our broad customer base. We give our customers access to a fleet encompassing a wide and differentiated
range of both generalist and specialist equipment meeting a variety of needs for earthmoving, aerial work, handling,
compaction, tools and light equipment that can be used in a variety of projects, as well as utility vehicles, energy and
pumping solutions, modules and events solutions. The chart below shows our revenue breakdown by product category in
France for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Product category pro forma revenue breakdown in France
for the year ended December 31, 2018
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As of September 30, 2019, we operated a fleet of approximately 250,000 tools and pieces of equipment
(excluding accessories) of approximately 1,000 different types. The superior quality of our fleet is highly recognized by
clients. From 2017 to September 30, 2019, we invested €506 million in our fleet and, as a result, as of September 30,
2019 we had a young fleet within our French Generalist business line with an estimated weighted average age of 4.6
years (compared to 5.3 years in 2016) and an estimated weighted average useful life of over ten years. Furthermore, we
have limited equipment supplier concentration, which we believe enhances our ability to negotiate better prices when
replacing or purchasing new equipment and gives us flexibility when sourcing our products.

In addition to equipment rentals, we offer high-quality value-adding services to our clients, including
transportation and delivery, cleaning, repair and maintenance, as well as logistics and training. Offering multiple products
and services to a diversified client base across a number of end markets creates significant cross-selling opportunities and
synergies across our business lines and allow us to operate more efficiently. Our services are integral to our business
model, complementing our rental offering and, we believe, increasing customer satisfaction and retention.

Our products and services are offered through our dense and capillary branch network (particularly in France)
comprised of 519 branches strategically located across our five geographies as of September 30, 2019. Our network in
France is spread across all departments (other than Corsica) with 445 branches organized within our 62 clusters. We
carefully select the location of our branches in order to optimize our network. The density of our network helps us stay
close to our clients. Given our local staff’s superior knowledge of their respective markets, we trust local management
with a high degree of autonomy and responsibility in their operations in order to better understand local clients’ needs
and respond quickly to their changing requirements.

High-quality customer service

Our customer-centric approach is critical to our commercial success and the resilience of our business model.
This approach allows us to create deeper relationships with clients and develop tailored and innovative solutions (such as
our recently launched drones and connected vest offerings) that meet our clients’ most complex requirements, help them
grow their businesses, control costs and operate more efficiently. The breadth and depth of our fleet, the density of our
branches and our value-adding services give us the flexibility we need to meet our clients’ evolving needs. As our clients
respond to a rapidly changing environment, we in turn adapt our product portfolio and services offering, through both
organic growth and targeted acquisitions. We believe that many of our professional customers consider us to be a trusted
partner in their day-to-day operations, principally as a result of the wide range of products available across our fleet, our
reliability and our complementary services offering.
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Our focus on a superior customer service has further strengthened our brand and enhanced our ability to attract
and retain customers across our broad geographic coverage. As of December 31, 2018, approximately 74% of our
revenue derived from recurring clients. We monitor our clients’ satisfaction by conducting monthly surveys with
approximately 1,500 customers. Our Net Promoter Score (i.e., the difference between the share of satisfied promoters
(satisfaction grade between nine and ten) and the share of detractors (satisfaction grade between one and six))
consistently grew over the past three years (from 30.3% in 2016 to 36.2% in October 2019).

Best-in-class fleet management

Our business model also relies on our best-in-class fleet management capabilities. The high quality of our fleet,
combined with our approach to fleet management, is a core part of providing a superior customer experience and
maintaining our profitability. Our focus on preventive and regular equipment maintenance, which is conducted by our
highly skilled team of technicians, allows us to improve the utilization rates of our products and better manage capital
expenditure levels dedicated for the maintenance or expansion of our fleet, while also ensuring client safety. Our fleet
management capabilities are in addition to our superior logistics know-how which, supported by our dense and capillary
branch network, ensures timely delivery to our customers.

Furthermore, we are able to maximize the resale value of our products (i.e., sale price divided by purchase price)
by keeping a young fleet and using a dedicated resale platform. Our fleet management have ensured an average resale
value growth of 25% since 2015 (consistently increasing from 22% in 2015 to 28% in 2018), while also reducing our
maintenance costs (as a percentage of rental revenue) from 11.5% in 2016 to 10.6% in the twelve months ended
September 30, 2019.

Digital pioneer and optimized IT system

We believe that digital technology is and will increasingly be a key driver of success in our market and we
therefore invest heavily in our digital capabilities. Over the years, we have been at the forefront of the digital offering of
equipment rental in Europe, developing reliable, versatile and efficient in-house technology platforms that support our
products and services. We were one of the first companies to offer online equipment rental through our website, which
we launched in 2000, as well as an e-learning platform, which we launched in 2004. We focus on maintaining the quality
and flexibility of our overall network through an optimized IT system, detailed reporting tools that allow for information
sharing and internal benchmarking, as well as a revenue management program.

Digitalization and an optimized IT system create synergies between external and internal efficiencies. Our
award-winning, user-friendly website and app receive more than 6.6 million visitors on a twelve-month rolling basis in
the aggregate and provide clients with an integrated online booking system (through which more than 39,000 online
bookings are made per year), as well as the ability to contact our representatives for any queries, which are critical to
ensuring a quicker and more efficient customer experience and therefore to improving our sales. In addition, our digital
and IT capabilities create internal operational efficiencies. We rely on several integrated enterprise resource planning
(“ERP”) systems that support numerous aspects of our operations. In particular, these systems enable us to efficiently
manage our fleet (we believe approximately 50% of our Earthmoving and Access fleet is connected) by providing us
with real-time availability data to inform speedy deployment of equipment between clusters and branches, thus
maximizing our utilization rates and further reinforcing the flexibility of our business model.

Disciplined M&A strategy

The European equipment rental market is highly fragmented, with the top ten players holding approximately
26% of market share and the remaining share divided among more than 15,000 small- and medium-sized rental
companies. This fragmentation offers significant opportunities for consolidation through M&A activity, which is a key
part of our strategy. We use our extensive familiarity with the markets we serve to anticipate customer needs and respond
to new market opportunities, both in terms of new products and geographies, through additional M&A activity.

We have particularly focused our M&A strategy in recent years on consolidation through small, accretive
acquisitions and expansion beyond our French network. From 2010 to 2018, we completed 33 acquisitions which
generated cumulative sales of €289.0 million and cumulative EBITDA of €95.0 million. Our business model enables us
to leverage our position to optimize the purchase price paid for such acquisitions while using our acquired network to
generate synergies and benefits of scale.

We believe that our acquisition track record, including our ability to integrate companies of different sizes, has
established us as an attractive consolidation platform and has helped to strengthen our market leadership by achieving
scale. The success of our international expansion demonstrates our strong ability to enter into new markets through
acquisitions. For further details about our recent acquisitions, see “Business—History and development.”
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Diversified exposure across clients, segments and geographies with limited customer concentration

The breadth of our fleet of generalist and specialist equipment gives us a well-balanced exposure to different
industry segments and end markets, including construction, infrastructure, civil engineering and industrial companies.
Our high exposure to Tools and Light Equipment (which represented 35% of our illustrative pro forma revenue in France
for the year ended December 31, 2018) provides us with a diversified client end-base and helps attenuate our exposure to
seasonality (in particular, in the construction industry).

In addition to our core equipment rental activities, a significant share of our revenue is generated from our
Services segment. Services consistently account for approximately 30% of our revenue. Some of our services are offered
and provided directly in connection with equipment rental, providing key support for such activities and contributing to
their profitability. Other services such as subrentals, sale of products and training can be engaged independently from our
core activities and therefore provide a distinct source of revenue. We believe that our services are a key differentiating
factor of our business, increasing customer satisfaction and retention and contributing to a more diversified revenue base.

We serve over 300,000 clients across our businesses. In the year ended December 31, 2018, 95% of our
illustrative pro forma revenue from our generalist subsidiaries in France was from companies (business to business). Our
customer base is highly diversified, including customers of different sizes and operating in various sectors, from large
construction and industrial groups to small businesses and craftsmen, as illustrated in the following charts.

French generalist pro forma revenue breakdown by French generalist pro forma revenue breakdown by
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In France, our customer concentration risk is relatively low. In the year ended December 31, 2018,
Kiloutou S.A.S.U.’s top ten customers accounted for 27% of Kiloutou S.A.S.U.’s pro forma revenue and our largest
client represented less than 11% of Kiloutou S.A.S.U.’s pro forma revenue. For more information about our customer
base, see “Business—Customers.”

In recent years, we have broadened our international footprint significantly, building a strong presence in four
European countries in addition to France and reducing our exposure to the French market, which dropped to 84% of our
total revenue for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019 from 91% for the year ended December 31, 2017. We
intend to continue pursuing new businesses internationally in order to further diversify our revenue streams.

Resilient financial profile with proven track record of growth, profitability and cash generation through-the-cycle

We believe that our ability to manage our operating costs and our fleet in line with market conditions is a
competitive advantage that has contributed to steady top-line and profit growth. We have demonstrated our ability to
grow our business through a combination of organic growth, accretive acquisitions and tight cost control, while
remaining resilient through slower economic cycles. From 2005 to 2018, our revenue grew at a CAGR of 10.5% and we
maintained EBITDA margins above 22.5%, with average cash conversion of 62%. As a result of cost optimization
initiatives, better fixed cost absorption, improved staff productivity and network optimization, we have been able to
expand our EBITDA margin by seven points since 2010. The charts below illustrate our total revenue and EBITDA
margin growth and our cash conversion from the year ended December 31, 2005 to the year ended December 31, 2018.
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We manage our capital expenditure based on our market expectations. In a growth cycle, we invest in our rental
fleet to enhance our product offering and expand into new products and markets. In a downturn, we can rapidly reduce
capital expenditures and postpone investments, streamline our branch network, right-size our fleet and pay down debt
with our cash flows, as needed. We have no long-term engagements in respect of capital expenditures and make
investment decisions on a regular, short-term basis. As a result, we are generally able to quickly adjust our level of fleet
investment to respond to market fluctuations. For example, when faced with more challenging market conditions in 2009
following the onset of the global financial crisis, we were able to significantly and quickly reduce investments in our fleet
to 3.4% of our revenue in 2009, from 22% in 2008. The largely countercyclical nature of our cash flow generation driven
by discretionary capital expenditure requirements contributes to the overall resilience of our business model throughout
economic cycles.

Highly experienced management team with a strong track record of growth and supported by long-term investors

We have a strong management team with extensive experience and know-how in the equipment rental industry
and a track record of operational excellence, which we believe is necessary to successfully develop and expand our
business. Our key management team consists of 29 individuals who have an average of approximately 14 years of
industry experience. Our management team is led by Olivier Colleau and Jan-Luc Ambre, who have been part of our
team since 2009 and 2003, respectively. Under their leadership, our management team has successfully delivered organic
and M&A-based growth, as well as business diversification and professionalization and operational improvements,
despite challenging business cycles. Since 2010, we have been expanding internationally, bringing our value proposition
to four other European countries beyond France, and have nearly doubled our total number of branches (from 271 on
December 31, 2010 to 519 on September 30, 2019). As a result, between December 31, 2010 and September 30, 2019
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our revenue grew at a CAGR of 11% (from €279.0 million in December 31, 2010 to €729.4 million in the twelve months
ended September 30, 2019) and our EBITDA margin grew 6.5 points (from 26.4% in December 31, 2010 to 32.9% in the
twelve months ended September 30, 2019). The long tenure of our top management has enabled us to build strong
relationships and personal ties at all levels of our industry, which we believe gives us a competitive advantage that few of
our competitors can rival. Furthermore, our senior management is supported by regional and cluster managers who are
empowered to foster local market knowledge while keeping bureaucratic processes at a minimum. We believe that our
management structure encourages strong commitment and entrepreneurial spirit across our Group. See “Management.”

Our seasoned management team has the full support of, and is fully aligned with, our principal shareholders to
leverage our strengths and build our presence as an industry leader. In particular, the Sponsors, prudent long-term capital
investors, contribute additional expertise and act as a sounding board for our senior management. Our ownership
structure also includes management and employees and significant employee shareholdings is combined with a high
share of variable compensation based on cluster performance, which we believe ensures alignment of interests and
cooperation by our employees. We believe that our current management team and ownership structure will allow us to
continue attracting and retaining the industry’s top talent, further driving profitable growth. See “Principal
shareholders.” We believe our unique and recognized corporate culture is a key factor in attracting and retaining talent as
well as fostering a positive and inclusive work environment for all.

Our strategy

We aim to continue strengthening our position in France and Europe by implementing the key strategies set
forth below.

Expand our international footprint by strengthening our position in our existing geographic markets and selectively
entering new geographic markets

We intend to further strengthen and expand our international operations and to selectively enter new markets.
With 74 branches across four countries outside of France as of September 30, 2019, we already operate a sizeable
international business. We believe that, over time, there is the potential to continue our successful international expansion
strategy. In some of the countries in which we operate, such as Germany and Spain, our existing network does not
currently address several regions where we believe there is strong potential and, as a result, we believe there are
opportunities to grow profitably in those regions. Our management team identifies sites based on demographics,
proximity to locations of our existing branches, availability of suitable space, local economic conditions and other factors
that we believe are relevant to the successful expansion of our network and which should enable us to capitalize on the
increased traffic and volumes of our new branches. We believe that our new branches will benefit from our strong brand
awareness and existing marketing campaigns, and consequently should require only limited incremental marketing
support.

Furthermore, our offering in some of these countries is not as comprehensive as in France. For example, our
business is Germany largely relies on the rental of equipment within our Access product category. Additionally, we do
not yet offer our Specialist solutions in certain of these markets outside France. We believe that we have room to grow
both by expanding our network and our product offering within our international markets, either organically or through
accretive acquisitions.

As we expand our international presence, we intend to implement our decentralized operational model in all of
our geographies, including rolling out our cluster management system that is built around giving a high level of
autonomy to our local personnel, as is currently applied in our French network. We also seek to deploy our high-quality
logistics and IT capabilities, as well as our best practices (including our safety, protection and prevention policy), to our
international operations in order to create synergies and improve the quality of our services throughout our foreign
markets.

Although we intend to expand our international footprint in the markets where we are already present and
potentially enter new markets, as part of our disciplined M&A approach we also intend to retain flexibility as to the
timing, manner and structure of any entry into new geographic or product markets and are continuously reviewing such
opportunities. For example, we are in discussions regarding several acquisitions, including bolt-on acquisitions and a
potential significant acquisition, of rental companies inside and outside of France. As part of our historically conservative
approach to leverage, any such acquisition is expected to be financed with a combination of cash, new shareholder
contributions and/or debt.
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Continue to consolidate our French market share

The French equipment rental market is highly fragmented, with only two players competing at a national level
who, when taken together, held approximately 38% of market share in 2018. The remainder of market share was
distributed among regional players, none of whom held more than approximately 2% of market share. The fragmentation
in the French equipment rental market benefits companies with large, strategically coherent and integrated businesses
like ours. We intend to take advantage of this fragmentation in order to pursue both organically and through bolt-on
acquisitions, which are a key part of our strategy.

Investing in our products and capabilities will remain a strategic priority for us and we believe this will set us up
for long-term success. We have accumulated significant expertise in developing an innovative products and services
offering, as exemplified by our recently launched drones and connected vest offerings. We intend to focus on
diversifying our Specialist business line and to continue launching innovative products and services in order to anticipate
changes in our industry and meet client demand.

In addition, we intend to continue pursuing our successful track record of acquisitions based on clearly defined
target selection criteria and a disciplined approach. We believe that fragmentation in our key markets will continue to
allow us to complete acquisitions and act as a market consolidator. We actively monitor opportunities to expand and
optimize our network at the local and national levels in order to maximize profitable growth. Our future acquisition
strategy will focus on seeking accretive acquisition targets in order to complement our organic growth, strengthen our
leading market positions, optimize our network and develop synergies in our fleet management, as well as diversify our
product offering by moving into new product markets (in particular in the Specialist business line). Our acquisition
strategy is supported by our high level of brand awareness, our extensive know-how of local markets and our ability to
anticipate customer needs and new market opportunities. Our business model enables us to leverage our position to
optimize the purchase price paid for such acquisitions while profiting from benefits of scale.

Successful integration of acquisitions is key to our strategy and we believe that we are well positioned to
integrate any future acquired companies smoothly and profitably. We work closely with the management of acquired
companies to understand the nuances of their operations and local markets and draw from our own expertise and
familiarity with the equipment rental markets to optimize equipment offerings and adjust branch locations as needed in
order to anticipate and meet the needs of each market we serve. We expect to draw on our recent experience integrating
acquired companies in order to achieve similar success and efficiency in integrating future acquisitions for continued
success across all of our markets.

Continue to offer our advanced “one stop shop” client experience and strengthen our value-adding services

We believe that we have a large, diversified and loyal customer base primarily due to the high quality of our
broad product portfolio and value-adding service offering. In order to continue providing a compelling value proposition
to our customers and attract new clients, we intend to maintain our focus on ensuring a consistently high-quality
one-stop-shop customer experience across our network. This includes continuing to introduce innovative offerings to
meet clients’ evolving demands, diversifying our fleet in order to offer a broader catalogue, including environmentally
friendly products, and improving our digital capabilities in order to further enhance our brand awareness and customer
loyalty rates. We also intend to expand our value-adding services, which generate a significant share of our revenue and
create cross-selling opportunities with our equipment rental activities. Cross-selling is at the heart of our strategy and we
intend to continue leveraging our one-stop-shop business model to further increase our share of clients’ total spend.

We believe that our professional and friendly personnel with superior knowledge of their local markets and our
engaged approach to customer service are critical to maintaining our customers’ loyalty and expanding our embedded
customer base. We continually strive to improve our employee performance and training in order to enhance customer
satisfaction as well as to attract and retain emerging management talent.

Improvement of our existing network efficiencies

Since our founding in 1980, we have continuously expanded our network and over time we have developed
extensive territorial coverage in France and a reputation for operational excellence among customers. In order to operate
efficiently, we provide a high level of autonomy to our local staff in making business decisions, developing budgets and
managing fleet availability within their clusters and branches, as applicable, while maintaining centralized IT systems to
support our operations, including to monitor our fleet, customer service and logistics capabilities. Although we believe
that we already benefit from a highly efficient network with strong logistics know-how that allows us to efficiently
manage transportation costs and optimize the utilization rate of our equipment, we believe we can leverage digital
technologies to improve and expedite the customer experience and therefore increase our sales, as well as to enhance the
efficiency of our internal operations. We intend to continue enhancing the efficiency of our network through strategic site
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openings and consolidation, as applicable, and improvement of our technology capabilities, including with the use of
Internet of Things technologies for fleet tracking purposes.

Maintain our commitment to safety, quality, responsibility and sustainability

The safety of our employees and clients is of critical importance to us. Product safety and public perception that
our products are of good quality, safe and healthy are essential to our reputation and brand and are therefore a top
priority. We work to make construction practices safer. For years we have developed a strategy around communication,
feedback, risk analysis, training and management practices supporting prevention, including initiatives with suppliers and
clients, in order to achieve our goal of minimizing accidents. As part of our strategy to minimize risks, we own a young
fleet of carefully selected high-quality equipment. We conduct regular audits of our fleet in order to ensure the products
we rent are fully functional and safe to operate. We apply stringent standards as part of our quality assurance system and
have a dedicated team that monitors the safety and quality of our products and compliance with legal requirements and
our internal policies. We provide safety-related trainings for our employees at the branch level and our customers,
including training dedicated to risk prevention. We also share safety information with the public through our Wikimat
platform and YouTube channel. In 2017, we joined the International Powered Access Federation, whose main objective
is to promote the safe and effective use of powered access equipment. This international organization plays a major role
in the advancement of a large number of design, security, and testing procedures. Additionally, we hold 1ISO 9001 and
MASE certifications, which recognize our policies to reduce the risk of accidents, comply with legislation and improve
safety and working conditions. We also seek feedback from our customers about their experience using our equipment so
that we can adjust our offerings to provide what will be most safe, reliable and adaptable to our customers’ wide range of
needs. Our long-standing relationships with our suppliers also position us to help our customers use equipment safely and
to relay their feedback to the manufacturers so that our customers can benefit from improved machine designs.

We are also committed to promoting corporate sustainability and responsibility. In 2012, we were one of the
first equipment rental players in Europe to become a member of the UN Global Compact program, the world’s largest
corporate sustainability initiative. We issued our first corporate social responsibility report (“Rapport de Responsabilité
Sociétale des Entreprises”) in 2016 and have released updated reports on an annual basis since 2016. This report
summarizes our initiatives and results relating to customer service, safety and security, respecting the environment and
corporate governance. We aim to minimize our environmental footprint and seek to achieve that by improving the quality
of our fleet. For example, in 2018 we invested in natural gas powered delivery trucks in order to reduce the CO2
emissions of our transports.

As part of our commitment to corporate responsibility, we also prioritize the professional development of our
employees throughout their careers. Our training center has been open to all our employees and has offered sessions to
our staff since 2007 with the aim of improving key skills. Training is provided by experienced professionals from our
network and covers a variety of fields including knowledge of equipment, safety, environment (waste processing, energy
savings, etc.), sales skills and team management, among others. Our training center also plays a key role in the
integration of new employees.

As a result of our best practices, we have received a number of awards for and recognitions of our corporate
social responsibility. For example, we obtained a EcoVadis 2019 Gold level certificate, being ranked in the top 5% of
companies noted for their corporate social responsibility, and standing out with our environmental actions and health,
safety and prevention policy. Furthermore, we received the first European prize for Sustainable Development in rentals
from the ERA in 2016, and the Prix RSE Alliance (businesses with over 500 employees) in 2015, which recognized our
actions in terms of corporate social responsibility. We have received the Top Employers Certification from the Top
Employers Institute since 2014. We intend to remain at the forefront of our industry as a leader for safety, quality,
responsibility and sustainability.

History and development

Our company was founded in 1980 by Franky Mulliez in Lille (Nord Pas-de-Calais), France, as the first French
light equipment and tool rental chain serving both businesses and individuals. Since our creation, we have expanded our
business across France, growing both organically and through a number of strategic acquisitions, including the
acquisition of Hugon in 2004 and, following the investment of Sagard Private Equity in our business in 2005, the
acquisition of Réseau Pro in 2008. In 2011, PAI Partners bought a controlling stake in our business, becoming a
shareholder in our Group alongside Sagard Private Equity, our founder, members of our management and certain
employees. In 2018, HLD Europe and HLDI acquired control of our Group. HLD Europe and HLDI currently
collectively hold a 69% equity stake in our Group. The remaining shares are held by our management team and certain
employees (17%) and our founder’s family and certain other co-investors (14%).

Over the years, we have also strategically expanded into activities that are complementary to our original core
focus on equipment and tool rentals. For example, we entered the events and reception rental business in 2012 through
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the acquisition of Top Loc Réception (currently Loca Réception), which has been operating in the Paris region and the
Rhoéne Alpes since 1989. Loca Réception offers services such as table setting, marquees, furniture, decoration and
logistics for different types of events, including openings, exhibitions, product launches and sports events, serving both
professional and private customers. With the acquisitions of AKMO and Landrau C.E.B., the Contains business and Tora
Location between 2015 and 2018, we also strengthened our Module product category and became a recognized player in
the rental of modular buildings. In 2016, we developed our Power category with the acquisition of Compagnie Atlantique
de Location (currently Kiloutou Energie), which has been a major player in the Greater Southwest of France for nearly
45 years. We have made a number of other acquisitions in France, including most recently Aquiloc in 2016, Aixomat in
2017, Michaud Location in 2018 and Franche-Comté Matériel in 2019.

We began expanding our business beyond France in 2014 with the acquisitions of EWPA Majster and Tytanium
Rental in Poland. Between 2015 and 2017, we entered the Spanish, German and Italian markets through acquisitions of
local companies. In 2018, we completed four international acquisitions, two in Germany, one in Italy and one in Spain.
Since January 1, 2019, we have completed two international acquisitions (Sticar in Italy and M+S Arbeitsbiihnen in
Germany) and entered into an agreement for a third acquisition (Werner Middeke Arbeitsbiihnenvermietung in
Germany). For further details about our recent acquisitions, see “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial
condition and results of operations—Factors affecting comparability of results—Recent acquisitions” and “Recent
Developments.”

As of September 30, 2019, our network consisted of 519 branches, offering a rental fleet of approximately
250,000 tools and pieces of equipment (excluding accessories) and serving over 300,000 clients across five countries.

Products and services
We operate across two complementary business segments: Rental and Services.
Rental segment

Within our Rental segment, we offer approximately 1,000 different types of general construction and industrial
equipment and tools, as well as energy and pumping solutions, modular buildings, events equipment and, more recently,
drones. Most of our rentals are short-term, with an average duration of eight to 31 days and representing 25% of our
rental values in France in 2018. We also offer long-term rentals, with durations of over twelve months. We have a young
and well-maintained equipment fleet that, as of September 30, 2019, consisted of approximately 250,000 tools and pieces
of equipment (excluding accessories) with a gross book value of €1.3 billion. We estimate that, as of September 30,
2019, our French Generalist equipment fleet had an estimated weighted average age of 4.6 years (compared to 5.3 years
in 2016) and an estimated weighted average useful life of over ten years. Our Rental segment consists of two
complementary business lines: Generalist and Specialist, which are discussed further below.

Generalist

Our integrated offering includes the rental of a wide range of products principally used in public works,
construction and renovation sites, green spaces, equipment transportation and commercial and industrial maintenance.
Our Generalist offering include four product categories:

» Tools and light equipment, which comprises an offering of approximately 730 types of equipment,
including small earthmoving equipment, work site accessories, saws, perforators, sanding equipment,
scaffolding, trailers, handling equipment, various small tools, cleaning, gardening, air conditioning, heating
and dehumidification equipment, among others, which are mainly used in construction and renovation
projects as well as craftwork and do-it-yourself projects.

»  Earthmoving, which comprises an offering of approximately 160 types of equipment, including
(i) earthmoving equipment, including excavators, loaders and dumpers, which are designed for digging,
lifting, loading, moving and building materials, (ii) telescopic handlers, which are used to lift and transport
materials and (iii) compacting equipment, such as compactors, rammers, rollers and vibrating plates, which
are used to compact soil, gravel or asphalt in the construction of roads and foundations or to reduce the size
of waste material;

« Access, which is comprised of approximately 100 types of access and handling equipment, including

forklifts, masts, electric powered scissor lifts, fuel powered scissor lifts, electric powered articulating
booms, self-propelled booms, telescopic booms and truck-mounted platforms; and
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«  Utility vehicles, which include the rental of approximately 10 types of vans, tipper trucks and other utility
vehicles.

Specialist
Our Specialist business line comprises three product categories:

»  Power, which, through our subsidiary Kiloutou Energie, offers temporary energy and pumping solutions,
including high performance equipment (such as generators and pumps) and programming solutions to
ensure the continuity of our clients’ operations. Our equipment is mainly used for site remediation,
earthworks, groundwater pumping and other construction, agricultural and public works, as well as for
various events;

*  Module, which, through Kiloutou Module S.A.S.U., rents modular buildings such as temporary housing,
changing rooms, toilets, catering units, office spaces, meeting rooms and classrooms, mainly used in
industrial sites, work sites, military sites and various events; and

«  Events, which, through our subsidiary Loca Réception, rents a range of high-quality products, such as
marquees, tableware, furniture and decoration for events, including openings, exhibitions, product launches
and sports events, serving both professional and private customers.

Services segment

Our Services segment offerings complement and support our Rental segment offerings, creating cross-selling
opportunities for us. We believe our Services offering is highly valued by our clients. Our Services offering include six
principal service categories:

« Transportation and delivery, which includes on-site delivery service for any kind of equipment depending
on category and distance;

«  Consumables, which includes the sale of captive consumables adapted to our equipment fleet (including
consumables fitted to equipment we rent, as well as cross-sales of consumables such as diamond blades and
sandpaper, safety equipment and oil), as well as cross-sales of consumables including but not limited to
sandpaper and paint;

» Insurance, which includes insurance coverage that we offer to customers in connection with our rental
agreements;

« Cleaning and repair, which includes maintenance, repair and overhaul of equipment and cleaning that is
not otherwise included in the warranties connected with our equipment. We generally enter into long-term
contracts (i.e. longer than twelve months) that provide for regular maintenance service and periodic
inspections to ensure that our equipment is kept in good repair and used safely and efficiently;

»  Subrentals, which through Kiloutou Global Services offers a subrental service that helps us meet customer
demand for highly specialized equipment that is not included in our catalogue (such as high-rise mobile
elevating work platforms and under-bridge boom lifts), by leveraging a large network of qualified and
ultra-specialized third-party partners;

*  Training, which includes a catalogue of training courses and the ability to provide a professional
certification for the safe operation of platforms and forklifts, construction equipment or stackers (Certificats
d’Aptitude a la Conduite en Sécurité de plateformes et chariots élévateurs, d’engins de chantiers, ou encore
de gerbeurs); and

»  Other services, such as (i) site diagnosis (e.g. accurate assessment of production rhythm and secure
installation of certain materials on-site) and embedded telematics (e.g., geolocation and analysis as well as
site access and authorization, such as digicodes and magnetic cards), (iii) logistics, table setting and
decoration services for our clients in our Events business line, and (iv) sale of products.
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International presence
We operate in five European countries: France, Poland, Italy, Spain and Germany.

France is our largest market, accounting for €615.3 million, or 84%, of total revenue in the twelve months ended
September 30, 2019. We have a dense network that is structured and organized across 445 branches, grouped into 62
clusters across 14 regions, with highly visible locations and a high degree of autonomy at the cluster level. For more
information about how we organize our branches and clusters, see “—Fleet management” and “—Our network of
branches.”

Our Polish business accounted for €24.8 million, or 3%, of total revenue in the twelve months ended
September 30, 2019. We have a national presence in the Polish market, principally offering products from our Generalist
business line (in particular, Earthmoving, Access and Tools and Light Equipment). Since 2014, we have fully integrated
our acquired businesses under the Kiloutou brand and optimized our commercial organization in Poland. In April 2019,
we received the first 1ISO 9001 certification granted to a rental business in Poland. As a result, we are highly rated in
Poland for customer service quality, equipment and scale of operations.

Our Italian business accounted for €37.4 million, or 5%, of total revenue in the twelve months ended
September 30, 2019. We entered the Italian market in 2017 and currently have a regional presence in the northern regions
of Lombardy, Emilia Romagna, Veneto and Friuli Ven